Est.	YORK
1841	ST JOHN
	UNIVERSITY

Sharpe, Lisa Rebecca (2025) A study to assess the feasibility of implementing a supervised exercise programme for patients diagnosed with intermittent claudication. Masters thesis, York St John University.

Downloaded from: https://ray.yorksj.ac.uk/id/eprint/12308/

Research at York St John (RaY) is an institutional repository. It supports the principles of open access by making the research outputs of the University available in digital form. Copyright of the items stored in RaY reside with the authors and/or other copyright owners. Users may access full text items free of charge, and may download a copy for private study or non-commercial research. For further reuse terms, see licence terms governing individual outputs. Institutional Repository Policy Statement

RaY

Research at the University of York St John For more information please contact RaY at <u>ray@yorksj.ac.uk</u>

A study to assess the feasibility of implementing a supervised exercise programme for patients diagnosed with intermittent claudication

Lisa Rebecca Sharpe

It is submitted in accordance with the requirements for the degree of Masters of

Science by Research.

York St John University, School of Science, Technology and Health.

February 2025

The candidate confirms that the work submitted is their own and that appropriate credit has been given where reference has been made to the work of others.

This copy has been supplied on the understanding that it is copyright material. Any reuse must comply with the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988 and any license under which this copy is released.

© 2025 York St John University and Lisa Rebecca Sharpe.

The right to Lisa Rebecca Sharpe to be identified as author of this work has been asserted by them in accordance with the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988.

Acknowledgements

This research has been carried out by a team which has included Garry A. Tew, Alastair Jordan, Andrew Thompson, Asim Abbas and Martin Bond. My own contributions, fully and explicitly indicated in the thesis, have been as service coordinator and part-time post graduate research student, completing this thesis as an evaluation of the new service. The other members of the group and their contributions have been as follows: Clinical lead – Mr. Andrew Thompson; Academic lead – Professor Garry Tew; Academic supervisors – Professor Garry Tew and Dr Alastair Jordan; Research Data Coordinator- Dr Asim Abbas; and – SEP delivery instructor- Mr. Martin Bond.

Abstract

Supervised exercise programmes (SEPs) have been demonstrated to improve the symptoms of intermittent claudication (IC) in individuals with peripheral artery disease (PAD) and are endorsed as a primary treatment approach by numerous national and international clinical guidelines. Nevertheless, the adoption of SEPs remains limited. This thesis describes a project aimed at implementing and evaluating a SEP for people with IC in York, England.

The York Claudication Exercise Service was launched in October 2023 as a collaboration between York St John University and York and Scarborough Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. Eligible patients referred from York Hospital's vascular clinics participated in a 12-week programme with two, onehour, group-based sessions per week. Baseline and exit assessments measured walking capacity, and quality of life. There was a descriptive analysis of the quantitative data, and a summary of the qualitative feedback gathered from participants to provide additional insights into patient experiences.

By May 2024, 109 IC patients had been identified; 40 had accepted the SEP option, and 29 had commenced exercise sessions. The exercises sessions were delivered as intended, and the median attendance was 19 of 24 sessions. Of 22 participants completing exit assessments, 59% reported improvement in IC symptoms. Pain-free walking distance (PFWD) increased by a mean of 97 metres (95% confidence interval (CI): 18 to 175). Most participants rated the SEP as "good" or "excellent". Barriers to implementation included inconsistent referral behaviour of vascular consultants, and logistical issues like transportation and distance to travel to the venue affecting participation.

Overall, the study demonstrated the service was delivered as intended in accordance with the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) guidance. Participants were satisfied with the service and valued playing an active role in managing their condition. Agreements have been made to continue the service for 2 years. During this time, funding will be sought to sustain the service, and it will be adapted to facilitate wider access and greater uptake.

Contents page

List of Abbreviationsx
List of Figuresxii
List of Tablesxiii
Chapter 1. General Introduction
Chapter 2. Literature review- epidemiology, diagnosis and management of peripheral artery
disease4
2.1 Literature review searches and appraisal tool4
2.2 Definitions and pathophysiology of peripheral artery disease and intermittent
claudication5
2.3 Classification of PAD and IC6
2.4 Detection and diagnosis of PAD and IC8
2.5 Prevalence of PAD and IC13
2.6 PAD and IC risk factors and comorbid conditions15
2.7 The burden of PAD and IC to patients and society18
2.8 Management of IC20
2.8.1 Interventional (non-invasive and invasive) treatment aims
2.8.2 The pathway of care for individuals with IC
2.8.3 Supervised exercise for IC24
2.8.4 Exercise modality for SEP28

2.8.5 Implementation of supervised exercise	32
2.9 Summary of the literature review	
2.9.1 Aims and objectives of the study	34
Chapter 3: Methods	35
3.1 Overview of study	
3.2 Cost-effectiveness	
3.3 Ethical approval and governance	
3.4 Participant recruitment	40
3.4.1 Inclusion criteria	40
3.4.2 Exclusion criteria	40
3.4.3 Sample size	41
3.4.4 Participant selection	41
3.4.5 Medical examination and history	44
3.5 Assessment	45
3.5.1 Stature and body mass	46
3.5.2 Relevant medical history	47
3.5.3 HR-QoL questionnaires	47
3.5.4 ABPI	50
3.5.5 Graded treadmill test	51
3.6 SEP	53
3.6.1 SEP: interval-based walking	54
3.6.2 SEP: warm up and cool down	55

3.7 Participant experience feedback	56
3.8 Analysis method	57
Chapter 4: Results	58
4.1 Patient recruitment and flow through the SEP	58
4.2 Reasons for withdrawal and participants lost to follow-up	61
4.3 Adverse events	61
4.4 Participant characteristics and demographics at service entry	62
4.5 SEP delivery: Occupancy and reasons for missed sessions	67
4.6 Walking distances and pain scores recorded during the SEP	71
4.7 Health-related outcomes	72
4.8 Evaluation feedback	75
Chapter 5: Discussion	79
5.1 Do the results answer the aims and objectives?	79
5.2 How do the findings support/relate to the evidence?	81
5.3 Implications for practice and research	84
5.4 Limitations	86
5.5 Recommendations	87
5.6 Conclusion	
References	89
Appendices	104
Appendix 1: Ethical approval, York St John University (Ethics reference: STHEC0072)104
Appendix 2: Surgical care group service evaluation registration form and email con	firmation105

Appendix 3: Service level agreement	.107
Appendix 4: Participant consent form	108
Appendix 5: Patient information leaflet: supervised exercise	110
Appendix 6: Patient information leaflet: home exercise	121
Appendix 7: Patient information leaflet: exercise log	133
Appendix 8: Patient information leaflet: Circulation Foundation	151
Appendix 9: VascuQoL-6 questionnaire and permission request email	156
Appendix 10: EQ-5D-5L (representation of digital form)	159
Appendix 11: EQ-5D-5L permission	166

List of Abbreviations

- ABPI, ankle brachial pressure index
- ACPICR, Association of Chartered Physiotherapists in Cardiac Rehabilitation
- ADL, activities of daily living
- BMI, body mass index
- CASP, Critical Appraisal Skills Programme
- Cl, confidence interval
- CLI, critical limb ischaemia
- GDPR, General Data Protection Regulations
- GP, general practitioner
- HR-QoL, health-related quality of life
- HIC, high-income countries
- IC, intermittent claudication
- Kg, kilograms
- LMIC, low-middle-income countries
- MD, mean difference
- MI, myocardial infarction
- MID, minimal importance difference
- MRA, magnetic resonance angiography
- MWD, maximum walking distance
- MWD/T, maximum walking distance/time

MWT, maximum walking time

NHS, National Health Service

NICE, National institute for Health and Care Excellence

NIHR, National Institute for Health and Care Research

PAD, peripheral artery disease

PFWD, pain free walking distance

PFWD/T, pain free walking distance/time

PFWT, pain free walking time

PIL, patient information leaflet

PROM, patient-reported outcome measure

QALY, quality adjusted life years

QoL, quality of life

RCT, randomised controlled trial

SEP, supervised exercise programme

SD, standard deviation

UK, United Kingdom

VAS, visual analog scale

VSNP, vascular specialist nurse practitioner

YHEC, York Health Economic Consortium

List of Figures

Chapter 2

Figure 2.1	ABPI measurement: positioning of the blood pressure cuff	11
Figure 2.2	ABPI measurement technique: positioning of the doppler probe	13
Figure 2.3	Overall treatment strategy for peripheral artery disease	24

Chapter 4

Figure 4.1	Flow of participants through the feasibility study	60
Figure 4.2	Reason and stage of withdrawal from supervised exercise programme	62
Figure 4.3	Reasons for missed SEP sessions in percent	70

List of Tables

Chapter 2

Table 2.1 How should ankle brachial	pressure index ()	ABPI) results be inter	preted?11
	pressure mack (The said be miler	preced

Chapter 4

Table 4.1 Participant characteristics at service entry
Table 4.2 Average monthly occupancy of SEP class, average number of participants enrolled,
and average participant attendance from all participants who attended at least one SEP
session (n=29)69
Table 4.3 Total number of SEP sessions attended of those who completed the SEP and exit
assessment (n=22)71
Table 4.4 Average claudication pain scores (0-4) and distance walked (m) from the exercise
sessions of participants who completed the SEP and attended the exit assessment (n= 22).72
Table 4.5 Entry and exit assessment results for participants who completed both entry and
exit assessments74
Table 4.6 Participant experience rating of the SEP stages (n=23)76

Chapter 1: General Introduction

Peripheral artery disease (PAD) affects millions of people globally and is classified under the umbrella of cardiovascular disease, such as coronary heart disease, with overlapping management recommendations including risk factor modification and lifestyle changes (Gerhard-Hermann *et al.*, 2017). The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) (2020) reports that from the evidence found in population studies approximately 20% of the population aged over the age of sixty years have some degree of PAD.

PAD is characterised by a narrowing of the arteries due to a build-up of plaque on the artery walls; a process called atherosclerosis (Narula et al., 2020). The narrowed lumen leads to a reduction in blood flow to the limbs, usually the legs (Meru et al., 2006). PAD can differ significantly in its presentation of both physical and psychological symptoms depending on the severity of the disease. Harwood *et al.* (2022) indicates that an early typical physical presentation of PAD is intermittent claudication (IC). IC occurs when the muscle's demand for oxygen to sustain the activity is unmet due to the arterial narrowing (Tew et al., 2018). IC presents as a cramp-like muscle pain during exercise, usually in the calf due to occlusive disease in the femoral artery (Rose, 2000). However, it can be multilevel affecting different muscle groups including buttocks and thighs (de Vries et al., 2005). At rest the restricted blood flow still delivers enough oxygen to the muscles; however, during exercise, the demand for blood flow and oxygen is increased and cannot be met due to the narrowed lumen, resulting in ischemia and IC pain (Morley et al., 2018). IC is often considered a benign level of PAD as only one in five people progress to develop more severe symptoms, and 1 in 20 continue to develop critical limb ischaemia (CLI), the level of disease when a limb becomes at risk of amputation. Ultimately, the lifetime risk of major limb

amputation of those people presenting with IC symptoms is 1-2% (Kannel *et al.,* 1970). The psychological impact that IC has on individuals is driven by functional decline, loss of independence and reduced quality of life (QoL) (NICE, 2012).

In healthcare, clinical practice is underpinned by evidence published as guidance and recommendations by NICE. The management of PAD is multifactorial; a one-size-fits-all approach is not always possible due to the heterogeneous nature of IC. The impact of the disease on day-to-day life needs to be considered and balanced against the chance of success versus the risk of treatment. NICE (2012) recommendations for people with IC are twofold. In line with all levels of PAD, NICE (2012) recommends that secondary prevention of cardiovascular events is managed with best medical therapy (an antiplatelet and statin tablet), which significantly reduces complications such as heart and strokes by around 30%. A secondary aim that is specific to people with IC is to improve walking distance. To address this aim, NICE's (2012) first-line recommendation, before invasive, high-risk interventions such as angiograms or surgery, is a low-risk treatment of exercise therapy. The exercise treatment should offer a minimum of 2 hours of supervised exercise per week for 3 months. A survey by Harwood et al. (2022) reported that despite the low-risks associated with a supervised exercise programme (SEP), this gold-standard recommendation is only accessible in approximately 48% of the National Health Service (NHS) Trust vascular hubs nationally which results in inequality, i.e., a SEP being available through the local vascular hub. There is an established and robust body of research on the benefits of SEP for improving walking for people with IC; however, the evidence as to why there is a low uptake of SEP by vascular hubs is limited.

This study aimed to determine the feasibility of implementing a SEP that met the NICE (2012) recommendations. The study was part of a service evaluation for people with IC

attending base-site vascular clinics in York. The York vascular service geographical region covers a population of 732,070 people, including coastal areas, which hold an aging population (North Yorkshire County Council, 2024). The study evaluated feasibility measures to recruit and retain participants over a 12-week time frame. Walking ability outcomes were measured both objectively and subjectively. Overall, findings were used to make recommendations and to support a business case to sustain and scale-up a SEP.

The new exercise service aimed to enhance the conservative management pathway for patients with IC at the local vascular hub, and hopefully help relieve pressure on the NHS Trust. It will enable the Trust to meet the NICE (2012) recommendations regarding SEPs for IC and may encourage surrounding vascular hubs to adopt a similar approach. Most significantly, it will put the patient at the centre of their care, improving their QoL and experience.

Chapter 2: Literature review- epidemiology, diagnosis and management of PAD

This chapter aims to provide a comprehensive exploration of PAD, with a specific focus on IC. The review will progress from an overview of the physiological mechanisms underlying IC, to diagnostic approaches, and then examine the broader impact of the disease on both affected individuals and wider society. Subsequently, the review will address the management strategies and care pathways for individuals with IC, with particular emphasis on the role of exercise as a therapeutic intervention.

2.1 Literature review searches and appraisal tool

Six electronic databases were used for this review: Medline, Amed, CINAHL, SPORTDiscus, the Cochrane Library, and digital dissertations via Ethos. The following keywords were used for the search: peripheral vascular/or arterial disease, exercise, supervised, supervised exercise programme or therapy, claudication, intermittent claudication, quality of life, ankle-brachial pressure index ABPI, diagnosis. The search was limited to the English language; no date limits were set. Cross-references supplemented electronic searches. From the search results, popular authors were noted and searched. Additional relevant material was identified through a review of the references and citations found within the articles discovered in the literature search.

Throughout the literature review, key studies were critiqued using the relevant Critical Appraisal Skills Programme (CASP) checklist. A CASP checklist is a tool that guides critical appraisal of a studies design. CASP checklists provide a systematic means to examine the validity, results, and relevance of research across different study types (CASP, 2023).

2.2 Definitions and pathophysiology of PAD and IC.

In its simplest definition, PAD is a buildup of plague (atherosclerosis) within the inner wall of a blood vessel (Narula et al., 2020). PAD has a spectrum of symptoms; it can be asymptomatic, symptomatic, or atypical which can give present as burning or tingling symptoms (Narula et al., 2020). In its mildest form of symptom, PAD can present as pain when walking, known as IC (Yang et al., 2008). Hamburg and Creager (2017) reported IC to be present in only 10-20% of people with symptomatic PAD. IC occurs when the muscle's demand for oxygen to sustain the activity is unmet due to the arterial narrowing that limits blood flow increase (Morley et al., 2018). Although IC is a relatively benign level of PAD, McDermott et al. (2008) suggested IC has a profound impact on a person's QoL. The impact on people's QoL was supported by Treat-Jacobson and colleagues' (2002) grounded theory study, which identified seven significant themes through open-ended interviews of 38 participants, including limitation of physical, social, and role function in patients with PAD, and many participants, although not defined as quantifiable data, reported it directly impacting their ability to function in daily life. It is known that 20% of the IC population will progress to have worsening symptoms, and of these 5-10% will deteriorate to having CLI, which manifests as severe symptoms including night or rest pain and tissue loss placing their limb at risk of amputation (NICE, 2012).

The stages of atherosclerosis plaque development are complex and multifactorial. The process can be divided into six stages: intimal xanthomas/fatty streaks; fibroatheroma; thin cap fibroatheroma; plaque rupture; fibrous calcified plaque; and endothelial erosion (Fitridge, 2020). Throughout the six stages it has been recognised that an inflammatory response is fundamental in the progression of atherosclerotic lesions (Libby *et al.*, 2010). The atherosclerotic lesions rely on a dysfunctional endothelial lining expressing increased

levels of adhesive molecules in response to stimuli, whereas a usual lining would repel them from adherence (Libby *et al.*, 2010). Stimuli include hypercholesterolemia, smoking, diabetes, and hypertension (known risk factors for PAD associated with genetics and lifestyle factors) (Selvin and Erlinger, 2004). Chemokines (a protein acting as a key), create a passage for the molecules to pass into the intima (the innermost lining of an organ/blood vessel); once within the intima, the matured monocyte cells (macrophages) swell with lipids, causing damage to the arterial extracellular wall and form into foam cells, which accumulate. The process continues to collect waste products, including minerals (calcium), within the artery wall lining; as these increase in size, they obstruct the blood flow, inhibiting the delivery of oxygen and nutrients (Libby *et al.*, 2010).

Atherosclerotic plaques commonly develop near curves, or a bifurcation point in the arterial tree where blood flow turbulence occurs (Bentzon *et al.*, 2014). Commonly affected arteries include the iliac, femoral, and popliteal arteries. The location most frequently reported as being symptomatic from the buildup of atherosclerotic plaque are the calves (Schorr and Treat-Jacobson, 2013), however, the thighs and buttock regions may also be affected; particularly with proximal multilevel disease (NICE, 2022). The classification of the symptoms presented can be determined by the patient's clinical presentation of their symptoms and walking limitations (Norgren *et al.*, 2007).

2.3 Classification of PAD and IC

Fontaine *et al.* (1954) published a classification system for PAD that first emerged in 1952. The system classified PAD symptoms using numerical grading and staging, producing the first standardised method of classifying the clinical presentation of PAD in healthcare and research (Hardman *et al.*, 2014). The so-called Fontaine classification became widely used

within the healthcare setting for its simple, easy-to-interpret method of classifying the severity and extent of PAD. Fontaine's *et al*. (1954) classification structure comprised 4-stage tier criteria based on the person's self-proclaimed pain-free walking distance (PFWD): Stage I: asymptomatic PAD

Stage IIa: mild IC (PFWD >200 metres)

Stage IIb: moderate to severe IC (PFWD of 200 metres)

Stage III: ischaemic pain at rest

Stage IV: PAD with ulceration or gangrene.

Despite the simplicity of the Fontaine classification, making it easy to apply and interpret in clinical practice, it was recognised as being subjective owing to a lack of other diagnostic tests to support the degree of the disease being diagnosed (Hardman *et al.*, 2014). Rutherford (1997) built upon Fontaine *et al.*'s (1954) foundation staging criteria by including a further two categories specifically for defining CLI . For each stage he also added a clinical description and objective measures to ascertain a more precise definition of the level of disease (Rutherford *et al.*, 1997). The objective criteria reduced the subjective limitations of relying on the patient's self-reported estimation of their PFWD as a standalone assessment. A patient's self-reported estimation, as used in Fontaine *et al.*'s (1954) measures, is enough to raise the suspicion of PAD, but not a reliable factor for categorisation (Norgren *et al.*, 2007). Rutherford *et al.* (1997) further strengthened his method by including physical measures, pulse volume recording trans-metatarsal and toe pressures. Rutherford's robust classifications are recognised and used widely to direct PAD patient management and for research purposes (Hardman *et al.*, 2014):

Grade O/category O – Asymptomatic-no hemodynamically significant occlusive disease. Normal treadmill or reactive hyperemia test

Grade O/category 1- mild IC. Completes treadmill exercise; ankle pressure after exercise >50mmHg but at least 20mmHg lower than resting value

Grade I/category 2- moderate IC. Between categories 1 and 3

Grade I/category 3- severe IC. Cannot complete standard treadmill exercise, and ankle pressure after exercise <50mmHg

Grade II/category 4- ischaemic rest pain. Resting ankle pressure <40mmHg, flat or barely pulsatile ankle or metatarsal pulse volume recording; toe pressure <30mmHg Grade III/category 5- minor tissue loss-non healing ulcer, focal gangrene with diffuse pedal ischaemia. Resting ankle pressure <60mmHg, ankle or metatarsal pulse volume recording flat or barely pulsatile, toe pressure <40mmHg

Grade III/category 6- major tissue loss-extending above transmetatarsal level, functional foot no longer salvageable. Resting ankle pressure <60mmHg, ankle or metatarsal pulse volume recording flat or barely pulsatile, toe pressure <40mmHg.

In clinical practice, a patient's combined clinical history, including cardiovascular risk factors of hypercholesterolemia, smoking, diabetes, and hypertension, and a physical examination is undertaken. The physical examination is non-invasive, and there are various tests that can be carried out to confirm the diagnosis of PAD.

2.4 Detection and diagnosis of PAD and IC

Palpation of peripheral pulses is a common component of comprehensive peripheral arterial examinations. Although palpation is a useful method of examination for detecting some abnormalities, it can be less reliable for diagnosing PAD as the distal limb pulses can be

variable, resulting in an overestimation of the true prevalence of PAD (Norgren *et al.*, 2007), thus should only be used to raise suspicion of PAD (Norganstig *et al.*, 2023). In contrast, relying on self-reported symptoms alone can underestimate PAD diagnoses; hence, a reliable examination must be used in conjunction with the patient's presenting symptoms and risk factors to establish an accurate diagnosis (Norgren *et al.*, 2007; NICE., 2023). The physical examination also visually checks the appearance of the integrity of the skin and pallor and identifies any areas of broken skin, changes to the visual appearance can be indicative of changes in the blood flow.

Norgren *et al.* (2007) suggest that ABPI is the most widely used and accurate noninvasive test to detect PAD. An ABPI measurement is a calculated ratio (Table 2.1) based on the highest systolic pressure of a patient's foot pulses, either the dorsalis pedis or posterior tibial pulse; this is the numerator, divided by the highest systolic pressure in either the right or left arm, the denominator (Norgren et al., 2007) (illustrated in Figure 2.1). Criqui et al. (2015) advocates that for the diagnosis of IC, the resting ABPI value has been shown to have a low sensitivity but a high specificity for an abnormal result. The Rotterdam study (Meijer et al., 1998), a population-based study with 7715 subjects, demonstrated sensitivity and specificity results for the use of ABPI in the diagnosis of IC. They reported of the 5,158 subjects without a confirmed diagnosis of PAD (ABPI of ≥ 0.9), 5125 (99.4%) subjects did not have IC symptoms, , and of the 1166 subjects confirmed as having PAD (ABPI of <0.9), 73 (6.3%) had IC symptoms. The findings from the Rotterdam study are referred to by a later study by Criqui et al. (2015) who found when using an ABPI as a diagnostic tool, asymptomatic PAD was several times more common in the population than people with IC. The validation of ABPI as a diagnostic tool in patients with IC symptoms was previously compared to angiography, finding the sensitivity and specificity of the ABPI to be between

97%-100%, although due to ethical reasons, these studies had limitations requiring them to use young participants, who the researchers presumed not to have artery disease to compare participants with confirmed PAD with angiography (Ouriel *et al.*, 1982 and Yao *et al.*, 1969).

Crawford *et al.* (2016) undertook a systematic review to estimate the diagnostic accuracy of the ABPI for the diagnosis of PAD in people who experience leg pain on walking that is alleviated by rest. The study obtained 746 full-text articles, only one study met the criteria. The included study by Vega (2011) compared the manual method of obtaining an ABPI with the automated oscillometric method in 85 patients. However, they did not report accuracy data at the participant level, meaning that Crawford *et al.* (2016) were unable to calculate estimates of sensitivity or specificity for individual patients. The main conclusion of the review of Vega's (2011) study by Crawford *et al* (2016) was the automated method of taking an ABPI may be more accurate when performed by individuals with no specialist training. Overall, there was little evidence of the value of using ABPI for the detection of patients with PAD with exertional leg pain.

Table 2.1 How should ABPI results be interpreted?

ABPI Ratio	Interpretation
Less than 0.5	Suggests chronic limb-threatening ischaemia
0.9 or less	Suggests the presence of arterial disease
Between 0.91 and 0.99	PAD may be present. Further investigation is necessary if there is any significant clinical suspicion
Between 1.0 and 1.4	Is considered normal
Greater than 1.4	May suggest the presence of arterial calcification. For values above 1.5 the vessels are likely incompressible.

(NICE,2024)



Figure 2.1 ABPI measurement: positioning of the blood pressure cuff

For diagnostic purposes, an ABPI reading should be repeated and recorded for each leg. The examination requires only a blood pressure cuff, a standard sphygmomanometer, and a digital handheld doppler. Historically, there have been many different techniques

used by healthcare professionals to measure an ABPI, including the patient's positioning, which pulse point to use, size, and position of the cuff, resulting in discrepancies, which have resulted in the production of test standardisation guidelines (Aboyans *et al.*, 2012). Key points from these guidelines include positioning the patient in a supine position, ensuring sufficient resting time before the examination, in which NICE (2023) found no evidence to recommend a minimum rest period, only that it should be long enough for blood pressure to return to normal and to be practical in the running of clinics (e.g. 5-10 minutes), and using appropriately sized equipment. The cuff should be positioned above the malleolus on the leg with the Doppler probe held at a 45–60-degree angle to the skin's surface, and the method should be consistent (Aboyans et al., 2012) (illustrated in Figure 2.2) Notably, the potential influence of white coat syndrome should be considered when recording brachial pressure. This can be addressed by repeating the initial arm reading and calculating the average of the two measurements. However, if the first reading is more than 10 mmHg higher than the second, it should be disregarded to account for the effects of white coat syndrome (Aboyans et al., 2012). According to the recently revised guidance by NICE (2024), an ABPI reading of <0.9 is suggestive of the presence of arterial disease. These parameters reflect those of an earlier study by Norgren et al. (2007), who also defined the diagnosis of moderately large vessel disease (stenosis ≥50%) as being associated with an ABPI calculated result of ≤ 0.9 at rest. It is essential to acknowledge, however, that patients with chronic conditions such as diabetes may have incompressible vessels due to calcification, which can lead to falsely high ankle pressures and ABPI readings greater than 1.4. In such cases, alternative diagnostic methods would be needed to determine the diagnosis of PAD (NICE., 2024; Norgren et al., 2007). The greater adoption of tools such as ABPI to assess the

presence of PAD and the longer-living population has helped this chronic condition to be more commonly detected (Criqui *et al.,* 2015).



Created in BioRender.com bio

Figure 2.2 ABPI measurement: positioning of the doppler probe

2.5 Prevalence of PAD and IC

Historically, the prevalence of PAD has been underestimated and the condition has lacked research and public awareness despite it being the third most common manifestation of atherosclerosis disease, behind coronary artery disease and stroke (Song *et al.*, 2019). PAD is a progressive, age-related, debilitating condition. The Global Burden of Disease study (2019) found PAD to affect around 1.52% of all ages ≥40 years globally, equivalent to 113 million people, with the highest prevalence figure of 20.7% in people between the age of 90-94

years old (Kim *et al.*, 2023). It is estimated that 13% of adults in the over-50 age group have PAD (Morley *et al.*, 2018).

The low number of studies, especially in low-risk countries, has directly impacted on the accuracy of the diagnoses and reporting of the disease (Alzamora *et al.*, 2010). The prevalence and incidence of PAD are estimated to be increasing by more than 10% among patients in their 60s and 70s (Criqui and Aboyans 2015). Crawford et al. (2016) suggested that symptomatic PAD affects about 5% of people in the Western world between the ages of 55 and 74 years. Many studies have reflected on the relationship between the ageing population and the increase in the prevalence of PAD (Golledge, 2022; Murabito et al., 2002.; Selvin and Erlinger, 2004). This relationship between age and the increased prevalence of PAD predominantly occurred in high-income countries (HICs). However, the relationship between age and increased prevalence has been more evident in both low and middle-income countries (LMICs) in recent years (Criqui and Aboyans, 2015). In addition, these findings often rely on other atherosclerosis disease research based in the western hemisphere, which has the same epidemiological transition (Fowkes et al., 2017). Despite the general belief that men have an increased prevalence of PAD, in HICs the prevalence is slightly higher in females than males up to the age of 75, and no significant difference in prevalence between males and females in LMICs (Song et al., 2019). In contrast, among patients with IC, there has been research to suggest that men have a higher prevalence, but this is not consistent globally (Sigvant et al., 2007). Significantly in HICs, this correlates with an increase in age, as questionnaires undertaken in the USA and Europe concluded at 50 years old, <1% of men were found to have IC compared to men aged >65 years old at 6% (Norgren et al., 2007). In addition to sex and age being identified factors in the prevalence of

IC, in PAD, it has been identified that men from LMIC have a much higher prevalence of risk factors for PAD (Golledge, 2022).

2.6 PAD and IC risk factors and comorbid conditions

There are many associated risk factors for PAD, and the development of PAD is multifactorial (Morley, 2018). Evidence suggests that over half of all PAD is attributed to smoking (Willigendael *et al.*, 2004). People who smoke, when compared with those who do not smoke, are significantly more likely to develop PAD, at least doubling the risk (Criqui and Aboyans, 2015). The Edinburgh Artery Study (1991), a cross-sectional study of a sample size of 1500 people, aged between 55-74 years, found those who currently smoked versus non-smokers had up to four times the risk of developing asymptomatic PAD (Fowkes, 1991). Smoking can be modified without intervention, but smoking cessation is proven to be 50-60% more successful with nicotine replacement therapy and support (Hartmann-Boyce *et al.*, 2018).

Having diabetes results in a similar risk of developing PAD as smoking (Norgren *et al.*, 2007). Diabetes mellitus is the risk factor with the highest complication rate and hospital admissions for treatment, especially for those with long-standing, poorly managed, raised blood glucose levels and insulin use (Criqui and Aboyans, 2015). Jude *et al.*'s (2001) comparative study of patients with PAD with diabetes (43%) or without diabetes, found that patients with diabetes were at a higher risk of limb loss (41.4 vs. 11.5%, odds ratio [OR] 5.4, p < 0.0001) and mortality (51.7 vs. 25.6%, OR 3.1, p = 0.002).

Other associated risk factors include hypertension and hypercholesterolemia (NICE, 2012). Hypertension has been associated with an increased risk of PAD across multiple studies (Newman *et al.*, 1993; Murabito *et al.*, 1997; Meijer *et al.*, 2000; Murabito *et al.*,

2002; Allison *et al.*, 2002). These studies found a significant link, with odds ratios ranging from 1.50 to 2.20; the lowest, 1.32 was reported in the Rotterdam Study (Meijer *et al.*, 2000) which also adjusted for systolic blood pressure. The Rotterdam study by Meijer *et al.*, (2000) found that hypertension had an attribution fraction of 17%, while in the Framingham study by Murabito *et al.* (1997) and the Health Professionals Follow-up study by Joosten *et al.* (2012) it accounted for 30% and 41% of PAD risk, respectively. In all three latter studies hypertension was found to be the second most significant risk factor for PAD after smoking.

Criqui and Aboyans (2015) review found that the most studied lipid factor in relation to PAD is total cholesterol. They examined four key studies (Newman *et al.*, 1993; Murabito *et al.*, 1997; Meijer *et al.*, 2000; Murabito *et al.*, 2002) in the initial three of these studies, total cholesterol was significantly linked to PAD in multivariable analysis, in the fourth study although there was a link the analysis was simpler and was not as significant once other lipid measures were considered. Similar patterns were found by Criqui and Aboyans (2015) in other studies (Ingolfsson *et al.*, 1994; Bowlin *et al.*, 1994; Fowkes *et al.*, 1992; Curb *et al.*, 1996), total cholesterol is often associated with PAD, although its effect may weaken when other lipid factors are included in the analysis. According to the Health Professionals Follow up study by Joosten *et al.*, (2012) about 17% of PAD cases can be attributed to hypercholesterolemia.

Less considered risk factors include physical inactivity, alcohol, obesity, waist circumference, chronic kidney disease, ethnicity, and geographical locality, all found to contribute to an increased incidence of PAD and IC (Garg *et al.*, 2009; Criqui *et al.*, 2005; Golledge, 2022). People with PAD are found to be at a greater risk of a shorter life expectancy, and a significantly increased risk of cardio- and cerebrovascular morbidity and mortality than people without PAD (Golledge, 2022). A study by Nastasi (2021) reported

that over a 2.5-year follow-up period, patients with CLI experienced higher rates of myocardial infarction (MI) (13.4%), stroke (4.4%), and cardiovascular-related death (14.1%) compared to patients with IC, who demonstrated incidence rates of 7.8%, 3.1%, and 2.7%, respectively. Due to this, there is an emphasis on modifying the risk factors associated with PAD to reduce the population number developing PAD.

Physical activity has many known health benefits including improved sleep, maintaining a healthy weight, management of stress, and improved QoL. Physical activity is also proven to reduce the risk of developing several chronic health conditions, including cardiovascular disease by up to 35% (Department of Health and Social Care, 2019). It is recommended that adults and older people should aim for a weekly level of physical activity of at least 150 minutes (2 1/2 hours) of moderate-intensity activity (such as brisk walking or cycling), or 75 minutes of vigorous-intensity activity (such as running) (Department of Health, 2019). The Department of Health (2019) also recommends that strengthening activities to maintain or develop strength in the major muscle groups should be undertaken at least two days per week. However, people with IC fail to reach the lower threshold exercise limits to result in an improvement in their IC symptoms (McDermott *et al.*, 2002).

It is not as profound as the subsequent risk factors, but it is important to acknowledge that there is an increased risk of PAD from genetic factors such as inherited thrombophilia, however, there is still little research into this link (Klarin *et al.*, 2019). Risk factors left untreated may lead to a more significant burden on society with the association of other cardiovascular complications, including MI and stroke (Santoro *et al.*, 2018).

2.7 The burden of PAD and IC on patients and society

The lived experience and associated burden of PAD and IC for patients are greatly dependent on the severity of the disease. IC individuals are unlikely to progress to CLI, amputation, or death because of their diagnosis; it can be described as a lifelong debilitating condition that impacts their ability to function in their activities of daily living (ADL) (Leslie *et al.,* 2022). IC is associated with problems with pain, ambulation, and an increased risk of other cardiovascular health conditions, subjecting them to a deterioration in both physical and emotional well-being (Spronk *et al.,* 2007). Studies evaluating the impact of the burden that PAD and IC have on people's lives have mostly been conducted in Western countries (Fowkes *et al.,* 2017). 'Burden' is often measured in relation to an individual's QoL assessed using questionnaires or qualitative methods (Mays *et al.,* 2011).

A qualitative study by Treat-Jacobson *et al.'s* (2002) recruited participants from two major medical centres, allowing a broader geographical representative. However, the researchers deliberately selected the sample to include men and women and a wide range of PAD severity. They interviewed 38 individuals, and subsequent interviews were not included as no new information was contained (n=24 men; mean age 65 years). Participants reported seven significant themes, including: delay in diagnosis and frustration with the management of the disease; pain; limitation in physical functioning; limitation in social and role functioning; compromise of self; uncertainty and fear; and adaptation to the effects of the disease and demonstration of resiliency. Treat-Jacobson *et al.* (2002) concluded that existing QoL questionnaires failed to detect the significant range of debilitating effects of PAD, which may result in a failure to reveal changes in the disease severity or after an intervention, suggesting that an enhanced specific QoL tool would help measure PAD's effects more accurately, thus promoting more effective interventions and improving

outcomes for people with PAD. It is essential to acknowledge that the participants in Treat-Jacobson *et al.* (2002) study included a range of disease severity, CLI inclusive, which is not directly comparable to IC patients alone.

The interpretation from healthcare professionals of the impact of IC on an individual's QoL can be subjective and can impact the management and treatment offered (Pell *et al.*, 1995). Accurately assessing QoL is valuable when patients have indicated that they would trade life expectancy years for quality (Torrance, 1986). PAD and IC not only pose an individual burden, but they also have a significant impact on the NHS and the wider society, which are magnified globally through both HIC and LMIC.

The burden of PAD globally has an increased risk of cardiovascular incidents, with major amputation, and long-term health co-morbidities associated with it (Golledge, 2022), which inevitably leads to a burden on healthcare pressures worldwide with associated financial implications. The disability-adjusted life year measures population burden by calculating the years lost owing to premature death and years lived with a disability caused by PAD (Murray, 1994); IC accounted for most disability causes associated with PAD (Fowkes *et al.*, 2017). It is estimated that by 2045, there will likely be an increase of 30-50% of the population with PAD (Nordanstig *et al.*, 2023). The improvements in treatment for the associated complications and people living longer have placed an increasing demand on healthcare providers, such as the United Kingdom's (UK) NHS. The burden has also shifted to LMICs (that have little resources to manage and treat acute and chronic conditions) with greater increase rates of the disease compared to HICs (29% v 13%) between the years 2000 and 2010 with a continued upward trend (Song *et al.*, 2019). This has mainly enforced the focus on preventing and managing PAD in LMIC, however, there is still a reliance on the

research from HIC to support this as there is a lack of published evidence available in LMIC areas (Fowkes *et al.,* 2017).

2.8 Management of IC

The management of IC has two main areas of focus: the secondary prevention of cardiovascular disease, and the reduction of symptoms. To reduce and prevent cardiovascular events, patients should continually be educated and provided with information about the associated risk factors, including quitting smoking, healthy eating, diabetes, hypertension, weight, exercise and medicines (Golledge, 2022). Two significant medical therapies in the secondary prevention of cardiovascular disease are statins (Mach et al., 2020) and anti-platelet agents (Committee, 1996). The Heart Protection Study (2002), a randomised placebo-controlled trial of 20,536 adults, found that people with a cholesterol level of over 3.5 mmol/l who took a statin daily had a reduction of 17.6% in subsequent cardiac events. A meta-analysis of 287 studies also found that anti-platelet therapy reduced cardiovascular events by 23% (Antithrombotic Trialists' Collaboration, 2002). Notably, the Caprie study (1996) found a statistically significant (p=0.043) relative-risk reduction of 8.7% in ischaemic events including stroke, MI or vascular death, in favour of Clopidogrel compared with aspirin as the anti-platelet agent. A more recent meta-analysis by Katsanos et al. (2015) demonstrated that six alternative antiplatelets were not superior to the benefits of Clopidogrel in the reduction of cardiovascular events; these findings agree with the previous recommendations by NICE (2012) on which clinical practice is based. Subsequently, the VOYAGER PAD study (Bonaca et al., 2020), a double-blind clinical trial, analysed the efficacy and safety of the use of rivaroxaban in patients who had undergone lower- extremity revascularisation. The primary efficacy outcome was a composite of acute

limb ischaemia, major limb amputation for vascular causes, MI, ischemic stroke, or death from cardiovascular causes. A total of 6564 patients were randomised in the VOYAGER PAD study (Bonaca *et al.*, 2020) between two groups; rivaroxaban (2.5 mg twice daily) plus aspirin, or the placebo plus aspirin group. The VOYAGER PAD study (Bonaca *et al.*, 2020) found that patients randomised to the rivaroxaban plus aspirin group were associated with significantly reduced incidence of major cardiovascular and limb events than those in the aspirin only group. The primary efficacy outcome occurred in 508 patients in the rivaroxaban group and 584 in the placebo group, with 3-year incidence rates of 17.3% and 19.9%, respectively (HR 0.85, 95% CI 0.76–0.96; P=0.009). The study's primary safety outcome was major bleeding according to the Thrombolysis in Myocardial Infarction classification; the International Society on Thrombosis and Haemostasis definition of major bleeding was the secondary safety outcome. The incident of major bleeding according to the primary safety outcome found no significant difference between the groups, the secondary safety outcome did find a significantly higher rate of major bleeding in the rivaroxaban group compared to the aspirin alone group.

Concomitantly, the second area of focus (reduction of symptoms) should be considered, with non-invasive intervention treatment options considered (NICE, 2012), this is discussed in the following sections.

2.8.1 Intervention (non-invasive and invasive) treatment aims for IC

The second focus is to treat the IC symptoms. Treatment of IC aims to improve the patient's walking, including maximum walking distance (MWD) and PFWD, improving overall health risks and positively impacting their QoL (Nordanstig *et al.*, 2023). Underpinning these aims, Norgren *et al.*'s (2007) earlier study voiced that the main aims of treatment for IC include:

- Improving symptoms, including pain;
- Improving walking performance, and;
- Improved daily functional ability.

2.8.2 The pathway of care for individuals with IC

According to NICE (2012), a SEP should be the first line of therapy for managing patients with IC (illustrated in Figure 2.3), involving 2 hours per week for 3 months; their recommendations include encouraging patients to walk to maximal pain and push through the pain threshold if possible. Evidence of early research into the conservative approach by Larsen and Larsen (1966) published in the Lancet, explored the effects of daily muscular exercise in patients with IC. This conservative management has continued to be studied and proven as a low-risk treatment for symptomatic PAD in helping improve walking ability (McDermott, 2018).

The offer of endovascular intervention, such as angioplasty and stenting, should only be considered following the completion of the hierarchy of processes (NICE, 2012). This includes risk factor modification reinforcement, unsatisfactory response to a SEP, and imaging confirmation that the endovascular option is suitable. A host of studies provide the foundation of the NICE (2012) recommendations. They compared the invasive endovascular intervention to supervised exercise, with the inclusion of the best medical therapy. The studies found that the invasive endovascular intervention, compared to supervised exercise, posed an increased risk of harm versus outcome benefit and was less cost-effective (Perkins *et al.*, 1996; Creasy *et al.*, 1990; Mazari *et al.*, 2010; Spronk *et al.*, 2009). With the acceptance of severe lifestyle-limiting IC symptoms, surgical options, including bypass and grafting, should be avoided, and only considered as a revascularisation option if
the earlier methods have failed. Clinical trial data indicate that invasive procedures only have a short-term improvement in walking ability compared to conservative management, and they carry an increased risk to limb and life (Murphy *et al.*, 2012). A relevant study by Sorber *et al.* (2023) explored the association between early peripheral vascular interventions in people newly diagnosed with IC (≤6 months since diagnosis) and subsequent interventions. The study enrolled a total of 187,442 newly diagnosed patients with IC, among whom 6,069 (3.2%) underwent early peripheral vascular intervention. Over a median follow-up duration of 4.39 years, late peripheral intervention was performed in 22.5% of patients who had undergone early peripheral intervention, compared to 3.6% of those who had not (P<.001). An increase in subsequent interventions is not cost effective and would have an increased risk of harm to the patient.

A further consideration in the treatment of IC is the use of medication. A systematic review by Squires *et al.* (2011) assessed the effectiveness and cost- effectiveness of several vasodilators for the treatment of IC symptoms, compared to no vasoactive drugs; the review concluded there is evidence that drug treatment can improve walking distances when compared to a placebo; however, many are expensive, and the long-term effectiveness is uncertain. NICE guidance (2012) recommends that the use of medical management of IC with NaftidrofuryI, the cheapest vasodilator licensed for the treatment of IC in the UK, should be only considered once all other options have been explored (illustrated in figure 2.3) and should be reviewed at 3-6 months and discontinued if there has been no symptomatic benefit. It is the preferred vasodilator drug for treating IC.



*Consider naftidrofuryl oxalate only when th SEP has not led to satisfactory improvement and the person prefers not to be referred for consideration of revascularisation. **Do not offer major limb amputation to people with CLI unless all options for revascularisation have been considered by a vascular multidisciplinary team.

Figure 2.3 NICE (2012) PAD : diagnosis and management flow recommendations

2.8.3 Supervised exercise for IC

Physical exercise is proven to be efficacious for people with established cardiovascular

disease (NICE, 2014) and can help improve symptoms for patients with IC (NICE, 2012).

Exercise can be delivered in many alternative forms. For instance, exercise can be delivered as SEPs, home-based exercise therapy with an observational component, and walking advice alone which is commonly used (Bendermacher et al., 2007). All methods of delivery have different levels of benefit across walking distance, QoL, and self-reported functional impairment outcomes. Hageman et al. (2018) conducted a systematic review of 21 randomised control trial (RCT) studies reviewing three main comparisons of exercise delivery across a range of outcomes: SEP versus home-based exercise therapy, SEP versus walking advice for IC, and home-based therapy versus walking advice. The primary outcome measure was maximum treadmill walking distance or time, and the secondary outcomes included: pain-free walking distance/time (PFWD/T), QoL, and self-reported functional impairment. The review is evidently valid; it is focused and contains relevant sourced papers from reliable databases; they covered potential data from unpublished work and searched all references from the relevant papers to ensure pertinent information wasn't overlooked. Hageman et al. (2018) tested the rigour of each RCT to identify any risk of bias; rating the studies as 'low', 'clear' or 'high' risk; this was taken into consideration in the categorising of the quality of the findings. Hageman et al. (2018) reported the findings of each of the three main comparisons at three intervals: 6 weeks, 12 weeks, and 6 months. The review concluded that overall SEP improved maximal and PFWD to a greater extent than homebased exercise, at 6 weeks the standardised mean difference (SMD) of 0.93 (95% confidence interval (CI) 0.15 to 1.70 p=0.02, low quality evidence in favour of SEP. At 12 weeks SMD was 0.37 (95% CI 0.12 to 0.62 p=0.004, moderate-quality evidence) and SMD at 6 months increased to 0.68 (95% CI 0.07 to 1.30 p=0.03, moderate-guality evidence). SEP compared to walking advice alone at 6 weeks had a SMD of 0.62 (95% CI 0.27 to 0.98; P=0.0006, moderate quality evidence) in favour of SEP. At 12 weeks, the SMD increased to 0.80 (95%

CI 0.53 to 1.07' P< 0.00001, high quality evidence) and at 6 months SMD remained stable at 0.75 (95% CI 0.44 to 1.05; P< 0.00001; high quality evidence) translating to a difference in favour of the SEP group of approximately 210 metres in increased MWD, maintained across all the time frames. However, in the secondary outcomes, the SEP had no greater effect than the home-based, but compared with the walking advice, it was found to have greater results across all the outcomes. Hageman *et al.'s* (2018) systematic review results are transferable and relevant to this feasibility study in how we approach the delivery of exercise to ensure the greatest outcome for the participants built on valid and reliable evidence.

There are several studies that have explored the role of exercise therapy in the routine management of IC, focusing on the perceptions, attitudes, perceived and practices of healthcare professionals and patients around exercise therapy for IC (Harwood *et al.*, 2022; Makris *et al.*, 2012; Shalhoub *et al.*, 2009; Bartelink *et al.*, 2005; Bartelink *et al.*, 2004; Müller-Bühl *et al.*, 2012; Kruidenier *et al.*, 2009; Lauret *et al.*, 2012). Harwood *et al.* (2022) reported that in response to their most recent UK survey, 48% of vascular units reported having access to a SEP, which indicates a gradual increase over time considering results from previous surveys (24% in 2009, 36% in 2012, and 41.6% in 2017) (Shalhoub *et al.*, 2009; Makris *et al.*, 2012; Harwood *et al.*, 2017), however the majority still did not have access to a SEP. This is reflected across Europe as it is indicated that less than one in three vascular surgeons reported having access to a SEP (Makris *et al.*, 2012).

A study from the Netherlands by Lauret *et al.* (2012) found a positive attitude around the use of SEP for the treatment of IC. Lauret *et al.* (2012) reported that all the vascular surgeons that they surveyed agreed that SEPs should be part of the rehabilitation for IC, and that 97% believed that they should be used as the primary treatment if IC, agreeing that

they are more effective than walking advice alone. However, this attitude is not reflected in the number of eligible patients referred to SEPs in the UK, as 46% of UK surgeons reported referring less than 50% of eligible patients to the SEP (Shalhoub *et al.*, 2009).

Furthermore, patient engagement and adherence to exercise therapy have been found to be low (Bartelink *et al.*, 2004; Harwood *et al.*, 2022; Muller-Buhl *et al.*, 2012; Shalhoub *et al.*, 2009). A German study by Muller-Buhl *et al.* (2012) reported that 69% of the patients either declined the offer of an exercise programme or did not attend training.

This, if anything, strengthens the evidence for further research. There is a hesitance for healthcare professionals to refer into SEPs, patients to accept and adhere to SEPs, a healthcare system that is reluctant to fund and have access to SEPs despite the overwhelming evidence for the clinical and cost effectiveness of SEPs.

A questionnaire survey by Harwood *et al.* (2018) (the PREFER study) surveyed 30 patients with confirmed and stable IC, aimed to identify and incorporate patient preferences for exercise delivery (excluding anyone who couldn't understand written English or who did not have the capacity to understand the health-service evaluation). Harwood *et al.* (2018) used an online survey tool to collect and record the data ensuring that it was anonymised using unique and confidential participant identifiers. Although it was unclear to identify the relationship between the researcher and participant adequately, Harwood *et al.*'s (2018) results acknowledged a clear statement of findings that despite SEP being a proven method of improving overall walking, most patients in their study preferred home exercise (50%). Harwood *et al.* (2018) reported contributing factors to these findings were 'financial,' 'time,' and 'transport' concerns. These findings are important to consider in how exercise is delivered for IC patients, ensuring a patient-centred approach is taken. As strong as the

evidence is for SEPs, if the limitations prevent patients from participating, then the benefits will not be reaped.

In consolidation, SEPs are the most beneficial method to deliver exercise to improve walking distance for people with IC, and home-based exercise is the preferred delivery method by participants. The modality of exercise is not discussed, weighing up the considerations and impacts that different types of exercise may have on improving walking outcomes, this is examined in greater detail in the next section.

2.8.4 Exercise modality for SEP

The NICE (2012) guidance recommends that a SEP should involve 2 hours of supervised exercise per week for three months. The programme should encourage people with IC to exercise to the point of maximal pain. The guidance is not specific regarding the choice of exercise modality. A systematic review by Tew *et al.* (2016) to evaluate the completeness of intervention descriptions in 58 RCTs of SEP (reporting on 76 interventions) in people with PAD found that most studies (59%) used walking, making it the most tested and proven modality. Overall, all the studies reviewed by Tew *et al.* (2016) failed to describe their interventions sufficiently to be replicated.

A later Cochrane review including 32 RCTs, of which data for 10 of the studies were included in a meta-analysis, exposed participants to exercise, usual care, or a placebo as a treatment for IC, it showed that the exercise group compared to the non-exercise group had an overall improvement in the mean MWD (mean difference (MD) 120.36%, 95% CI 50.79 to 189.92, p < 0.0007) (Lane *et al.*, 2017). In the exercise group, however, the participants were involved in other modes of exercise, which incorporated strength training,

cycle ergometry, and pole striding, making it difficult to isolate the effects of walking exercise.

As alternative modes to walking, studies have compared the efficacy of armergometry versus treadmill exercise (Treat-Jacobson *et al.*, 2009), cycling (Zwierska *et al.*, 2005), resistance training (Parmenter *et al.*, 2019), Nordic walking and strengthening (Kropielnicka, 2018) on the effects of walking distance for people with IC.

Treat-Jacobson *et al.* (2009) conducted a pilot RCT of 41 participants comparing the relative efficacy of arm ergometry, treadmill exercise, combination training (arm and treadmill) and usual care on measured outcomes including MWD and pain-free walking distance (PFWD). The study had some weaknesses. The assisting staff supervising the physicians in the exercise laboratory pre, and post-intervention tests were not blinded, however; to mitigate this, the testing was standardised to avoid deviation from the measured outcomes. Furthermore, the average age of the participants in both the combined group and usual care group were an average of 6-8 years older than those in the arm ergometry or treadmill group which may have put them at a disadvantage, although this along with the other documented baseline demographics were found to have no statistical difference. The pilot study reported the effects of the intervention comprehensively using P values, the Bonferroni test and ANCOVA tests were applied to reduce the risk of making statistical errors when making multiple comparisons, and to statistically equate the groups for one or more variables that may vary across the groups. After 12 weeks of intervention MWD was increased most in the treadmill group +69% (p=0.001), the arm-ergometry group improved by +53% (p=0.002), and the combined group by +68% (p=0.001) versus the usual care group. The study reported no significant difference between the interventional groups; however, the pilot acknowledges that the findings may

have clinical importance and could be statistically significant if the study were to be repeated on a larger population. The PFWD results found that the arm-ergometry group improved the most walking 82% further than their baseline tests, the treadmill group improved by 54% and the combined group by 60%, although the difference between groups were not significantly different from one another (p=1.0). In comparison, the usual control group only improved their PFWD by 1%.

Treat-Jacobson et al.'s (2009) study directs the choice of the modality of exercise to walking to offer to participants in this thesis's feasibility study to give the best possible improvements in MWD and PFWD. However, it is important to acknowledge that the 'dose' of intervention in the Treat-Jacobson et al. (2009) was higher (3 sessions per week) than the NICE (2012) guidance of 2 sessions per week, that this study will adopt. There may be greater benefits in the study outcome from Treat-Jacobson et al. (2009) compared to studies adopting the NICE (2012) guidance of two sessions per week due to several factors, including increased exposure to the stimulus, enhanced adaptation to the higher volume of physical activity, and consistency and habit formation. Having said this Treat-Jacobson et al. (2009) provided a valid, methodologically sound study to support an alternative mode of exercise to walking for those patients who are unable to sustain walking for any reason, such as unwillingness to walk, deconditioning or injury, that arm-ergometry could also be effective in improving walking capability for individuals with lifestyle limiting IC. They also touched upon the reasons that participants reported non-attendance, this strongly relates to this thesis's purpose in determining the feasibility of establishing a SEP, such as transport and scheduling of the programme.

A narrative review by Parmenter *et al.* (2019) examined different exercise modes, including resistance and circuit-based training. This review found a lack of high-quality

evidence to support these alternative modes of exercise (to walking) as primary interventions in the treatment of IC, advocating walking as the primary modality; however, emerging evidence supports the use of them in a complementary role (Parmenter *et al.,* 2019). This conclusion was supported by the systematic review by Jansen *et al.* (2020), who found no clear evidence between alternative exercise modes (including a greater range of alternative modes compared to Parmenter *et al.* (2019), such as Nordic walking, leg strengthening and cycling) and supervised walking exercise in improving the MWD and PFWD in patients with IC, however, the evidence was judged to be of low quality due to clinical inconsistency, small sample size and risk of bias.

Subsequently, Harwood *et al.* (2020) have published an overview of authors and organisational published guidance and recommendations for healthcare practitioners based on the relevant underpinning evidence. Overall Harwood *et al.* (2020) encapsulate the varying guidance, providing a clear and detailed guideline for the prescription and training for IC patients which can be interpreted worldwide.

To summarise, there are a range of exercise modalities that have been found to benefit people with other forms of cardiovascular disease and address some of the limitations of walking programmes, including deconditioning and unwillingness to walk (Hirsch *et al.,* 2006). However, the highest quality evidence in improving walking distance for people with IC are walking programmes (Jansen *et al.,* 2020). Despite the known benefits of SEPs, and national guidance recommendations by NICE, the number of vascular centres that report having access to an exercise programme would suggest that the use of SEP remains surprisingly under-utilised in clinical practice (Harwood *et al.,* 2018).

2.8.5 Implementation of a SEP

A survey conducted by Harwood et al. (2022) determined the provision of SEPs within vascular units in the UK, following the publication of the NICE (2012) diagnosis and management of PAD guidelines, stood at a mere 48% that had access to a SEP, compared to 24% before the guideline's publication (Shalhoub et al., 2009). Harwood et al.'s (2022) survey identified that the majority of the SEPs were hospital based (62%); the sessions were predominately group-based (73%), running one session per week (n=15; 50%), and lasted 12 weeks (n=15; 50%). The survey by Harwood et al (2022) also acknowledged that there is likely to be an underestimation of vascular hubs that offer a SEP due to the survey response figures and thus missing data especially in the Northeast of England. In an earlier survey undertaken by Harwood et al. (2017) it was reported that all the SEP home-based programmes (n=3) that were recorded in the survey failed to record commencement and compliance formally, and 'best guess' data was used for all data; the absence of accurate data invalidates the reported findings in this area of the survey. In the latest survey by Harwood et al. (2022), they found that most home-based programmes were managed through exercise booklets and pedometers. Harwood et al. (2022) survey highlighted many barriers to the implementation of SEPs including lack of funding, facilities and the lack of detail provided within the NICE guidelines despite the demonstration of cost-effectiveness being an integral part of the NICE (2012) guideline's recommendation for practice. Multiple other factors included poor patient compliance, lack of motivation from patients, and the unwillingness of senior staff to change practice, which may be challenging to overcome (Popplewell and Bradbury., 2014), were also reported barriers in the earlier Harwood et al. (2017) survey discussion. Harwood et al.'s (2022) later survey did address other mitigating circumstances that may lead to patient compliance and motivation, such as transportation,

time, work, and social needs. There remains a gap in the research around barriers and recommendations to overcome them in practice.

Pearson *et al.* (2020) conveyed that 'to improve the likelihood of impact, factors that may impede intervention should be considered' (P2). Bauer *et al.* (2015) suggested there is a failure to implement effective treatment in healthcare; this has been recognised as a priority internationally (Craig *et al.*, 2008., Eccles *et al.*, 2009., Peters *et al.*, 2013., Neta *et al.*, 2015). Addressing uncertainties through pilot and feasibility studies can effectively integrate evidence-based intervention into practice (Pearson *et al.*, 2020), allowing the opportunity to identify and refine potential barriers and limitations to deliver the intervention effectively (Eldridge *et al.*, 2016). Pearson *et al.*'s (2020) guidance on conducting feasibility and pilot studies for implementing trials highlights several factors to explore, including adoption, fidelity, reach, sustainability, adaptability, feasibility, compactivity, complexity, context, culture, and self-efficacy.

2.9 Summary of the literature review

A broad overview of the literature review denotes that as the ageing population increases, the prevalence of PAD will continue to rise, and the associated risk of cardiovascular morbidity and mortality will follow, leading to a greater burden on society. IC, although perceived as a relatively benign level of arterial disease, is debilitating, impacting individuals' physical and mental health (Spronk *et al.*, 2007).

Exercise delivered in different modalities has been proven to improve the walking distance/time of individuals with IC (Parmenter *et al.*, 2019) and is cost-effective with low risk of harm. This has led to published guidance advocating SEP as the first-line treatment for people with IC, but the guidance does not distinguish the modality. However, there is the

strongest evidence for walking (Jansen *et al.,* 2020). Despite this, nationally, there is a low uptake of the SEP by vascular centres. The justification for low uptake and the underutilisation of established SEP are poorly evidenced.

2.9.1 Aims and objectives of the study

With consideration of the main findings in the literature review and the identified gaps in current research, this study aims:

To determine the feasibility of implementing a SEP for people with IC in York, England.

The study's objectives are:

- a) To establish and deliver a SEP that meets the NICE (2012) guidance.
- b) To measure and evaluate patient outcomes including: MWD/T, self-reported pain scores, QoL.
- c) To identify and evaluate the barriers to service implementation and delivery during the different stages of the study including recruitment, assessment, delivery, and evaluation.

Chapter 3: Methods

In this chapter, an overview of this study will be presented, followed by a detailed step-bystep breakdown of the methods used. This includes a comprehensive discussion of key aspects such as ethics, participant eligibility criteria, recruitment and assessment procedures, the SEP, and the evaluation process. The structure of this chapter is designed to ensure clarity and transparency, facilitating the potential replication of the study. By outlining each methodological step in a systematic manner, this chapter provides the necessary framework to understand how the study was conducted and the rationale behind the chosen methods.

3.1 Overview of study

It is recognised that a mixed-method study, combining quantitative and qualitative methodology provides an overarching approach, fostering creativity and adaptability in research (Hesse-Biber and Johnson, 2013). This approach was adopted into the methodology of this feasibility study using quantitative data collection from the four stages of patients' participation (recruitment, pre-assessment, SEP delivery, exit assessment), with the addition of qualitative feedback using a questionnaire during the exit assessment of the study. The outset was to recruit patients to the SEP attending vascular clinics at one NHS site as part of their normal care. During recruitment data was collected and evaluated including referral numbers and patient demographics. Following recruitment data was collected over a 12-month timeframe from the pre and post assessments and intervention. After the 12month timeframe the SEP continued as the normal pathway of care. Following recruitment, participants attended an entry assessment to record baseline measurements, including

stature, body mass, HRQoL scores, ABPI readings, and pain-free and maximum walking distances/times during an incremental treadmill test.

After completing the entry assessment participants were enrolled in a 12-week SEP (staggered start dates) with twice-weekly face-to-face sessions, with a maximum of 104 exercise sessions to be delivered across the 12-month evaluation period if sessions were held every week. However, due to holiday breaks (Christmas and Easter) and unforeseen building problems on one occasion, the total number of exercise sessions that were delivered and had data to collate from was 97. Each session included a 10-minute warm-up, followed by six-minute bouts of forced pace walking repeated five times with a two-minute passive rest between each bout. The session finished with a 10-minute period of bodyweight resistance exercises, static stretching and recovery. Data collected in each session included distance walked, and maximum pain scores that occurred in each bout of walking. Attendance and reasons for missed sessions were also recorded. If sessions were canceled by the facilitators, then these sessions were not included in the participants' attendance, sessions missed through participant cause were included in their attended session numbers.

After completing the exercise programme, participants were invited to return for an exit assessment. This repeated the structure of the initial assessment tests to provide comparative data. Additionally, at this stage, participants were asked to complete an evaluation questionnaire about the stages of the SEP. Similarly to the study by Matthews *et al.* (2016), this feasibility study asked the participants to self-report if their symptoms had improved, stayed the same, or become worse during their involvement; if the participant's symptoms were self-reported as 'worse' or 'the same', then they were given the

opportunity to discuss potential alternative treatment options with their named consultant. If their self-reported symptoms were 'improved' they were discharged to primary care.

3.2 Cost-effectiveness

Cost-effectiveness should be measured by the expected cost of an intervention or treatment compared to its health benefit rather than the overall cost or resource implications of their implementation, in essence, if there is evidence that an intervention offers substantial health benefits at a reasonable cost per patient treated, it should be endorsed even if its widespread implementation would be costly (NICE, 2009). Health benefits are commonly assessed using quality-adjusted life years (QALYs). A QALY represents a person's lifespan adjusted by the value assigned to their health-related quality of life (HRQoL) during that time (NICE, 2012). NICE (2012) guidance reported the calculated cost per patient to attend a SEP at £288, and although the cost of a SEP compared to unsupervised is greater, the health benefit outweighed the financial cost.

The York Health Economic Consortium (YHEC) was commissioned to produce a local cost calculator of treatment pathways for patients with PAD, particularly focusing on IC; this work was part of the overall service evaluation, but the outcomes will be reported elsewhere.

3.3 Ethical approval and governance

The study recruited participants diagnosed with IC who were under the care of York and Scarborough Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. Data collection and storage of patient details were all carried out in accordance with local and national General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) guidelines, to ensure patient safety and confidentiality. From

the Trust's perspective, the SEP project was considered a service evaluation, meaning ethical approval was not required from an NHS Research Ethics Committee. However, it was a requirement for the service evaluation to be registered within the Hospital Trust surgical care group, and this was actioned on 19th June 2023 (Appendix 2). Similarly Ethical approval was not required from York St John University perspective either, however it was sought and approved on 30th June 2023 by York St John University (Ethics reference: STHEC0072) (Appendix 1) after advice to provide some scrutiny. A Service Level Agreement was approved between The Hospital Trust and the University on 12th October 2023 (Appendix 3). A combined participant consent form to participate in the exercise programme, and to routinely collect data for service evaluation (Appendix 4) was completed for each participant and then scanned into the Hospital's electronic record system.

Initially, a written patient information leaflet (PIL) (Appendix 5) to be provided at the recruitment stage was approved by the PIL team in May 2023 prior to participant recruitment. A systematic review by Susteric *et al.* (2016) concluded that using PILs can enhance patients' understanding and contentment in both acute and chronic situations. Additionally, Susteric *et al.* (2016) highlighted that the effect on adherence to treatment of chronic conditions fluctuated based on the circumstances, the method of providing the PILs, and the invasiveness of the treatment. The findings from Susteric *et al.*'s (2016) study is pertinent to this feasibility study as it found that when effectively crafted and administered in a timely manner, PILs have the potential to enhance patients' understanding and satisfaction regardless of the medical scenario, and promote improved compliance with treatment, especially in the near future. Susteric *et al.* (2016) reviewed 24 studies, having a clear objective to propose recommendations and suggestions for improving the quality of PILs, how to use them, and methods to evaluate them. The review searched relevant health

databases and used a theoretical model as a robust method of data extraction rating the studies as either 'low' good' or 'high' quality.

The PILs team fast-tracked the approval due to the intended use within a feasibility study without ratification or Healthwatch input (a board of people who provide readability input of any proposed patient written information), as this could be implemented later. However, when the PILs team was later approached for permission for two related PILs to be produced: home exercise (Appendix 6) and exercise log (Appendix 7) in October 2023, ahead of the SEP start date, permission was denied. On this occasion, the team rejected the fast-track approval (November 2023) and requested that all PILs to be given to participants during the service moving forward were to undergo the full ratification process. All the PILs were submitted, presented, and ratified by the surgical governance team on 31st of January 2024 after several months of delay. Once approved by the governance team in January, the three PILs were returned to the PILs team to be presented to the Healthwatch team for review- this process was completed on the 3rd of April 2024. The recommended amendments made by the Healthwatch panel were implemented, and then the PILs were once again returned to the PILs team on 5th April 2024 for final approval. The PILs to support home exercise (Appendices 6 and 7) and the new version of Appendix 5 were withheld from participants until final approval was obtained on 23rd May 2024. The PILs were sent for print, with a turnaround of 2 months before the PILs were available to hand out. As initial approval was granted for the first PIL (Appendix 5) this PIL was provided throughout the duration of the study. The contents of the PILs are explained in more detail under the relevant subheadings, which also indicates when they were provided to the participants.

3.4 Participant recruitment

3.4.1 Inclusion criteria

Patients were included in this study based on:

1. Being under the care of York and Scarborough Teaching Hospital NHS Foundation

Trust

- 2. Having attended a vascular clinic at York Hospital
- 3. Being ≥18 years old
- 4. Having a clinical diagnosis of IC due to PAD
- 5. Reporting that their ADL's were limited, with IC the main limiting factor
- 6. To walk independently without walking aids (except a stick for reassurance)

3.4.2 Exclusion criteria

Patients were excluded based on:

- 1. Patient unwilling or unable to participate
- 2. Unable to provide informed consent
- 3. Walking impairment for a reason that is not related to PAD
- 4. Asymptomatic patients (no symptoms of IC)
- 5. CLI
- 6. Major surgery within previous 3 months
- 7. Unstable cardiac disease
- 8. Evidence of coronary ischaemia during initial graded exercise test
- 9. Any other factors that may prevent safe exercise participation.

3.4.3 Sample size

The sample size for the feasibility study was determined by considering several factors:

- Data collection timeframe: The study planned to collect and evaluate data over 12 months, from September 2023 to August 2024.
- 2. SEP duration: The duration of the SEP was 12 weeks.
- Session manageability: It was agreed that 10 participants would be the maximum number per session, considering safety and manageability.

Based on these factors, the timeframe would accommodate 4 x complete 12-week SEPs, with a maximum of 10 participants enrolled in each SEP. Equating to a maximum sample size of 40 participants. According to Totton *et al.* (2023) the sample size for this feasibility study is consistent with typical sample sizes for pilot and feasibility studies conducted in the UK.

3.4.4 Participant selection

Participants for this study were recruited from York and Scarborough Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. To identify potential participants, the outpatient vascular clinic records in the hospital's electronic Core Patient Database were manually screened. This process focused on reviewing new patient referrals to find individuals showing symptoms of IC for inclusion in the study. Referrals detailing information about the patient that did not meet the study's criteria were excluded at this stage and not considered. Once potentially eligible patients were identified, if available, the vascular specialist nurse practitioner (VSNP) would attend the clinic appointment in person, or if unable to attend in person, a written prompt was placed on the electronic clinic list to identify to the consultant that the patient may be suitable for the SEP.

If a patient was diagnosed with IC during the clinic appointment, the consultant or registrar determined the treatment pathway. Options included SEP, imaging, discharge with verbal advice (best medical therapy advice and walking advice to the primary care team), or a combination of treatments such as SEP with pending imaging. The outcome for each patient was recorded based on these variables. Vascular consultants could also refer suitable patients to the study from follow-up appointments by copying the VSNP into the clinic letter.

Patients who were offered the SEP, satisfied the eligibility criteria, and were seen in the clinic face-to-face by a vascular nurse specialist during their appointment, received verbal details of the SEP detailing the background of the study. Some patients at this stage declined the SEP, and their reasons were recorded, and the consultant was informed.

If the patients accepted the SEP, they were given written information about the SEP (Appendix 5). As recommended by Susteric *et al.'s* (2016) systematic review of effective PILs (discussed in section 3.3), written information provided at the recruitment stage of the feasibility study explained IC, why a SEP is offered, and what a SEP involves. In addition, the PIL provided details of the assessments and the SEP, including duration, time, location, and structure of the sessions. The PIL also incorporated a brief explanation of what to expect after the SEP. It featured advice on how the patient can help themselves (risk factor modification), including smoking cessation advice, and keeping active, as shown in an infographic (Tew *et al.*, 2018) (Appendix 6). A PIL sourced from the Circulation Foundation was also provided (Appendix 8) to help participants better understand IC and the alternative treatment approaches. If the patient stated that they currently smoke, they were provided with a separate stop smoking postcard with local contact details for free advice on stopping smoking. If the patient was happy with the information provided, they were given a consent

form (Appendix 4) to read, time to ask questions, and sign the consent if they agreed to the consent statements.

Patients referred by the consultant from follow-up appointments or new patient referrals (if the VSNP was not present in the clinic) for consideration to participate in the SEP were brought to the VSNP attention through being copied into the clinic letter, the patient was then contacted by telephone usually within 2 weeks of their appointment with the consultant. The same verbal discussion was held as if seen face to face in the clinic, and if they met the criteria and agreed to the SEP, then the same written information was sent via the post. The consent form was completed when they attended their entry assessment.

All patients who initially agreed to attend the SEP were placed on an electronic waiting list. At this stage, participants were allocated a participant number to anonymise their data. Data from recruitment recorded various outcomes, including:

- Number of clinics attended in person/reviewed retrospectively by the VSNP
- Name of consultant clinic the patient attended
- Number of patients from the new patient referrals with potential IC symptoms diagnosed with IC
- Number of patients identified as having IC offered the SEP as first-line treatment
- Reasons for the patient declining the offer of SEP (if offered)
- Alternative investigation/treatment offered
- Other relevant notes

Demographic data collected at recruitment included:

- Age
- Ethnicity
- Sex Employment (based on the following categories: employed, unemployed, retired, not stated).
- Locality (postcode and region)
- Deprivation score (calculated using an online tool, decile range one to ten, one represents the most deprived area, ten represents the least deprived (area) (GB Postcode Deprivation Finder, 2021).

All participants were later contacted by telephone and vetted to ascertain that they still met the study criteria and to arrange their entry assessment appointment. The assessment appointment was recorded on a Hospital Trust clinic template, and a formal appointment letter was sent with directions and parking information attached. The clinic template was formatted as part of the service evaluation. It provided a professional and official record for the participant, which also linked to the NHS alert system for a text reminder of their appointment. A clinic template also provided a record of attendees and outcomes to the SEP in preparation to present to the Trust for a business case to continue the SEP as usual care at a later date.

3.4.5 Medical examination and history

Participants attended a standard consultant appointment with a duration of between 10-15 minutes. During their consultation, all participants underwent a medical examination, including a detailed medical/surgical history identifying any associated risk factors of PAD and a medication history. Some patients had previously undergone investigations and/or

interventions for PAD, including Magnetic Resonance Angiography (MRA) and/or invasive angiography. Mazzolai *et al.* (2024) promote accurately identifying cardiovascular risk factors during the initial assessment to improve preventative measures and reach preventive goals before starting exercise training rehabilitation.

In contrast to the evidence discussed in section 2.4, the preferred method of physical examination observed in clinical practice was the palpation of pulses to support the diagnosis of IC. ABPI's were not routinely performed as part of the examination within the consultant clinics. On the occasions when ABPIs were observed, there was no standard practice followed; commonly, the patient did not lay supine for any length of time prior to the procedure and the position of the cuff was variable. However, during the entry and exit assessments of this study the ABPIs were performed under standardized conditions, this is explained in greater depth in section 3.5.4.

3.5 Assessments

Assessments were conducted at the York St John University campus in a clinical research room. There was allocated free parking on site, requiring pre-submission of the participant's car registration plate to avoid parking charges. The distance from the parking area to the clinic room was approximately 150metres. The order and method in which the assessments were performed were standardised. Mazzolai *et al.* (2024) actively encourage reproducible conditions; they also acknowledge that if a treadmill is used as part of an assessment, patients should be given the opportunity to familiarise themselves with the equipment. To address this, the participants were allowed to walk on the treadmill before the assessment commenced to experience the pace and feel the initial gradient they would undergo later during the treadmill test. The recording of the data during the assessments was inputted

directly into a prewritten Google form using only the participant's research number to maintain confidentiality.

3.5.1 Stature and body mass

The first measures recorded during the assessment were stature and body mass. Participants removed shoes and any heavy clothing or items from their pockets before these were recorded. Stature was taken using a free-standing stature measure device (make: Seca, model: 217), recorded in centimetres rounded to the nearest 1 decimal place, then the participant's mass was taken in kilograms (Kg) using digital floor scales (make: Seca, model: 877 class III). The participant's body mass index (BMI, in Kg/m²) (body mass-to-height ratio tool) was then auto-calculated using the formula- body mass in Kg divided by statue in m squared by the Google form. A high or low BMI ratio is a modifiable health risk factor (Department of Health, 2022). The importance of calculating, interpreting, and investigating the underlying cause of a person's raised BMI in healthcare is advocated by the Department of Health and Social Care (2022), who highlight the associated development of obesityrelated health conditions such as type 2 diabetes, stroke, ischaemic heart disease, and mental health-related issues. A systematic review by Cronin et al. (2013) found that obesity was an independent risk factor for people with PAD who experienced a cardiovascular event. Furthermore, evidence suggests that the association between obesity (people with a raised BMI) and PAD is found to be markedly stronger amongst women although the reasons for this are unclear (Heffron et al., 2020).

3.5.2 Relevant medical history

The VSNP confirmed details about the participants' IC symptoms including the affected limb/s, duration of symptoms, and self-reported PFWD. The participants' smoking status was also recorded, and if applicable, current cigarette consumption or years since cessation if they were an ex-smoker. Co-morbidities, including associated risk factors (hypertension, diabetes, hyperlipidemia, MI, stroke) and current medication taken, including hypertensive, antiplatelet, and statins medications, were also recorded.

3.5.3 HR-QoL questionnaires

To ascertain the response to exercise training on a participant, an assessment of QoL should be incorporated at the beginning and end of the intervention, providing a holistic approach to functional status (Mazzolai, 2024). Participants were asked to self-interpret and independently complete two HR-QoL questionnaires- the VascuQoL-6 and the EQ-5D-5L on an electronic device to capture the outcomes related to both a PAD-specific perspective and a generic health perspective, retrospectively. As this decision alludes, there are different types of HR-QoL questionnaires used within PAD, generic and disease-specific, with a lack of standardisation and little consensus on which is more reliable in interpreting QoL (Broadbent *et al.*, 2017); considering this the decision was made to incorporate both types of questionnaires within the feasibility study. The VascuQoL-6 is a disease-specific questionnaire for patients with PAD (Appendix 10), and the EQ-5D-5L is a generic questionnaire (Appendix 11). Permission to use the VascuQoL-6 was requested, but no response was received; the email request is included in Appendix 9. Permission to use the EQ-5D-5L in digital form is included in Appendix 11. Self-reported functional impairment and QoL assessment are subjective; however, it's recognised that to measure the impact of

health-related issues, there needs to be an objective method of measuring QoL for patients with IC (Pell *et al.*, 1995). The HR-QoL questionnaires are formatted to have a numerical rating attached to the responses, allowing a score to be calculated based on the participant's response, thus allowing a comparative measure.

The VascuQoL-6, a shortened version of the VasculQoL-25 disease-specific questionnaire was designed to alleviate the reluctance to complete long questionnaires (Larsen *et al.*, 2017). The revised VascuQoL-6 questionnaire by Nordanstig *et al.* (2014) comprises of 6 questions, each with 4 answer options scored 1-4; the total score is achieved by adding the total value of each question (scoring between 6-24); higher values indicate better health status. Larsen et al. (2017) studied 171 participants (86% IC, 14% CLI) and compared the VasculQoL-6 questionnaire to the Short Form-36 and clinical measures as anchors. Larsen et al.'s (2017) study concluded that the VascuQoL-6 is a reliable and valid tool for assessing QoL in PAD patients. A further anchor-based study by Hageman et al. (2022) used the VascuQoL-6 questionnaire on 124 patients with IC prior to, and after attending a 12-week SEP, their VascuQoL-6 scores increased from 16.3 ±4.4 to 18.7 ± 3.8, resulting in 32%-41% of the patients achieving a clinically meaningful improvement in HR-QoL using the VascuQoL-6 questionnaire (p<.001). The minimal importance difference (MID) ranged from +2.0 to +3.8, and substantial clinical benefit ranged between +3.7 to 5.0 points, giving a benchmark for a successful SEP.

The EQ-5D-5L is a generic QoL questionnaire designed to measure health status across five domains: mobility, self-care, usual activities, pain/discomfort and anxiety/depression. Each domain has five levels, each level having a corresponding value attached: no problems (1), slight problems (2), moderate problems (3), severe problems (4) and extreme problems (5). The five numbers are then combined into a five-digit number

that can be used to summarise the participant's health state, for example, 11234 (EuroQol, 2019). Additionally, the 5-digit health state figure can be converted into a single utility index value using a formula that attaches weight to each value given for the domain level. The utility index is calculated by deducting the appropriate weights from 1, the value for full health. The calculated single-digit figure reflects how good or bad a health state is according to the preference of the general population of a specific country/region (EuroQol, 2019). A mapping method devised by Van Hout et al. (2012), referred to as the 'crosswalk' approach, enabled 5Q-5D-5L value sets to be obtained using the available existing values from the EQ-5D-3L. The utility index scores for this feasibility study are based on the crosswalk model values, the UK scores range between -0.594 and +1.0 (higher scores representing better health status) (Van Hout et al., 2012). The EQ-5D-5L questionnaire also incorporates a visual analogue scale (VAS) to measure the participant's self-rated health. The scale uses a Likert numerical scale between 0-100 (0 representing 'worst health' and 100 representing 'best health'). The EQ-5D-5L questionnaire has been developed to replace the original EQ-5D questionnaire to address the ceiling effects of the first version, which proved to have issues in measuring small changes in health (Herdman et al., 2011). De Vries et al. (2005) study reported that before the changes to the EQ-5D questionnaire, it was compared along with another generic QoL questionnaire to the VascuQoL-25. De Vries et al. (2005) concluded that although both types of questionnaires could detect severe from mild disease at the baseline equally, the disease-specific questionnaire was better at discriminating between a large versus a small change in disease severity at the point of follow-up. However, using a VAS scale can make it easier for older people to interpret, and aid in determining the degree of disability caused by their IC symptoms (Peräkylä et al., 2008).

Further reinforcement for the informed selection of both the VascuQoL-6 and EQ-5D-5L HR-QoL questions in this feasibility is evidenced by Rymer *et al.'s* (2021) review of Patient-Reported Outcome Measures (PROMs). Rymer *et al.* (2021) reviewed twenty-four PROMs used within 157 studies along a continuum of validation within the classic test theory framework, based on whether they met specific criteria for (1) content validity, (2) psychometric validation, and (3) further expansion of the evidence base for validation, in people with PAD without CLI. The review identified that both the VascuQoL-6 and EQ-5D-5L questionnaires were among the top five PROMs to have the most extensive evidence of validation in this population of people.

3.5.4 ABPI

The participant's ABPI measurements were recorded in both limbs following the measurement guidance discussed in section 2.4. The doppler used in the feasibility study was a Huntleigh DMX digital doppler. For those participants who trialed the treadmill, this was performed soon after arrival at the assessment, the participant completed the other assessments including QoL questionnaires, statue and body mass measurements to allow for the participants blood pressure to return to normal (between 15-20 minutes). Before the ABPI examination all participants rested in the supine position for between 5-10 minutes to allow for the blood pressure in the brachial and lower limb system to equalise (NICE, 2012) as discussed in section 2.4. Measuring ABPI in participants with known media calcinosis (calcification) is likely impossible due to the hardening of the arteries, resulting in incompressible vessels and inaccurate results (Aboyans *et al.*, 2017). As per NICE guidance (2023), the participant's ABPI was recorded as incompressible if the ABPI reading was > 1.5. It was also recorded if the procedure was abandoned if the participant reported it to be too

painful to continue. The mean entry ABPI results are determined using the lowest calculated reading from both legs of each participant. This approach minimised potential data distortion by excluding results from asymptomatic limbs with normal ABPI values of those participants with unilateral symptoms.

3.5.5 Graded Treadmill Test

ABPI diagnostics alone are a poor predictor of walking performance in patients with PAD (Szuba *et al.*, 2006). Therefore, a graded treadmill test based on the Treat-Jacobson *et al.* (2009) protocol was used to measure exercise performance and functional ability of the participants objectively. To minimise measurement error, the participants were given an opportunity to familiarise themselves with treadmill walking before the start of the assessment, as many older adults may not have experience using a treadmill. Treat-Jacobson *et al.* (2009) protocol was designed specifically to assess IC symptoms. The protocol measures PFWD, MWD, and corresponding times.

The protocol followed 3-minute progression stages, starting at a speed of 2 mph and a 0% gradient; the gradient increased by 3.5% every three-minute interval until a maximum of 10.5%; then the speed increased by 0.5 mph for the remaining intervals (Treat-Jacobson *et al.*, 2009). A maximum time of 21 minutes of walking was used. Participants were stopped if they could not progress to the increased walking increment, and that distance and time were recorded as their MWT and MWD. If a participant was unable to start the treadmill test in the entry assessment at the required minimum pace the pace was reduced, this was then replicated at the exit assessment. Any participant's treadmill test that was adjusted was not included in the result analyses and will be mentioned in the results and discussion summary.

Participants were asked to only lightly hold the grab rails for balance, which were positioned both laterally and adjacent to participants on the treadmill. During the graded treadmill test, the participants were asked to verbally indicate when they started to experience the onset of IC pain, and when they had reached their maximum walking distance/time (MWD/T). At these points and at every 3-minute interval reached, they were asked to score the pain using a simplified IC pain scale, a visual copy was displayed for reference in the assessment, see below:

0- No pain,

- 1- Mild pain, very tolerable,
- 2- Moderate pain, bothersome but tolerable,
- 3- Intense pain, barely tolerable,
- 4- Unbearable pain cannot continue.
- (Liguori et al., 2021; and Treat-Jacobson et al., 2011).

Participants were questioned at the end of the test to ensure that halting the test was solely attributed to intolerable IC pain, rather than other co-morbidities like breathlessness or joint pain unrelated to their IC symptoms. Instances where the cessation was due to alternative causes were noted in the outcomes.

At the end of the entry assessment, participants were provided with written directions and times of the SEP and information such as parking. A start date was agreed which aimed to be within a week of their assessment unless there were exceptional circumstances. A standard letter was sent electronically to their General Practitioner (GP) and recorded on their electronic hospital records. 3.6 SEP

The SEP was conducted at York St John University's Haxby Road Sports Park, situated near the York Hospital (approximately 1 mile by road). The facility had ample free parking and was on a main bus route from the city centre. The car park had active automatic number plate recognition onsite, requiring the participants to log their car registration plates on arrival to avoid being issued a parking fine. The closest bus stop was less than 100m away.

The sports hall was spacious, and the basic equipment required, including chairs and cones, was readily available. A television screen to play music during the sessions was also available. York St John University also supplied the hand counters needed for documenting distance walked during each walking interval.

Following the guidance outlined by NICE (2012) for individuals with IC, the programme provided two hours of supervised exercise per week over a twelve-week duration. The sessions were initially scheduled on Tuesdays from 2.30pm until 3.30pm, and Thursdays from 8.45am until 9.45am. The days chosen for the SEP were determined due to several factors. Firstly, to avoid missed sessions associated with bank holidays Mondays and Fridays were purposefully avoided, the two days were split to allow for a rest day, and finally, the availability of the venue. The timing of the sessions was due to the availability of the venue. The sessions were conducted in groups, accommodating up to ten participants of either sex on a rolling basis. Data was recorded each session for class utilisation, the reason for absence and for leaving the programme early. The chosen mode of exercise is detailed in the following section.

Guided by the evidence explored within the literature review, the main mode of exercise delivered in the SEP was walking; this is in line with current PAD management

guidelines, which recommend walking as the preferred exercise modality (Hirsch *et al.*, 2006; Norgren *et al.*, 2007).

3.6.1 SEP- interval-based walking

As concluded by the outcomes of Tew *et al.'s* (2016) systematic review and Treat-Jacobson's (2009) pilot study discussed under the earlier heading 'exercise modality for SEP', walkingbased exercise is the modality found to have the strongest level of evidence to improve outcomes for patients with IC. Historically, the most utilised mode of walking exercise has been treadmill walking within a hospital setting (Regensteiner and Hiatt, 1995).

The service adopted an interval-based walking approach, involving five intervals of 6-minutes' duration. Previous interval walking protocols have used intervals of between three-and ten-minutes' duration. Overground walking had to be done due to a lack of treadmills, but this has advantages of being similar and more natural form of walking.

During each walking interval, participants were instructed to walk back and forth over a marked 30-metre length, which was marked out in the sports hall. The participants were encouraged to perform as many lengths as possible during the 6-minute timeframe to achieve the greatest distance possible, being able to rest if required, but the clock continued to run. Participants were able to talk to each other, music was played, and the exercise instructor gave occasional non-standardised instructions and motivational phrases for example, 'try to walk through the pain as much as tolerated'. At the end of each interval the participant's maximum pain score for 6-minute period was recorded using the same pain scale used in the graded treadmill assessment (see heading 3.5.5). The participants used a handheld counter to record the total number of 30m lengths completed within the 6-minute timeframe. If the patient failed to complete the total 30m length in the 6-minute time, that

length was not included. This process was repeated five times with a two-minute rest between walking (i.e. 30 minutes of walking accumulated in total).

3.6.2. SEP warm up/cool down

A pre-exercise warm-up is crucial to prevent health complications; a warm-up ensures that the cardiac system can adequately meet the demands of physical exertion; it does this by promoting sufficient blood flow to prepare key organs optimally for the controlled stresses of a productive exercise session (Association of Chartered Physiotherapists in Cardiac Rehabilitation (ACPICR)., 2023). The ACPICR (2023) recommends that a warm-up should last for 15 minutes, mobilising joints and warming-up large muscle groups. Due to time restrictions and the nature of the main exercise component (i.e., walking), a 10-minute warm-up was adopted at the start of each SEP session, and a 10-minute cool-down was conducted at the end of the session. Given that a significant number of PAD patients show signs of cardiovascular disease, placing them at a heightened risk of experiencing additional cardiovascular events such as stroke and MI, one of the main aims of PAD care is the secondary prevention of these life-threatening outcomes (NICE, 2012). On the background of the strong evidence between PAD and secondary cardiovascular disease, both the warmup and cool-down protocols of the SEP were modeled on the cardiac rehabilitation practices outlined below. In addition to cardiovascular, the warm-up incorporates strengthening, flexibility, balance, and coordination exercises to produce a training effect to prepare for the duration, intensity, and mode of the exercise (ACPICR, 2023).

Research has shown that implementing a gradual cooldown component can decrease the occurrence of complications such as hypothermia and ischaemia, it should mirror the warm-up in most aspects, with the goal of gradually bringing the

cardiorespiratory system back down to nearly resting levels within a timeframe of 10-15 minutes (American College of Sports Medicine, 2014; Fletcher, 2001; Pina, 2003; and Vincent, 2003).

Harwood *et al.* (2020) highlight the growing evidence supporting the benefits of progressive resistance training, emphasising that patients should be encouraged to incorporate strength-based exercises alongside a walking programme. In line with this evidence, a home-based exercise supplement (Appendix 6) was created that integrates strengthening exercises, cardiovascular training, and active recovery. The exercises include standing dead bugs, wall press-ups, lunges, sit-to-stands, standing calf raises, bent-over rows, shoulder presses, standard step-ups, and seated lateral raises. Participants were advised to complete 30 minutes of these exercises at least twice per week. They were instructed to select up to eight of the recommended exercises, perform each one for 20 seconds followed by a 10-second rest, and repeat each exercise eight times. To ensure proper technique, these exercises were demonstrated during the warm-up and cool-down components of the SEP sessions. This approach is designed to help participants integrate strength training into their routines safely and effectively.

3.7 Participant experience feedback

All participants who attended the exit assessment were asked to complete an experience feedback form of the SEP. Those who did not finish the SEP but attended at least one session were attempted to be contacted retrospectively to complete the form. The experience feedback form, recorded electronically, included questions about whether their GP had contacted them since starting the SEP and a self-report on whether their IC symptoms had 'improved,' 'stayed the same,' or 'worsened.' Participants were asked to rate

each stage of the SEP (recruitment, assessment, exercise sessions, home exercise advice, and overall) using the adjectives 'excellent,' 'good,' 'fair,' 'poor,' or 'very poor', they were given an opportunity to expand on the rating given in their own words to support the rating. They were also asked if they would recommend the SEP to others with IC. Additionally, participants could suggest improvements or provide further comments, and those who did not complete the SEP were asked for their reasons for leaving.

3.8 Analysis method

This feasibility study employed a descriptive analysis approach to identify trends, relationships, and characteristics within the specific population. Methods included calculating means, standard deviations (SD), percentages, and CIs using Excel software to compare entry and exit results. A summary was conducted for the qualitative feedback to identify overarching themes and patterns.

Chapter 4: Results

4.1 Patient recruitment and flow through the SEP

Figure 4.1 shows patient recruitment and flow throughout the study. Recruitment data collection ran over a 12-month timeframe, between June 1st, 2023, and May 31^{st,} 2024. During this time a total of 181 patient referrals with IC symptoms were accepted and appointed to a York vascular clinic. The most common route of referral was via the GP referrals (n=169). Of these referrals, the majority were vetted as 'new patient routine' (n=154); the rest were vetted as 'urgent' (n=15). The remaining appointments were follow-up patients (n=11) and a VSNP referral (n=1).

Of the total number of referrals (n=181), 72 patients (40%) received an alternative diagnosis and were ineligible for the service; the remaining 109 patients received a diagnosis of IC. Of these 109 patients, 44 (40%) were not offered the SEP as a treatment option. The recorded outcomes for the patients not offered the SEP were cross-sectional imaging (n=20), discharge with verbal advice (n=23), and podiatry (n=1).

Of the 65 patients offered the SEP, 25 (38%) declined. The most common reason for declining the SEP was transport (n=9), followed by distance (n=6), work (n=4), cross-sectional imaging (n=3), alternative treatment (n=2), and inability to contact (n=1). The most frequent outcome for the patients who declined the SEP was discharge with verbal advice (n=14), followed by cross-sectional imaging (n=9), Naftidrofuryl (n=1), and surgery (n=1).

Of the 40 patients who accepted the SEP, 8 withdrew before attending the entry assessment. Reasons given for withdrawal included, postponing (n=3), transport (n=2), availability (n=1), inability to contact (n=1), and death (n=1). Outcomes for these patients were postponed SEP (n=3), discharged (n=3), returned to a pre-arranged consultant clinic
(n=1), and referred to a consultant clinic (n=1). A total of 32 patients completed an entry assessment, three of which withdrew before starting the SEP sessions due to personal health (n=1), injury (n=1) and transport (n=1).

Twenty-nine patients attended at least one SEP session. However, there was a 17% (n=5) dropout rate, leaving a total of 24 patients who completed the programme. Of the 24 completers, a couple did not complete the exit assessment (n=2) due to being lost to follow-up (n=1) and physical health (n=1).

Thirteen of the of the 22 completers 59% reported an improvement in their IC symptoms. Among these, 10 patients were discharged, while 3 opted to consult with their named consultant again. Seven patients (31.8%) reported no change in their symptoms; of these, 5 requested a follow-up with their named consultant, and 2 were discharged. The remaining 2 patients (9%) reported a worsening of symptoms compared to their condition prior to starting the SEP, and both sought further consultation with their named consultant.



Figure 4.1 Flow of participants through the feasibility study

4.2 Reasons for withdrawal and participants lost to follow-up

Figure 4.2 illustrates the reasons for withdrawal given at each stage of the service from the 40 patients who initially accepted the SEP offer. A total of 18 participants (45%) withdrew before completing the exit assessment. Eight of these withdrawals occurred between accepting the offer and attending the entry assessment. Three participants withdrew after completing the entry assessment, while an additional five participants withdrew during the SEP sessions. Two participants completed the SEP sessions but did not attend the exit assessment, with one lost to follow-up and one withdrawing due to health reasons.

The primary reason for participant withdrawal from the SEP was health-related, which accounted for five participants. Transportation difficulties and postponement each led to the withdrawal of three participants. Additionally, two participants withdrew due to injury, and another two withdrew due to personal availability. Two withdrew as they were lost to follow-up, and one participant withdrew due to death.

4.3 Adverse events

No adverse events were found to be linked to the SEP. Two participants experienced minor cerebral incidents during the 12-week programme; however, these were deemed unrelated to the SEP and both participants were able to complete the programme after receiving medical clearance.



Figure 4.2 Reason and stage of Figure withdrawal from SEP

4.4 Participant characteristics and demographics at service entry

Table 4.1 presents the characteristics and demographics of participants who accepted the SEP offer, categorised into four groups: participants who accepted the SEP offer (n=40, group one); all participants who attended the pre-assessment (n=32, group 2); participants who attended at least one SEP session (n=29, group 3); and participants who completed both the SEP and the exit assessment (n=22, group 4). Most participants at service entry were seen in person by the VSNP, participants in group 4 were seen the most by the VSNP (73%) at the point of entry.

The mean age of participants across all groups was over 65 years, group 4 had an average age of 71.6 years, most were male (91%), white British (82%), and retired (91%). Across all groups, the range of distance traveled from home to the SEP remained the same,

between 1.5 miles and 42 miles, in group 4 the mean (SD) traveled 10.13 miles (10.25) to the SEP site. The favoured mode of transportation across all groups was too self-drive, with 91% reporting that they self-drive to the SEP in group four. The number of participants who reported using public transport (13%) in group 1 decreased in those who completed the SEP in group 4 (5%). The participants' mean deprivation score increased from 7.6 in group 1 to 8.05 in group 4, with the highest mean in group 3 (8.1). The range of deprivation scores was static across all domains between 3 and 10.

The participant health and IC symptom characteristics at service entry are also shown in Table 4.1. However, these characteristics are not reported in the category of 'participants who accepted the SEP' (group 1) as the data was collected later in the entry assessment. Health status data showed that BMI remained consistent across the three groups (means of 27.51, 27.94, and 28.88), all within the 'overweight' range. The ABPI measures are reduced by two participants in each group due to missing data. The baseline ABPI of the lowest leg mean scores presented no difference across the three groups (0.67, 0.67, 0.67). Participants frequently had multiple comorbidities, with hypertension being the most reported across the three groups. Although of those with hypertension, fewer participants reported the condition in group 4 (77%) than those who initially attended the pre-assessment (94%). A history of MI was more prevalent than stroke, with both conditions showing a slight decrease across the groups. In group 2, 19% (n=6) reported a previous MI, and 6% (n=2) reported a stroke, compared to 18% (n=4) for MI and 5% (n=1) for stroke in group 4. The majority of participants were former smokers, comprising 69% (n=22) in group 2, which increased to 73% (n=16) in group 4. Participants who had never smoked were more numerous than current smokers, with 19% (n=6) in group 2 and 23% (n=5) in group 4,

compared to 12.5% (n=4) and 5% (n=1) who were current smokers in group 2 and 4,

respectively.

Table 4.1 Participant characteristics at service entry.

	Participants who accepted the SEP (n=40) (Group 1)	All participants who attended the pre-assessment SEP (n=32) (Group 2)	Participants who attended a minimum of one SEP session (n=29) (Group 3)	Participants who completed the SEP and exit assessment (n=22) (Group 4)
Seen by the VSNP in the consultant clinic, n (%)	23 (58)	20 (63)	18 (62)	16 (73)
Age, mean (SD) Range	71.8 (7.39) 54-86	70.9 (7.46) 54-82	70.9 (6.77) 54-82	71.6 (6.99) 54-82
Sex n (%) Male Female	34 (85) 6 (15)	27 (84) 5 (16)	25 (86) 4 (14)	20 (91) 2 (9)
Ethnicity n (%) White British White mixed Not stated	35 (88) 2 (5) 3 (8)	27 (84) 2(7) 3(9)	25 (86) 1 (4) 3 (10)	18 (82) 1 (4) 3 (14)
Employment status n (%) Employed Unemployed Retired	2 (5) 2 (5) 36 (90)	2 (7) 1 (3) 29 (91)	2 (7) 0 27 (93)	2 (9) 0 20 (91)
Home to SEP distance (miles) to travel, mean (SD)	10.2 (10.5)	8.4 (8.4)	8.8 (9.4)	10.1 (10.3)
Range Mode of travel to SEP n (%)	1.5-42	1.5-42	1.5-42	1.5-42
Car (self-drives) Car (lift) Public transport Mobility scooter	31 (76) 3 (8) 5 (13) 1 (3)	25 (78) 1 (3) 5 (16) 1 (3)	25 (86) 1 (4) 3 (10) 0	20 (91) 1 (5) 1 (5)
Deprivation score, mean (SD)	7.6 (2.5)	7.8 (2.6)	8.1 (2.4)	8.1 (2.4)
Range Body mass (Kg) mean (SD)	3-10	3-10 82.6 (16.3)	3-10 84.6 (15.1)	3-10 86.9 (12.1)

Stature (centimetres),	172.9 (7.7)	173.8 (6.9)	173.5 (6.6)
mean (SD)			
BMI Kg/m ² , mean (SD)	27.5 (4.8)	27.9 (4.6)	28.9 (3.8)
ABPI, mean	**(n=30)	**(n=27)	**(n=20)
(SD)	 0.67 (0.13)	0.67 (0.12)	0.67 (0.12)
Duration of IC symptoms, n (%)			
< 6 months	1 (3)	1 (3)	1 (5)
6-12 months	8 (25)	7 (24)	5 (23)
1-2 years	6 (19)	6 (21)	4 (18)
2 or more	17 (53)	15 (52)	12 (55)
years			
Self-reported			
PFWD n (%)			
<50 yards 50-200yards			
>200 yards	3 (9)	3 (10)	2 (9)
>200 yarus	20 (63)	18 (62)	15 (68)
	9 (28)	8 (28)	5 (23)
Previous MI n (%)	6 (19)	6 (21)	4 (18)
Previous Stroke n (%)	2 (6)	2 (7)	1 (5)
Diabetes n (%)	8 (25)	8 (28)	6 (27)
Hypertension n (%)	30 (94)	22 (76)	17 (77)
Other medical conditions n (%)	3 (9)	2 (7)	1 (5)
Smoking status n (%)			
Yes	4(12.5)	2 (7)	1 (5)
No, never	6 (19)	6(21)	5 (23)
smoked			
No, ex-smoker	22 (69)	21(72)	16 (73)

* Percentage rounded to the nearest whole number

** number of participants reduced due to missing data

4.5 SEP delivery: Occupancy and reasons for missed sessions.

Table 4.2 presents data on the SEP classes conducted between November 7th, 2023, and September 10th, 2024. The table includes several key metrics: the total class occupancy as a percentage (where 10 participants represent 100% occupancy), the mean number of participants enrolled in the programme each month, the attendance rate of enrolled participants as a percentage, the number of missed sessions per month, and the most reported reasons for missed sessions.

The data in Table 4.2 indicates that November had the highest-class occupancy, with a mean of 76%, while September had the lowest, with only 33% occupancy. The average monthly occupancy remained above 49% until August 2024, which saw a notable decrease of 26% compared to the previous month. The mean number of participants enrolled in the SEP remained relatively stable between November 2023 and May 2024, fluctuating between 8.4 and 10.9 participants. The higher-than maximum participant recruitment mean number was due to 4 sessions in May that were oversubscribed, these sessions had 12,13,12, and 11 participants enrolled to offset an increased number of absences at that time. However, a decline was observed in June 2024, with enrolment dropping to 7.1, and further declining to 3.7 participants in September.

Participant attendance varied throughout the study, with November 2023 recording the highest average attendance rate of 92%, while April 2024 saw the lowest attendance at 53%. More than half of the months (54.5%) had an average attendance rate above 80%, with attendance rates ranging from 82% to 92%. The reasons for participant absences are illustrated in Figure 4.3, with the most frequently reported cause being illness, accounting for 27.5% of missed sessions. As shown in Table 4.2, illness was the leading factor

contributing to absences during several months, including December (3 sessions), March (9 sessions), April (16 sessions), May (8 sessions), and September (1 session). Holidays were the primary reason for absences during three consecutive months—June, July, and August—resulting in a total of 20 missed sessions, or 12.5% of all absences. Additionally, venue temperature significantly affected attendance in January and February, contributing to 8 missed sessions (6.4%). In total 160 absences were recorded. The most common reason for missed sessions was illness, accounting for 44 absences (27.5%), followed by holidays having 29 absences (18.1%) and unreported reasons 19 absences (11.9%). Additional reasons, each contributing to less than 10% of absences, were as follows: injury 14 absences (8.8%), work commitments 13 absences (8.1%), session timing 11 absences (6.9%), venue temperature 8 absences (5%), family commitments 7 absences (4.4%), transport issues 5 absences (3.1%), communication problems 4 absences (2.5%), medical appointments 3 absences (1.9%), personal reasons 2 absences(1.3%), and attending a funeral 1 absence (0.6%). These findings are visually represented in Figure 4.3 for further clarity.

Table 4.2 Average monthly occupancy of SEP class, average number of participants enrolled, and average participant attendance from all

participants who attended at least one SEP session (n=29)

	Nov' 2023	Dec' 2023	Jan' 2024	Feb' 2024	Mar' 2024	1 ·	May 2024	June 2024	July 2024	Aug' 2024	September 2024
Mean occupancy of sessions % (SD)	76% (10)	67% (6)	73% (13)	71% (16)	64% (12)	53% (11)	64% (19)	49% (7)	60% (10)	34 % (5)	33% (15)
Number of participants assigned to SEP mean n (SD)	8.4 (1.4)	9.3 (6)	9(0)	8.6 (1.2)	9.6 (0.7)	10 (0)	10.9 (1.2)	7.3 (0.8)	7(0)	4 (0.5)	3.7 (1.2)
Participant attendance % (SD)	92% (10)	76% (15)	82% (16)	83% (14)	66% (11)	53% (11)	59% (16)	68% (5)	86% (14)	88% (15)	89% (19)
Number of missed sessions Including 'not reported' reasons (n)	7	8	11	13	21	31	. 38	16	s g) 5	1
Most reported reasons for a missed session (n)	Medical Appointments (n=2)	Unwell (n=3)	*Temp (n=5)	*Temp (n=3)	Unwell (n=9)	Unwell (n=16)	Unwell (n=8)	Holiday (n=10)	Holiday (n=5)	Holiday (n=5)	unwell (n=1)

*Temp is referring to the temperature of the sports hall



Figure 4.3 Reasons for missed SEP sessions in %

Table 4.3 illustrates that among the participants who completed the SEP (n=22), the majority—12 participants (55%)—attended 21 or more SEP sessions. This figure surpasses the combined attendance of participants across the lower attendance ranges, where 10 participants (45%) attended fewer than 21 sessions. Notably, no participants attended fewer than 6 sessions.

Table 4.3 Total number of SEP sessions attended of those who completed the SEP and exit

assessment (n=22)

Number of sessions attended out of a maximum of 24	Number of participants	Percentage (%)
0-5	0	0
6-10	2	9
11-15	2	9
16-20	6	27
21-24	12	55

4.6 Walking distances and pain scores recorded during the SEP

The walking distance and IC pain scores were recorded throughout the 12-week programme for participants who completed the SEP (n=22). To measure exercise progression, the mean values and SD were calculated from the first, mid-point, and final sessions of the SEP. The values were typically taken from week 1 session 1, week 6 session 11, and week 12 session 24. If the participant was absent from these sessions, the data was taken from the other session recorded that week, if this session was also missed, the data from the next attended session was used. The results presented in Table 4.4 below demonstrate that on average participants reported an increased level of IC pain from week 1 (2.98), to the midpoint (3.61), this plateaued at the final session (3.53). The participant's mean walking distance had a steady increase as the duration of the SEP progressed: 1,920m in week one; 2,107m at the midpoint and 2,146m at the final session. The MD walked during the SEP sessions comparing the first and last sessions was 226m. **Table 4.4** Average IC pain scores (0-4) and distance walked (m) from the exercise sessions ofparticipants who completed the SEP and attended the exit assessment (n= 22)

	Week 1 (session 1)	Midpoint- 6 weeks (session 11)	Week 12 (session 24)
IC Pain score (0-4), mean score over the session (SD)	2.98 (1.20)	3.61 (0.47)	3.53 (0.58)
*Total distance walked (m) over session, mean (SD)	1920 (538)	2107 (525)	2146 (576)

*total distance walked in metres rounded to nearest whole number

4.7 Health-related outcomes

Table 4.5 summarises the service outcome data for the 22 participants who completed both entry and exit assessments. Several outcome measures had missing or incomplete data. At entry, the VascuQoL-6 results for two participants were not fully saved on the electronic device, one participant was unable to provide a score on the EQ-5D-5L VAS, and two participants had ABPI measurements that could not be recorded due to incompressible vessels. Data from these participants were excluded from all analyses, with adjusted participant numbers indicated in the result tables.

Similarly, in the treadmill test, three participants were unable to walk at the minimum pace and were excluded from the analysis. Additionally, two participants were unable to increase their walking speed at one of the pace increments, continuing instead at the previous pace. As a result, their MWD/T was excluded due to incompatibility with the wider dataset, but their pain-free walking distance/time (PFWD/T) was retained, as these values were below the critical increment point in the protocol.

One participant's feedback also failed to save on the electronic device due to connectivity issues, reducing the number of evaluations completed by those who completed both entry and exit assessments (n=21).

As seen in Table 4.5 the mean values for the health status and disease-specific QoL outcomes improved slightly between entry to exit assessments, however the 95% Cl's for the change scores spanned zero, VasculQoL-6 MD of 0.6 (-0.82 to 2.55), EQ-5D-5L utility index MD of 0.07 (-0.02 to 0.17), and the EQ-5D-5L VAS 4.62 (-1.44 to 10.66).

The results of the treadmill test were contrasting between the pain-free and maximum walking measures. The entry to exit mean PFWD/T were found to have moderate increases, with a PFWD MD (95%CI) of 97m (18-175), and pain free walking time (PFWT) MD (95% CI) 119s (10 -228). However, the mean MWD and MWT both only had small differences from the entry to exit, with both MD (95% CI spanning zero), of 103m (-1.88-209) for MWD, and 92s (-12-197) for MWT. **Table 4.5** Entry and exit assessment results for participants who completed both entry and

exit assessments

	N	Service entry	Service exit	Entry to exit difference
				Mean (95% Cl)
VasculQoL-6 score	20	14.8 (3.2)	15.4 (2.9)	0.6 (-0.8 to 2.6)
*EQ-5D-5L utility index score	22	0.70 (0.20)	0.76 (0.12)	0.07 (-0.02 to 0.17)
**EQ-5D-5L VAS	21	60.86 (17.08)	64.77 (16.14)	4.62 (-1.44 to 10.66)
***Graded treadmill (distance- m/time- seconds) PFWD PFWT	20	228 (176) 267 (201)	325 (285) 369 (321)	97 (18 to 175) 119 (10 to 228)
MWD	18	498 (353)	602 (419)	103 (-2 to 209)
MWT		546 (347)	638 (400)	92 (-12 to 197)

Data are presented as mean (SD) or mean (95% CI)

*EQ-5D-5L utility index calculated using the 'crosswalk method' range between -0.594-1, higher scores indicating a better health status (see section 3.4.3)

**EuroQoL VAS (EQ-VAS) scores range from 0-100, with higher scores indicating a better health status.

*** Distance in metres and time in seconds rounded to the nearest whole number.

4.8 Evaluation feedback

Twenty-three participants completed the evaluation in total, the majority of whom had completed the SEP and exit assessment (n=21), the other two participants attended at least one SEP session. The remaining participants who had participated in at least one SEP session were unable to be contacted retrospectively. One participant who completed the SEP and exit assessment did complete an evaluation; however, the software failed to save their responses. Most participants (n=22, 95.7%) reported that their GP had not contacted them since enrolling in the SEP. Twelve participants (52.2%) self-reported that their IC symptoms had improved since the start of the programme, nine (39.1%) reported their symptoms had not changed, and two (8.7%) reported their symptoms to have worsened.

Table 4.6 shows participant experience ratings for each stage of the service, including recruitment, assessment, exercise sessions, home exercise advice, and their overall experience of the service using a Likert scale with the adjectives good, fair, poor, or very poor. The assessment stage was found to have the best rating with 14 (60.9%) participants rating their experience as 'excellent.' The majority of the stages, recruitment; SEP sessions; and overall ratings had the highest proportion of rating of 'good,' with only the home exercise advice scoring the highest rating in the 'fair' category with 10 (43.5%). Only one participant rated 'very poor', which was for the home exercise advice.' Overall, most participants thought that the SEP experience was either 'good' (n=13, 56.5%), or 'excellent' (n=9,39.1%). Nearly all the participants (n=22, 95.7%) who completed the evaluation said that they would recommend the service to others in a similar situation, with only one participant (4.3%) stating that they would not.

Question	Excellent	Good	Fair	Poor	Very Poor
How would you rate your experience with					
the recruitment	9	12	2	0	0
process?					
the assessment	14	8	1	0	0
sessions?					
the exercise sessions?	9	12	1	1	0
the home exercise	4	6	10	2	1
advice?					
the programme overall?	9	13	0	1	0

Table 4.6 Participant experience rating of the SEP stages (n=23)

In summary the feedback on the recruitment stage was largely positive, with participants frequently highlighting its informative and timely nature. One participant described the recruitment process as an opportunity to gain "control" over their condition. However, another participant expressed a contrasting view, feeling that it was another instance of being "told" what to do.

The assessment stage revealed themes similar to those of the recruitment stage, with "informative" being the most frequently mentioned. One participant noted, "everything [was] explained, giving each other better insight and understanding of my individual symptoms." Another prominent theme was participants' appreciation for the comparison of their walking abilities before and after the SEP. Comments included: "good to be able to see the difference before and after the SEP", "better than I was the first time", and "gave [an] opportunity to compare". Only one negative response was reported, stating, "no expectations at first and no feedback from the second". Feedback on the SEP sessions highlighted several positive themes, including the benefits of group sessions, an enjoyable experience, and a strong connection with the instructor. One participant remarked, "It was fun, met some good people", while others noted, "enjoyed the group aspect, talking to people with the same condition", "the instructor was the right person for the job—aware, motivating, and reassuring", and "attending as a group helped encourage walking further". However, negative feedback centered on the venue's temperature, with comments such as "the venue was not appropriate, too cold", and "temperature cold in the morning". Additionally, one participant mentioned difficulties with the timing of a session, stating, "overall good, but the early session was difficult to get too due to traffic".

Unlike the previous stages, feedback on the home exercise advice was primarily negative and focused on its availability. Participants expressed a desire for more comprehensive guidance, with comments such as "not expected home exercise advice, but would have been useful", "maybe advice on how everyday activities like gardening can be used as exercise", and "some limited advice given, could have been more". However, some participants acknowledged receiving advice in either verbal or written form, as reflected in comments like "some information given; it's up to the individual to act on it", "I have done the warm-up exercises at home", and "advised to continue at home".

Although the question about overall experience of the SEP had the lowest number of participant responses (n=16), the feedback generally suggested that the SEP fostered a strong sense of connection between participants and the instructor. Feedback also emphasised a supportive and inclusive atmosphere, with participants noting that they were "made to feel part of the programme, not just a number", and appreciated the "great group community and support", and "relaxed feel". One participant stated, "very good, everyone

was nice, helped being in a group and meeting other people. A reason to get out". Participants also reported other perceived benefits, including feeling "fitter", "healthier", and experiencing weight loss.

When asked if they would recommend the service to others with IC symptoms, participants emphasised the programme's diverse benefits. Illustrative comments included, "because it helped with my symptoms and made me fitter and healthier", and "it can help with the pains in your legs and general health".

Twenty-two participants provided feedback on potential improvements to the service. The primary theme centered on the facility and the scheduling or location of sessions. Suggestions included having a "warmer facility" and considering "other health conditions" when setting session times, as well as noting that "timing of the sessions [was] too early due to other health needs". One participant recommended offering "alternative locations" to reduce travel time and costs, particularly for those coming from the east coast. Other feedback focused on programme structure, with suggestions such as using a "visual timer for each session" and marking a "halfway point" during exercises, and a recommendation to "tailor the program more to individual assessments".

Chapter 5 Discussion

5.1 Do the results answer the aims and objectives?

The SEP was established and delivered in accordance with the recommendations outlined in the NICE (2012) guidelines. There were initial delays in the approvals process, mainly with obtaining sign-off of the Service Level Agreement from the York Trust, but this turned out to be a minor hinderance to the establishment of the service. Overall, the implementation of the SEP was successful.

The feasibility study was able to measure and evaluate objective measures including MWD/T, PFWD/T, as well as more subjective measures such as QoL. The findings for these objectives were not reflective of the total pool of participants due to study limitations resulting in missing data, which reduced the analytical sample size in some of the outcome measures. However, the delivery of the SEP and data collection were feasible; these aspects were mainly delivered as planned, resulting in little data being missing. The qualitative feedback provided an opportunity to summarise participants' experiences, collating both positive and negative feedback to discuss, and importantly gave them an opportunity to say if they thought their symptoms had improved.

The study identified several barriers to service implementation and delivery across all stages including recruitment, assessment, delivery, and evaluation. Grol and Grimshaw (2003) suggest that the challenges to implementing healthcare interventions can be observed across five levels: the patient, the healthcare provider, the healthcare team, the organisation, and the broader environment. An early barrier identified during the recruitment process was the number of patients not offered the SEP as a treatment option at recruitment by the diagnosing consultant (40%). This is relevant as the study found that

most patients who were offered the SEP accepted (61.5%), which highlighted the missed number of potential patients that may have accepted the SEP if they were offered it. Although the change to practice is not a complex one, it does require significant collaboration and a new organisational structure initially (Murgitroyd *et al.*, 2019). Rogers (2002) suggested that adherence to change tends to be higher when addressing acute conditions, likely because of the immediate feedback resulting from such changes, in contrast, to implementing chronic care guidelines, partly due to the "delayed rewards from adoption"(P.989). Murgitroyd *et al.* (2019) recognised that to successfully implement a chronic care intervention, it is essential to identify and address potential obstacles to commitment.

A barrier within the assessment stage resulting in a reduction of usable data was the treadmill assessment test. Several participants reported the initial treadmill speed to be too fast, so reasonable adjustments were made for these patients, which excluded their treadmill data from being included in the main data analyses. However, this did provide an individual entry/exit comparison for the individual participant providing positive reinforcement which may be important for patient compliance (Murgitroyd *et al.*, 2019).

McDermott *et al.* (2014) argued that the six-minute walk test offers superior outcome measures compared to treadmill testing, primarily due to its stronger correlation with daily walking activities (Greig *et al.*, 1993; Swerts *et al.*, 1990; Peeters *et al.*, 1996), the test related phenomenon associated with treadmill walking (Gardner *et al.*, 1991), and the availability of a defined minimal clinically important difference (Perera *et al.*, 2006). Moreover, changes in six-minute walk performance have been shown to predict mortality and mobility loss in patients with PAD, a predictive validity not established for treadmill testing (McDermott *et al.*, 2007; McDermott *et al.*, 2008). Treadmill walking was used in this

feasibility study due to space constraints for the assessments and ultimately the outcome measures, however, the delivery of the exercise was structured similarly to the six-minute walk test, thereby retaining many of its functional and clinical advantages mentioned. The limitations of using a treadmill have been acknowledged but felt to be offset by the use of the interval-based walking as the main dose of therapy within this study.

Staff cover was found to be a barrier in delivering the SEP on several occasions due to covering annual leave with another staff member with the relevant level of training. Also, problems with the facility contributed to several sessions being cancelled, including condensation from the roof and the sports hall being too cold over the winter months. On several occasions double booking of the sports hall resulted in the hall either being shared, the session being cancelled or moved to tennis courts located onsite.

The highest withdrawal rate was recorded in the recruitment stage of the study of those who accepted the offer of the SEP. Contributing barriers were health, transport, availability and postponement that led to these withdrawals, with the highest number been associated with health reasons. This correlates with the highest mean scores of the participants characteristics demonstrating that the majority were over the age of 65 years, had multiple comorbidities including hypertension and MIs, and were overweight. The number of withdrawals from the SEP almost halved at the intervention delivery stage, and further reduced in the final stages.

5.2 How do the findings support/relate to the evidence?

The findings of this study support those studies discussed in the literature review which found that walking as an exercise modality improved both MWD and PFWD in people with IC symptoms (Hageman *et al.*, 2018; Treat-Jacobson *et al.*, 2009; Lane *et al.*, 2017; and

Jensen et al., 2020). The improvements found in both PFWD/T and MWD/T means from entry to exit change in this feasibility study were consistent with that of the Cochrane review undertaken by Lane et al.' (2017). Also, according to Gardner et al. (2018) the entry to exit changes in PFWD in this feasibility study can be categorised as 'moderate' in magnitude. The presence of a defined MID for PFWD and MWD in walking tests enhances the clinical interpretability of these results. In the context of this service evaluation, demonstrating changes that meet or exceed the MID provides strong evidence that the intervention delivered not only statistically significant but also clinically meaningful benefits. This underscores the value of the SEP in improving functional mobility and quality of life in patients with IC, thereby justifying its continued implementation and potential scale-up within clinical practice. The findings of this feasibility study will be used within local cost analyses to support the future of the SEP as a treatment option within our area. Despite the large body of evidence that SEPs improve IC symptoms, studies exploring the implementation and outcomes of routine exercise services for this population are rare, with only three UK-based evaluations identified (Leslie et al., 2022; Matthews et al., 2016; Murgitroyd et al., 2024). Leslie et al.'s (2022) retrospective analysis of data from a Wolverhampton service did not report about the implementations factors of feasibility, fidelity or acceptability, but their walking distance results did support the use of SEP rather than basic advice in improving IC symptoms. Matthews et al.'s (2016) evaluation of an initiative based in Salford found that most participants who completed the exercise programme reported improved IC symptoms (72%), however this study did not report the characteristics of their participants, or anything about the fidelity or acceptability of the SEP. Lastly, Murgitroyd et al. (2024) study based in Edinburgh reported on the experiences and outcomes of implementing a SEP. The initiative involved the local council and the vascular

service, offering multiple venues and times for the classes including evenings to accommodate patients who worked. Murgitroyd *et al.* (2024) found that on average patients improved their distance walked over 6 minutes by 21%, the programme was a 12week programme, encouraging the patients to attend three sessions per week.

The use of QoL questionnaires at the entry and exit assessments provided the opportunity to provide a holistic approach toward patients with IC symptoms, as Mazzoli (2024) recommended in the literature review. The results for the health status and disease-specific QoL outcomes in this feasibility study were not found to be as clinically meaningful between entry to exit such as the findings reported by Hageman *et al.* (2022) as the 95% CIs spanned zero. The effect difference could be because of small participant numbers in this feasibility compared to the 124 participants in Hageman *et al.'s.* (2002) study. Despite this there were slight improvements in both the VasculQoL-6 and EQ-5D-5L utility index score including the EQ-5D-5L VAS. In contrast to Peräkylä *et al.* (2008), the feasibility study observed that participants appeared "unsure" about how to interpret the EQ-5D-5L VAS on several occasions. While this was not formally recorded or included in the results, this uncertainty could have influenced the findings of the study.

The findings of this feasibility study support some of the interventional design challenges discussed in the literature review. A key similarity to Popplewell and Bradley's (2014) quotation cited in Harwood *et al.*' (2017) discussion, was that there was an "unwillingness at senior staff level to change practice" (p209), to move away from invasive intervention. However, in contrast to Harwood *et al.*'s (2022) findings that the majority (50%) of SEPs only delivered one session per week, this study delivered the recommended two sessions per week. Harwood *et al.* (2017) survey also reported that there was poor compliance from participants without further explanation of the reasons behind those

findings. This study found compliance of participants to be good overall, with most of participants (55%) who attended entry and exit assessment attending between 21-24 sessions of the maximum 24. Participants in this study were also found to readily offer their reasons for missed sessions, which were mainly due to being unwell (the main reason across five months of the study), similarly to that of the highest reason for withdrawal from the SEP. In relation to practice there needs to be an awareness of the physical demands of participating in a SEP, and that preexisting health conditions may impact an individual's ability to successfully complete the programme. In light of these findings, there may be reasonable adjustments that can be made in these circumstances, or that patients may need other health issues stabilising prior to enrolling onto a SEP.

5.3 Implications for practice and research

The main implication for practice from these findings is the culture around the change in practice, and the need for a 'team approach' in the establishment of a new service. A strength of this study was the ability to provide good communication and enable the participant to feel 'informed', this may have had a positive effect in patient compliance and rapport between the service provider and the participant. A limitation in establishing the SEP in this study was again the lack of 'teamwork' at the hospital, with colleagues refusing to take phone messages from participants; this, at times, led to a delay in communication between the service and participant. Favorably for implementation into clinical practice both quantitative and qualitive findings from this study suggested that the modality of walking is feasible to continue, with improved self-reported outcomes and feedback that the simplicity of walking was welcomed. However, a limitation of the treadmill test, as alluded to by Treat-Jacobson *et al.* (2009), was that many older participants had no prior

experience walking on a treadmill and struggled to adjust, especially given the short "trial" period before completing the test. The limitations of the treadmill overall may need some revision moving forward in continued assessments.

Participants' self-reported outcomes in this study also support the findings of the objective measures in the relevant studies critiqued in the literature review, that most people improved their walking. This 'real life' measure was feedback in the exit assessment to the VSNP by participants referring to comparisons in their everyday living, such as: now being able to walk the entire length of the supermarket, whereas before they could only manage one isle; able to walk the around the block, before they had the stop at the corner of the street. This emphasises the importance of ensuring that the patient can relate to 'real life' situations as the treadmill test does not simulate 'real' life. The qualitative participant feedback was invaluable in terms of discussing barriers of the SEP. However, this also had its limitations as the participants fed back to the VSNP who had been closely involved in the SEP, this may have influenced some of the answers given. Despite these limitations of the method of collecting the feedback, Harwood et al. (2018) recognised in their study that gaining insight into barriers that affect how exercise is delivered for patients with IC will help deliver a patient-centred approach and acknowledges that no matter how strong the evidence is for SEPs, if the limitations prevent patients from participating, then the benefits will not be reaped. Furthermore, the qualitative feedback in this study has drawn attention to not only the barriers, but the long-term implications of the SEP, as many participants reported 'feeling their overall health had improved', the SEP helped with "social anxieties" and "overall wellbeing", also participants voiced improved "general fitness", the benefits of a SEP far exceeds of just improving walking, it has a positive effect across social, physical and

mental health. Patients will engage in exercise treatment and feel empowered when informed discussions are given to them regarding the management of their health.

5.4 Limitations

There were several main limitations in the study evaluation. The generalisability of the University-Hospital collaboration may pose a limitation to other vascular hubs to replicate this model. The model worked well within this service evaluation due to the proximity of both parties and the willingness to collaborate. There is potential as demonstrated in Matthews *et al.* (2016) evaluation for other vascular hubs to incorporate SEP into preexisting rehabilitation exercise programmes, or into schemes managed by local leisure centres (Caldow *et al.*, 2019).

The treadmill assessment was limited in that it did not reflect everyday walking and several participants were unable to manage the pace from the start of the protocol resulting in their results been excluded from the study. McDermott *et al.* (2014) acknowledge the need for good balance and a consistent rhythmic gait at a fixed pace is required on a treadmill, since slowing would end the test. However, as an objective measure the treadmill test provided a direct comparison for entry to exit walking, and most participants managed the protocol. Availability of space also weighted the use of the treadmill within the assessments, although the use of treadmills within the delivery of the sessions would pose limitations with cost and limit the number of participants (Harwood *et al.*, 2022). The exercise prescription delivered in the classes did allow individualisation as the participants were encouraged to walk at their own pace, stopping as required during the walking cycles. The only feedback that challenged the individualisation was one participant felt he could

have managed to continuously walk without the 2-minute rests between walking cycles, this could be considered in future sessions.

Although the service evaluation provided some home-based exercise advice, it was delayed due to obtained approval to use the PILs through the hospital vetting process so not all participants received the written PILs. Furthermore, this service evaluation did not measure the effects of the home exercise information on interventional outcomes.

Finally, this service evaluation is limited in that long term outcomes were not assessed as the participants were not followed up at any later interval after attending the exit assessment.

5.5 Recommendations

The main recommendation drawn from the results of this service evaluation is that funding should be sought to safeguard the future of the SEP. The embedding of a SEP would provide an integral and holistic service as part of the routine care for patients diagnosed with IC, in line with NICE (2012) guidance. There needs to be support and education for clinicians in the adoption of a change in practice, and this should involve the whole team. There needs to be a robust, easy to use referral process into the SEP, ensuring that eligible patients are triaged appropriately. The SEP needs to have the ability to scale-up, offering multiple localities, to reduce the number of patients unable to access the service due to transport and travel, with venues that are fit for purpose. Some adjustments to the entry and exit assessments are needed to address the limitations found mainly around the use of a treadmill. The SEP delivery needs to have a team to provide the service to avoid any gaps in delivery. For those patients who are unable to attend a SEP, a home exercise plan should be available with the support of a clinician. Research and clinical practice need to work more cohesively together

to mitigate the reluctance to use exercise in healthcare. Furthermore, primary and secondary care, and local authorities working in collaboration would be beneficial. There remains scope for repeat service evaluations, with the potential involvement of longer-term follow-up and a health economic component to aid robustness.

5.6 Conclusion

The key finding of this service evaluation is that it was feasible to implement a NICE compliant SEP for people with IC within the usual care pathway of a vascular unit in England. The findings of the interventional outcomes are beneficial and in line with the body of evidence by NICE (2012). There remain multiple barriers to accessing, establishing and maintaining a SEP. However, this study suggests that healthcare professionals are one of the main barriers to establishing a service that is financially viable for the NHS. Patients, when given support and are well informed are willing, engaging and feel empowered from exercise programmes. This study has shown that the benefits of a SEP are multidimensional, including patients reporting improved social, physical and mental wellbeing.

The Service Level Agreement has been extended for an additional 12 months until September 2026, giving the opportunity for the identified barriers to be refined, and to hopefully sustain and expand the service.

References

Abaraogu, U.O., Abaraogu, O.D., Dall, P.M., Tew, G., Stuart, W., Brittenden, J. and Seenan, C.A., (2020). Exercise therapy in routine management of peripheral arterial disease and intermittent claudication: a scoping review. *Therapeutic Advances in Cardiovascular Disease*, *14*, p.1753944720924270.

Aboyans, V., Ricco, JB., Bartelink, MEL., Bjorck, M., Brodmann, M., Cohnert, T., Collet, JP., Czerny, M., Carlo, MD., Debus, S. (2018). 'ESC Guidelines on the Diagnosis and Treatment of Peripheral Arterial Diseases in collaboration with the European Society for Vascular Surgery (ESVS)'. *European Heart Journal*; 39:763–816. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehx095</u>

Allison, M.A., Criqui, M.H., McClelland, R.L., Scott, J.M., McDermott, M.M., Liu, K., Folsom, A.R., Bertoni, A.G., Sharrett, A.R., Homma, S. and Kori, S., (2006). The effect of novel cardiovascular risk factors on the ethnic-specific odds for peripheral arterial disease in the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis (MESA). *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, *48*(6), pp.1190-1197.

Alzamora, M.T., Forés, R., Baena-Díez, J.M., Pera, G., Toran, P., Sorribes, M., Vicheto, M., Reina, M.D., Sancho, A., Albaladejo, C. and Llussà, J. (2010). The peripheral arterial disease study (PERART/ARTPER): prevalence and risk factors in the general population. *BMC public health*, *10*, pp.1-11. Available at: http://dx.doi.org.yorksj.idm.oclc.org/10.1186/1471-2458-10-38 (Accessed: February 2024).

Association of Chartered Physiotherapists in Cardiac Rehabilitation. (2023) *Standards for Physical Activity and Exercise in the Cardiovascular Population*. 4th Edition. Available at: <u>https://www.acpicr.com/Data/Publication_Downloads/ACPICRStandards2023.pdf</u> (Accessed: 23rd May 2024).

American College of Sports Medicine. (2014) *ACSM's resource manual for guidelines for exercise testing and prescription. 7*th edition. Philadelphia, Pennsylvania: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins

Antithrombotic Trialists' Collaboration. (2002) 'Collaborative meta-analysis of randomised trials of antiplatelet therapy for prevention of death, myocardial infarction, and stroke in high-risk patients'. *British Medical Journal*; 324(7329), pp. 71-86.

Au, T.B., Golledge, J., Walker, P.J., Haigh, K. and Nelson, M., (2013). 'Peripheral arterial disease: diagnosis and management in general practice'. *Australian Family Physician*, 42(6), pp.397-400.

Bartelink, M-L., Stoffers, HEJH., Biesheuvel, CJ., Hoes, A.W. (2004). 'Walking exercise in patients with intermittent claudication. Experience in routine clinical practice'. *British Journal of General Practice*; 54: 196–200.

Bartelink, M.L.E., Wullink, M., Stoffers, H.E. and Hoes, A.W., (2005). Walking exercise in patients with intermittent claudication not well implemented in Dutch primary care. *The European Journal of General Practice*, *11*(1), pp.27-28.

Bendermacher, B.L., Willigendael, E.M., Nicolaï, S.P., Kruidenier, L.M., Welten, R.J., Hendriks, E., Prins, M.H., Teijink, J.A.W. and de Bie, R.A. (2007) 'Supervised exercise therapy for intermittent claudication in a community-based setting is as effective as clinic-based', *Journal of Vascular Surgery*, 45(6), pp. 1192-1196. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvs.2007.01.059</u>.

Bentzon, J., Otsuka, F., Virmani, R. and Falk, E. (2014) 'Mechanisms of plaque formation and rupture', *Circulation Research*, 114(12), pp. 1852-1866. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.114.302721</u>.

BioRender. (2022) BioRender, app.biorender.com. Available at: <u>https://app.biorender.com/</u> (Accessed 17/09/2024).

Bonaca, M.P., Bauersachs, R.M., Anand, S.S., Debus, E.S., Nehler, M.R., Patel, M.R., Fanelli, F., Capell, W.H., Diao, L., Jaeger, N. and Hess, C.N., (2020). Rivaroxaban in peripheral artery disease after revascularization. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *382*(21), pp.1994-2004.

Bowlin, S.J., Medalie, J.H., Flocke, S.A., Zyzanski, S.J. and Goldbourt, U., (1994). Epidemiology of intermittent claudication in middle-aged men. *American journal of epidemiology*, *140*(5), pp.418-430.

Brass, E.P., Anthony, R., Cobb, F.R., Koda, I., Jiao, J. and Hiatt, W.R., (2006). 'The novel phosphodiesterase inhibitor NM-702 improves claudication-limited exercise performance in patients with peripheral arterial disease'. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, *48*(12), pp.2539-2545.

Broadbent, E., Chetter, I.C., Harwood, A.E., Totty, J.P. and Smith, G.E. (2017) 'Quality of life in patients with intermittent claudication', *Gefässchirurgie*, 22(3), pp. 159-164. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00772-017-0269-4</u>.

Byrom., B, Breedon., P, Tulkki-Wilke R, Platko JV. (2020) Meaningful change: Defining the interpretability of changes in endpoints derived from interactive and mHealth technologies in healthcare and clinical research. J Rehabil Assist Technol Eng. 7:2055668319892778. doi: 10.1177/2055668319892778. PMID: 32206336; PMCID: PMC7079306

Caldow, E., Findlow, A., Granat, M. and Schoultz, M. (2019). 'Incorporating an exercise rehabilitation programme for people with intermittent claudication into an established cardiac rehabilitation service: a protocol for a pilot study'. *Contemporary Clinical Trials Communications*, *15*, p.100389.

CAPRIE Steering Committee. (1996). 'A randomised, blinded, trial of clopidogrel versus aspirin in patients at risk of ischaemic events (CAPRIE)'. *The Lancet*, *348*(9038), pp.1329-1339.

Circulation Foundation. (2023) 'Intermittent Claudication / circulation problems in the leg'. Available at: <u>https://www.circulationfoundation.org.uk/help-advice/peripheral-arterial-disease/intermittent-claudication</u> (Accessed 6/10/2023).

Crawford, F., Welch, K., Andras, A. and Chappell, F.M. (2016). 'Ankle brachial index for the diagnosis of lower limb peripheral arterial disease'. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, (9).

Creager, M.A., Olin, J.W., Belch, J.J., Moneta, G.L., Henry, T.D., Rajagopalan, S., Annex, B.H. and Hiatt, W.R. (2011). 'Effect of hypoxia-inducible factor-1 α gene therapy on walking performance in patients with intermittent claudication'. *Circulation*, *124*(16), pp.1765-1773.

Critical Appraisal Skills Programme (2023). CASP. Available at: <u>https://casp-uk.net</u> (Accessed: June 2024).

Creasy, T.S., McMillan, P.J., Fletcher, E.W.L., Collin, J. and Morris, P.J. (1990). 'Is percutaneous transluminal angioplasty better than exercise for claudication? Preliminary results from a prospective randomised trial'. *European Journal of Vascular Surgery*, 4(2), pp.135-140.

Criqui, M.H., and Aboyans, V. (2015) 'Epidemiology of peripheral artery disease', *Circulation Research*, 116(9), pp. 1509-1526.

Criqui, M.H., Vargas, V., Denenberg, J.O., Ho, E., Allison, M., Langer, R.D., Gamst, A., Bundens, W.P. and Fronek, A., (2005). 'Ethnicity and peripheral arterial disease: the San Diego Population Study'. *Circulation*, *112*(17), pp.2703-2707.

Cronin, O., Morris, D.R., Walker, P.J. and Golledge, J. (2013). 'The association of obesity with cardiovascular events in patients with peripheral artery disease'. *Atherosclerosis*, *228*(2), pp.316-323.

Curb, J.D., Masaki, K., Rodriguez, B.L., Abbott, R.D., Burchfiel, C.M., Chen, R., Petrovitch, H., Sharp, D. and Yano, K., (1996). Peripheral artery disease and cardiovascular risk factors in the elderly: the Honolulu Heart Program. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology*, *16*(12), pp.1495-1500.Department of Health and Social Care. (2019) 'UK chief *medical officer's Physical Activity Guidelines'*. London. UK. Available at: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_ data/file/832868/uk-chief-medical-officers-physical-activity-guidelines.pdf (Accessed 21/09/2023).

Department of Health and Social Care (2022). *Guidance. Adult obesity: applying All Our Health-Gov.uk.* Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/adult-obesityapplying-all-our-health/adult-obesity-applying-all-our-health (Accessed 14/03/2024)

de Vries, M., Ouwendijk, R., Kessels, A.G., de Haan, M.W., Flobbe, K., Hunink, M.G., van Engelshoven, J.M. and Nelemans, P.J., (2005). Comparison of generic and disease-specific

questionnaires for the assessment of quality of life in patients with peripheral arterial disease. *Journal of Vascular Surgery*, *41*(2), pp.261-268.

EuroQol Research Foundation (2019) *EQ-5D-5L User Guide*. Available at: <u>https://euroqol.org/publications/user-guides</u> (Accessed 30/07/2024)

Fitridge, R. (2020) 'Pathophysiology of Atherosclerosis' *Mechanisms of Vascular Disease*. Switzerland: Springer International Publishing AG, pp. 19-45.

Fletcher, G.F., Balady, G.J., Amsterdam, E.A., Chaitman, B., Eckel, R., Fleg, J., Froelicher, V.F., Leon, A.S., Piña, I.L., Rodney, R. and Simons-Morton, D.A. (2001). Exercise standards for testing and training: a statement for healthcare professionals from the American Heart Association. *Circulation*, *104*(14), pp.1694-1740

Fowkes, F.G.R., Aboyans, V., Fowkes, F.J.I., McDermott, M.M., Sampson, U.K.A. and Criqui, M.H. (2017) 'Peripheral artery disease: Epidemiology and global perspectives'. *Nature Reviews Cardiology*, 14(3), pp. 156-170. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrcardio.2016.179</u>

Fowkes, F.G.R., Housley, E., Cawood, E.H.H., Macintyre, C.C.A., Ruckley, C.V. and Prescott, R.J. (1991). 'Edinburgh Artery Study: prevalence of asymptomatic and symptomatic peripheral arterial disease in the general population'. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, *20*(2), pp.384-392.

Fowkes, F.G.R., Housley, E., Riemersma, R.A., Macintyre, C.C., Cawood, E.H., Prescott, R.J. and Ruckley, C.V., (1992). Smoking, lipids, glucose intolerance, and blood pressure as risk factors for peripheral atherosclerosis compared with ischemic heart disease in the Edinburgh Artery Study. *American journal of epidemiology*, *135*(4), pp.331-340

Gardner, A.W., Katzel, L.I., Sorkin, J.D., Bradham, D.D., Hochberg, M.C., Flinn, W.R., Goldberg, A.P. (2001) 'Exercise rehabilitation improves functional outcomes and peripheral circulation in patients with intermittent claudication: a randomized controlled trial'. *Journal of the American Geriatric Society.* 49:755–762

Gardner, A.W., Montgomery, P.S. and Wang, M. (2018). 'Minimal clinically important differences in treadmill, 6-minute walk, and patient-based outcomes following supervised and home-based exercise in peripheral artery disease'. *Vascular Medicine*, *23*(4), pp.349-357.

Gardner, A.W., Skinner, J.S., Cantwell, B.W. and Smith, L.K., (1991). Progressive vs singlestage treadmill tests for evaluation of claudication. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise*, *23*(4), pp.402-408.

Gardner, A.W., Skinner, J.S. and Smith, L.K., (1991). Effects of handrail support on claudication and hemodynamic responses to single-stage and progressive treadmill protocols in peripheral vascular occlusive disease. *The American journal of cardiology*, *68*(1), pp.99-105.

Garg, P.K., Liu, K., Tian, L., Guralnik, J.M., Ferrucci, L., Criqui, M.H., Tan, J. and McDermott, M.M. (2009). 'Physical activity during daily life and functional decline in peripheral arterial disease'. *Circulation*, *119*(2), pp.251-260.

GB Postcode Deprivation Finder (2021) Available at: <u>https://alasdairrae.github.io/postcodez/</u> (Accessed June 2024)

Golledge, J. (2022). 'Update on the pathophysiology and medical treatment of peripheral artery disease'. *Nature Reviews Cardiology*, *19*(7), pp.456-474.

Greig, C., Butler, F., Skelton, D., Mahmud, S. and Young, A. (1993). 'Treadmill walking in old age may not reproduce the real-life situation'. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, *41*(1), pp.15-18.

Grol, R. and Grimshaw, J. (2003). 'From best evidence to best practice: effective implementation of change in patients' care'. *The lancet*, *362*(9391), pp.1225-1230.

Hageman, D., Fokkenrood, H.J.P., Gommans, L.N.M., van den Houten, M.M.L. and Teijink, J.A.W. (2018) 'Supervised exercise therapy versus home-based exercise therapy versus walking advice for intermittent claudication', *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, 2018(4), pp. CD005263. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD005263.pub4</u>.

Hamburg, N.M. and Creager, M.A. (2017). 'Pathophysiology of intermittent claudication in peripheral artery disease'. *Circulation Journal*, *81*(3), pp.281-289.

Hardman, R.L., Jazaeri, O., Yi, J., Smith, M. and Gupta, R. (2014). 'Overview of classification systems in peripheral artery disease'. *Seminars in Interventional Radiology* 31(4), pp. 378-388.

Hartmann - Boyce, J., Chepkin, S.C., Ye, W., Bullen, C., Lancaster, T. and Hartmann - Boyce, J. (2018). 'Nicotine replacement therapy versus control for smoking cessation', *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, 2019(1), pp. CD000146. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD000146.pub5</u>.

Harwood, A.E., Hitchman, L.H., Ingle, L., Doherty, P. and Chetter, I.C. (2018) 'Preferred exercise modalities in patients with intermittent claudication', *Journal of Vascular Nursing*, 36(2), pp. 81-84. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvn.2017.12.002</u>.

Harwood, A.E., Pymer, S., Ingle, L., Doherty, P., Chetter, I.C., Parmenter, B., Askew, C.D. and Tew, G.A. (2020). Exercise training for intermittent claudication: a narrative review and summary of guidelines for practitioners. *BMJ Open Sport & Exercise Medicine*, *6*(1), p.e000897.

Harwood, A.E., Smith, G.E., Broadbent, E., Cayton, T., Carradice, D. and Chetter, I.C. (2017). 'Access to supervised exercise services for peripheral vascular disease patients'. *The Bulletin of the Royal College of Surgeons of England*, *99*(6), pp.207-211. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1308/rcsbull.2017.207 Harwood, A.E., Pymer, S., Ibeggazene, S., Ingle, L., Caldow, E. and Birkett, S.T., (2022). Provision of exercise services in patients with peripheral artery disease in the United Kingdom. *Vascular*, *30*(5), pp.874-881.

Heffron, S.P., Dwivedi, A., Rockman, C.B., Xia, Y., Guo, Y., Zhong, J. and Berger, J.S. (2020). 'Body mass index and peripheral artery disease'. *Atherosclerosis*, *292*, pp.31-36.

Herdman, M., Gudex, C., Lloyd, A., Janssen, M., Kind, P., Parkin, D., Bonsel, G. and Badia, X. (2011) 'Development and preliminary testing of the new five-level version of EQ-5D (EQ-5D-5L)', *Quality of Life Research*, 20(10), pp. 1727-1736. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11136-011-9903-x</u>.

Hiatt, W.R., Hirsch, A.T., Creager, M.A., Rajagopalan, S., Mohler, E.R., Ballantyne, C.M., Regensteiner, J.G., Treat-Jacobson, D. and Dale, R.A. (2010). 'Effect of niacin ER/lovastatin on claudication symptoms in patients with peripheral artery disease'. *Vascular Medicine*, *15*(3), pp.171-179.

Hirsch, A.T., Criqui, M.H., Treat-Jacobson, D., Regensteiner, J.G., Creager, M.A., Olin, J.W., Krook, S.H., Hunninghake, D.B., Comerota, A.J., Walsh, M.E., McDermott, M.M. and Hiatt, W.R. (2001) 'Peripheral arterial disease detection, awareness, and treatment in primary care', *JAMA: The Journal of the American Medical Association*, 286(11), pp. 1317-1324. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.286.11.1317</u>.

Ingolfsson, I.Ö., Sigurdsson, G., Sigvaldason, H., Thorgeirsson, G. and Sigfusson, N., (1994). A marked decline in the prevalence and incidence of intermittent claudication in Icelandic men 1968–1986: a strong relationship to smoking and serum cholesterol—the Reykjavik Study. *Journal of clinical epidemiology*, *47*(11), pp.1237-1243.

Jansen, S.C., Abaraogu, U.O., Lauret, G.J., Fakhry, F., Fokkenrood, H.J. and Teijink, J.A. (2020). 'Modes of exercise training for intermittent claudication'. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, (8). Available at: https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD009638.pub3

Joosten, M.M., Pai, J.K., Bertoia, M.L., Rimm, E.B., Spiegelman, D., Mittleman, M.A. and Mukamal, K.J., (2012). Associations between conventional cardiovascular risk factors and risk of peripheral artery disease in men. *Jama*, *308*(16), pp.1660-1667.

Kannel, W.B., SKINNER JR, J.J., SCHWARTZ, M.J. and SHURTLEFF, D. (1970). 'Intermittent claudication: incidence in the Framingham Study'. *Circulation*, *41*(5), pp.875-883.

Katsanos, K., Spiliopoulos, S., Saha, P., Diamantopoulos, A., Karunanithy, N., Krokidis, M., Modarai, B. and Karnabatidis, D. (2015). 'Comparative efficacy and safety of different antiplatelet agents for prevention of major cardiovascular events and leg amputations in patients with peripheral arterial disease: a systematic review and network metaanalysis'. *PloS one*, *10*(8), p.e0135692. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0135692
Kim, M.S., Hwang, J., Yon, D.K., Lee, S.W., Jung, S.Y., Park, S., Johnson, C.O., Stark, B.A., Razo, C., Abbasian, M. and Abbastabar, H. (2023). 'Global burden of peripheral artery disease and its risk factors, 1990–2019: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. *The Lancet Global Health*, *11*(10), pp.e1553-e1565.

Kropielnicka, K., Dziubek, W., Bulińska, K., Stefańska, M., Wojcieszczyk-Latos, J., Jasiński, R., Pilch, U., Dąbrowska, G., Skórkowska-Telichowska, K., Kałka, D. and Janus, A. (2018). 'Influence of the physical training on muscle function and walking distance in symptomatic peripheral arterial disease in elderly'. *BioMed Research International*. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/1937527

Kruidenier, L.M., Nicolaï, S.P., Hendriks, E.J., Bollen, E.C., Prins, M.H. and Teijink, J.A., (2009). Supervised exercise therapy for intermittent claudication in daily practice. *Journal of vascular surgery*, *49*(2), pp.363-370.

Lane, R., Harwood A., Watson, L and Leng., G.C. (2017) 'Exercise for intermittent claudication'. *Cochrane Database of systematic reviews* (12). Available at: https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD000990.pub4

Larsen, A.S.F., Reiersen, A.T., Jacobsen, M.B., Kløw, N., Nordanstig, J., Morgan, M. and Wesche, J. (2017) 'Validation of the vascular quality of life questionnaire – 6 for clinical use in patients with lower limb peripheral arterial disease', *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes*, 15(1), pp. 184. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12955-017-0760-3</u>.

Larsen, A. and Lassen, N.A., (1966). 'Effect of daily muscular exercise in patients with intermittent claudication'. *The Lancet*, *288*(7473), pp.1093-1095. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(66)92191-X</u>

Lauret, G.J., Van Dalen, H.C., Hendriks, H.J., van Sterkenburg, S.M., Koelemay, M.J., Zeebregts, C.J., Peters, R.J. and Teijink, J.A., (2012). When is supervised exercise therapy considered useful in peripheral arterial occlusive disease? A nationwide survey among vascular surgeons. *European Journal of Vascular and Endovascular Surgery*, *43*(3), pp.308-312.

Leslie, R., May, S., Scordis, C., Isgar, V., Poulton, P. and Garnham, A. (2022). 'Outcomes following supervised exercise and home-based exercise for patients with intermittent claudication'. *Journal of Vascular Nursing*, *40*(4), pp.157-161.

Libby, P., Okamoto, Y., Rocha, V.Z. and Folco, E. (2010) 'Inflammation in atherosclerosis', *Circulation Journal: Official Journal of the Japanese Circulation Society*, 74(2), pp. 213-220. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1253/circj.CJ-09-0706</u>.

Mach, F., Baigent, C., Catapano, A.L., Koskinas, K.C., Casula, M., Badimon, L., Chapman, M.J., De Backer, G.G., Delgado, V., Ference, B.A. and Graham, I.M. (2020). 'Guidelines for the management of dyslipidaemias: lipid modification to reduce cardiovascular risk: the Task Force for the management of dyslipidaemias of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC)

and European Atherosclerosis Society (EAS)'. *European Heart Journal, 41*(1), pp.111-188. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehz455

Makris, G.C., Lattimer, C.R., Lavida, A. and Geroulakos, G., (2012). Availability of supervised exercise programs and the role of structured home-based exercise in peripheral arterial disease. *European Journal of Vascular and Endovascular Surgery*, *44*(6), pp.569-575.

Matthews, S., Smith, P., Chadwick, P. and Smyth, V. (2016). 'Implementing a communitybased structured exercise programme for patients with peripheral arterial disease in conjunction with an existing cardiac rehabilitation service results in better outcomes'. *British Journal of Diabetes*, *16*(4), pp.193-197.

Mazari, F.A.K., Gulati, S., Rahman, M.N.A., Lee, H.L.D., Mehta, T.A., McCollum, P.T. and Chetter, I.C. (2010). 'Early outcomes from a randomized, controlled trial of supervised exercise, angioplasty, and combined therapy in intermittent claudication'. *Annals of Vascular Surgery*, *24*(1), pp.69-79. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.avsg.2009.07.005

Mazzolai, L., Belch, J., Venermo, M., Aboyans, V., Brodmann, M., Bura-Rivière, A., Debus, S., Espinola-Klein, C., Harwood, A.E., Hawley, J.A., Lanzi, S., Madarič, J., Mahé, G., Malatesta, D., Schlager, O., Schmidt-Trucksäss, A., Seenan, C., Sillesen, H., Tew, G.A., Visonà, A. (2024). 'Exercise therapy for chronic symptomatic peripheral artery disease: A clinical consensus document of the European Society of Cardiology Working Group on Aorta and Peripheral Vascular Diseases in collaboration with the European Society of Vascular Medicine and the European Society for Vascular Surgery'. *European Heart Journal*, ehad734, https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehad734

McDermott, M.M., (2018). 'Medical management of functional impairment in peripheral artery disease: a review. *Progress in Cardiovascular Disease* 60 (6), pp586-592.

McDermott, M.M., Guralnik, J.M., Criqui, M.H., Liu, K., Kibbe, M.R. and Ferrucci, L. (2014) 'Six-minute Walk is a better outcome measure than treadmill walking tests in therapeutic trials of patients with peripheral artery disease', *Circulation (New York, N.Y.)*, 130(1), pp. 61-68. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.114.007002</u>

McDermott, M.M., Liu, K., Ferrucci, L., Tian, L., Guralnik, J.M., Liao, Y. and Criqui, M.H., (2011). 'Decline in functional performance predicts later increased mobility loss and mortality in peripheral arterial disease'. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, *57*(8), pp.962-970. Available at: https://www.jacc.org/doi/abs/10.1016/j.jacc.2010.09.053

McDermott, M.M., Guralnik, J.M., Ferrucci, L., Tian, L., Liu, K., Liao, Y., Green, D., Sufit, R., Hoff, F., Nishida, T. and Sharma, L. (2008). 'Asymptomatic peripheral arterial disease is associated with more adverse lower extremity characteristics than intermittent claudication'. *Circulation*, *117*(19), pp.2484-2491. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.107.736108

McDermott, M.M., Tian, L., Liu, K., Guralnik, J.M., Ferrucci, L., Tan, J., Pearce, W.H., Schneider, J.R., Criqui, M.H. (2008). 'Prognostic value of functional performance for

mortality in patients with peripheral artery disease'. *Journal of the American College of Cardiolology*. *51*:1482–1489. Available at: https://www.jacc.org/doi/abs/10.1016/j.jacc.2007.12.034

McDermott, M.M., Ades, P.A., Dyer, A., Guralnik, J.M., Kibbe, M., Criqui, M.H. (2008) 'Corridor-based functional performance measures correlate better with physical activity during daily life than treadmill measures in persons with peripheral arterial disease'. *Journal of Vascular Surgery*. 48:1231–7. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvs.2008.06.050

McDermott, M.M., Guralnik, J.M., Tian, L., Ferrucci, L., Liu, K., Liao, Y., Criqui, M.H. (2007) 'Baseline functional performance predicts the rate of mobility loss in persons with peripheral arterial disease'. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*. *50*:974–982. Available at: https://www.jacc.org/doi/full/10.1016/j.jacc.2007.05.030

Meijer, W.T., Grobbee, D.E., Hunink, M.M., Hofman, A. and Hoes, A.W., (2000). Determinants of peripheral arterial disease in the elderly: the Rotterdam study. *Archives of internal medicine*, *160*(19), pp.2934-2938.

Meijer, W.T., Hoes, A.W., Rutgers, D., Bots, M.L., Hofman, A. and Grobbee, D.E. (1998). 'Peripheral arterial disease in the elderly: The Rotterdam Study'. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology, 18*(2), pp.185-192. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV.18.2.185

Meru, A.V., Mittra, S., Thyagarajan, B. and Chugh, A., (2006). Intermittent claudication: an overview. *Atherosclerosis*, *187*(2), pp.221-237.

Montgomery, P.S., and Gardner, A.W. (1998) 'The clinical utility of a six-minute walk test in peripheral arterial occlusive disease patients'. *Journal of American Geriatrics Society*. 46:706–711. Available at: doi: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.1998.tb03804.x

Morley, R.L., Sharma, A., Horsch, A.D. and Hinchliffe, R.J. (2018). 'Peripheral artery disease'. *British Medical Journal. 360*. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.j5842

Müller-Bühl, U., Engeser, P., Leutgeb, R. and Szecsenyi, J. (2012). 'Low attendance of patients with intermittent claudication in a German community-based walking exercise program'. *International Angiology: A Journal of the International Union of Angiology, 31*(3), pp.271-275. Available at: https://europepmc.org/article/med/22634982

Murabito, J.M., D'Agostino, R.B., Silbershatz, H. and Wilson, P.W., (1997). Intermittent claudication: a risk profile from the Framingham Heart Study. *Circulation*, *96*(1), pp.44-49.

Murabito, J.M., Evans, J.C., Nieto, K., Larson, M.G., Levy, D. and Wilson, P.W. (2002). 'Prevalence and clinical correlates of peripheral arterial disease in the Framingham Offspring Study'. *American Heart Journal*, *143*(6), pp.961-965. Murgitroyd, E., Fraser, S.C.A., Hebson, A. and Lewis, D.R. (2019). 'Implementation of a supervised exercise therapy programme'. *The Annals of The Royal College of Surgeons of England*, *101*(1), pp.7-13. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1308/rcsann.2018.0171

Murphy, T.P., Cutlip, D.E., Regensteiner, J.G., Mohler, E.R., Cohen, D.J., Reynolds, M.R., Massaro, J.M., Lewis, B.A., Cerezo, J. and Oldenburg, N.C. (2012) 'Supervised exercise versus primary stenting for claudication resulting from aortoiliac peripheral artery disease: Sixmonth outcomes from the claudication: Exercise versus endoluminal revascularization (CLEVER) study', *Circulation*, 125(1), pp. 130-139.

Murray, C.J. (1994). 'Quantifying the burden of disease: the technical basis for disabilityadjusted life years'. *Bulletin of the World health Organization*, 72(3), p.429. Available at: https://pmc.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/articles/PMC2486718/

Narula, N., Olin, J.W. and Narula, N. (2020). 'Pathologic disparities between peripheral artery disease and coronary artery disease. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology, 40*(9), pp.1982-1989. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.119.312864

Nastasi, D.R., Moxon, J.V., Norman, R., Trollope, A.F., Rowbotham, S., Quigley, F., Jenkins, J. and Golledge, J. (2021). 'The cost-effectiveness of intensive low-density lipoprotein cholesterol lowering in people with peripheral artery disease'. *Journal of Vascular Surgery*, *73*(4), pp.1396-1403.

National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. (2009) *The guidelines manual*. London: National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence; 2009. Available at: <u>http://www.nice.org.uk/aboutnice/howwework/developingniceclinicalguidelines/clinicalguide</u>

National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. (2012) *Lower limb peripheral arterial disease diagnosis and management NICE Clinical guidance 147*. Available at: <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg147/documents/lower-limb-peripheral-arterial-disease-guideline-review-full-guideline2</u> [Accessed 21/09/2023]

National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. (2014) *Lipid modification. Cardiovascular risk assessment and the modification of blood lipids for the primary and secondary prevention of cardiovascular disease Clinical guidance CG181*. Available at: <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg181/evidence/lipid-modification-update-full-guidance-</u> <u>243786637</u> {Accessed 28/11/2023}

National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. (2022) What are the features of intermittent claudication and critical limb ischaemia? Available at: <u>https://cks.nice.org.uk/topics/peripheral-arterial-disease/diagnosis/features-of-intermittent-claudication-critical-limb-ischaemia/</u> [Accessed 03/01/2024]

National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. (2023) *Leg ulcer-venous: How should I interpret ankle brachial pressure index (ABPI) results?* Available at: <u>https://cks.nice.org.uk/topics/leg-ulcer-venous/diagnosis/interpretation-of-abpi/</u> [Accessed 21/09/2023].

National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. (2024) *How should I assess a person with suspected peripheral arterial disease?* Available at:

https://cks.nice.org.uk/topics/peripheral-arterial-disease/diagnosis/assessment/ [Accessed 31/12/2024]

Newman, A.B., Siscovick, D.S., Manolio, T.A., Polak, J., Fried, L.P., Borhani, N.O. and Wolfson, S.K., (1993). Ankle-arm index as a marker of atherosclerosis in the Cardiovascular Health Study. Cardiovascular Heart Study (CHS) Collaborative Research Group. *Circulation, 88*(3), pp.837-845.

Nordanstig, J., Behrendt, C.A., Bradbury, A.W., de Borst, G.J., Fowkes, F., Golledge, J., Gottsater, A., Hinchliffe, R.J., Nikol, S. and Norgren, L. (2023) 'Peripheral arterial disease (PAD) – A challenging manifestation of atherosclerosis', *Preventive Medicine*, 171, pp. 107489. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2023.107489</u>.

Nordanstig, J., Wann-Hansson, C., Karlsson, J., Lundström, M., Pettersson, M., and Morgan, M.B. (2014) 'Vascular quality of life questionnaire-6 facilitates health-related quality of life assessment in peripheral arterial disease', *Journal of Vascular Surgery*, 59(3), pp. 700-707.e1. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvs.2013.08.099</u>.

Norgren, L., Hiatt, W.R., Dormandy, J.A., Nehler, M.R., Harris, K.A. and Fowkes, F.G.R. (2007) 'Inter-society consensus for the management of peripheral arterial disease (TASC II)', *Journal of Vascular Surgery*, 45(1), pp. S5-S67. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvs.2006.12.037.

Parmenter, B.J., Mavros, Y., Dias, R.R., King, S. and Singh, M.F. (2019). 'Resistance training as a treatment for older persons with peripheral artery disease: a systematic review and metaanalysis'. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*. 54 (8) Available at: https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2018-100205

Pearson, N., Naylor, P., Ashe, M.C., Fernandez, M., Yoong, S.L. and Wolfenden, L. (2020) 'Guidance for conducting feasibility and pilot studies for implementation trials', *Pilot and Feasibility Studies,* 6(1), pp. 1-167. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40814-020-00634-</u> <u>w</u>.

Peeters, P. and Mets, T. (1996). 'The 6-minute walk as an appropriate exercise test in elderly patients with chronic heart failure'. *The Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, *51*(4), pp.M147-M151. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1093/gerona/51A.4.M147

Pell, J.P. and Scottish Vascular Audit Group. (1995). 'Impact of intermittent claudication on quality of life'. *European Journal of Vascular and Endovascular Surgery*, *9*(4), pp.469-472. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/S1078-5884(05)80018-8

Perera, S., Mody, S.H., Woodman, R.C., Studenski, S.A. (2006) 'Meaningful change and responsiveness in common physical performance measures in older adults'. *Journal of the*

American Geriatric Society 54:743–749. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.2006.00701.x

Perkins, J.M.T., Collin, J., Creasy, T.S., Fletcher, E.W.L. and Morris, P.J. (1996). 'Exercise training versus angioplasty for stable claudication. Long- and medium-term results of a prospective, randomised trial'. *European Journal of Vascular and Endovascular Surgery*, *11*(4), pp.409-413. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/S1078-5884(96)80171-7

Piña, I.L., Apstein, C.S., Balady, G.J., Belardinelli, R., Chaitman, B.R., Duscha, B.D., Fletcher, B.J., Fleg, J.L., Myers, J.N. and Sullivan, M.J. (2003). 'American Heart Association Committee on exercise, rehabilitation, and prevention. Exercise and heart failure: a statement from the American Heart Association Committee on exercise, rehabilitation, and prevention'. *Circulation*, *107*(8), pp.1210-25. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1161/01.CIR.0000055013.92097.40

Rogers, E.M. (2002). 'Diffusion of preventive innovations'. *Addictive Behaviors*, 27(6), pp.989-993. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0306-4603(02)00300-3

Rose, S.C., (2000). Noninvasive vascular laboratory for evaluation of peripheral arterial occlusive disease: Part II--clinical applications: chronic, usually atherosclerotic, lower extremity ischemia. *Journal of Vascular and Interventional Radiology: JVIR*, *11*(10), pp.1257-1275.

Rutherford, R.B., Baker, J.D., Ernst, C., Johnston, K.W., Porter, J.M., Ahn, S. and Jones, D.N. (1997). 'Recommended standards for reports dealing with lower extremity ischemia: Revised version', *Journal of Vascular Surgery*, 26(3), pp. 517-538. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0741-5214(97)70045-4</u>.

Rymer, J.A., Narcisse, D., Cosiano, M., Tanaka, J., McDermott, M., Treat-Jacobson, D., Conte, M.S., Tuttle, B., Patel, M.R., Smolderen, K.G. (2021). 'Patient-Reported Outcome Measures in Symptomatic, Non-Limb-Threatening Peripheral Artery Disease: A State-of-the-Art review'. Circulation: Cardiovascular Interventions, 15(1), p.e011320 Available at: https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCINTERVENTIONS.121.011320

Shalhoub, J., Hamish, M. and Davies, A.H. (2009). 'Supervised exercise for intermittent claudication–an under-utilised tool. *The Annals of The Royal College of Surgeons of England*, *91*(6), pp.473-476. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1308/003588409X432149

Schorr, E.N. and Treat-Jacobson, D. (2013). 'Methods of symptom evaluation and their impact on peripheral artery disease (PAD) symptom prevalence: a review'. *Vascular Medicine*, *18*(2), pp.95-111.

Selvin, E. and Erlinger, T.P. (2004). 'Prevalence of and risk factors for peripheral arterial disease in the United States: results from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 1999–2000'. *Circulation*, *110*(6), pp.738-743. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1161/01.CIR.0000137913.26087.F0

Skivington, K., Matthews, L., Simpson, S.A., Craig, P., Baird, J., Blazeby, J.M., Boyd, K.A., Craig, N., French, D.P. and McIntosh, E. (2021) 'A new framework for developing and evaluating complex interventions: Update of medical research council guidance'. *British Medical Journal*, 374. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.n2061

Sorber, R., Dun, C., Kawaji, Q., Abularrage, C.J., Black III, J.H., Makary, M.A. and Hicks, C.W., (2023). Early peripheral vascular interventions for claudication are associated with higher rates of late interventions and progression to chronic limb threatening ischemia. *Journal of vascular surgery*, *77*(3), pp.836-847.

Spronk, S., White, J.V., MD, Bosch, J.L., and Hunink, M.G. Myriam. (2007). 'Impact of claudication and its treatment on quality of life', *Seminars in Vascular Surgery*, 20(1), pp. 3-9. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1053/j.semvascsurg.2007.02.003</u>.

Spronk, S., Bosch, J.L., den Hoed, P.T., Veen, H.F., Pattynama, P.M. and Hunink, M.M. (2009). 'Intermittent claudication: clinical effectiveness of endovascular revascularization versus supervised hospital-based exercise training—randomized controlled trial'. *Radiology*, 250(2), pp.586-595. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1148/radiol.2501080607

Squires, H., Simpson, E., Meng, Y., Harnan S., Stevens, J., Wong. R. (2011) 'A systematic review and economic evaluation of Cilostazol. Naftidrofuryl oxalate, pentoxifylline and inositol nicotinate for the treatment of intermittent claudication in people with peripheral arterial disease'. *Health Technology Assessment*. pp 1-210. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1108/cgij.2012.24817baa.004

Steinberg, D., (2005) Thematic review series: the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis. An interpretive history of the cholesterol controversy, part III: mechanistically defining the role of hyperlipidemia. *Journal of lipid research*, *46*(10), pp.2037-2051.

Sustersic, M., Gauchet, A., Foote, A. and Bosson, J.L. (2017). 'How best to use and evaluate Patient Information Leaflets given during a consultation: a systematic review of literature reviews'. *Health Expectations*, *20*(4), pp.531-542. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1111/hex.12487

Swerts, P.M., Mostert, R. and Wouters, E.F. (1990). 'Comparison of corridor and treadmill walking in patients with severe chronic obstructive pulmonary disease'. *Physical Therapy and Rehabilitation Journal*, *70*(7), pp.439-442. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1093/ptj/70.7.439

Szuba, A., Oka, R.K., Harada, R and Cookw, J.P. (2006). 'Limb hemodynamics are not predictive of functional capacity in patients with PAD'. *Vascular Medicine*, 11,155-163.

Tew, G.A., Brabyn, S., Cook, L. and Peckham, E. (2016). The completeness of intervention descriptions in randomised trials of supervised exercise training in peripheral arterial disease. *PloS one*, *11*(3). Available at: https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0150869

Tew, G.A., Harwood, A.E., Ingle, L., Chetter, I. and Doherty, P.J. (2018). 'The bases expert statement on exercise training for people with intermittent claudication due to peripheral

arterial disease'. *The Sport and Exercise Scientist*. Available at: https://eprints.whiterose.ac.uk/135452/1/Tew_G_et_al_autumn_expert_statement_pages _399.pdf

Torrance, G.W. (1986) 'Measurement of health state utilities for economic appraisal: A review', *Journal of Health Economics*, 5(1), pp. 1-30. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/0167-6296(86)90020-2

Totton, N., Lin, J., Julious, S., Chowdhury, M. and Brand, A. (2023). 'A review of sample sizes for UK pilot and feasibility studies on the ISRCTN registry from 2013 to 2020'. *Pilot and Feasibility Studies*, *9*(188). Available at: https://doi.org/10.1186/s40814-023-01416-w

Treat-Jacobson, D., Bronas, U.G. and Leon, A.S. (2009) 'Efficacy of arm-ergometry versus treadmill exercise training to improve walking distance in patients with claudication', *Vascular Medicine* 14(3), pp. 203-213. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1358863X08101858</u>.

Treat-Jacobson, D., Halverson, S.L., Ratchford, A., Regensteiner, J.G., Lindquist, R. and Hirsch, A.T. (2002) 'A patient-derived perspective of health-related quality of life with peripheral arterial disease'. *Journal of Nursing Scholarship*, 34(1), pp. 55-60. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1547-5069.2002.00055.x</u>.stylefix

Treat-Jacobson, D., Henly, S.J., Bronas, U.G., Leon, A.S. and Henly, G.A. (2011). 'The pain trajectory during treadmill testing in peripheral artery disease'. *Nursing Research*, *60*(3), pp. S38-S49. Available at: *DOI:* 10.1097/NNR.0b013e318218600b

Van Hout, B., Janssen, M.F., Feng, Y.S., Kohlmann, T., Busschbach, J., Golicki, D., Lloyd, A., Scalone, L., Kind, P. and Pickard, A.S, (2012). 'Interim scoring for the EQ-5D-5L: mapping the EQ-5D-5L to EQ-5D-3L value sets'. *Value in Health*, *15*(5), pp.708-715 Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jval.2012.02.008

Vincent, K.R., Vincent, H.K., Braith, R.W., Bhatnagar, V. and Lowenthal, D.T. (2003). 'Strength training and hemodynamic responses to exercise'. *The American Journal of Geriatric Cardiology*, *12*(2), pp.97-106. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1076-7460.2003.01588.x

Wentzel, J.J., Chatzizisis, Y.S., Gijsen, F.J., Giannoglou, G.D., Feldman, C.L. and Stone, P.H., (2012). 'Endothelial shear stress in the evolution of coronary atherosclerotic plaque and vascular remodelling: current understanding and remaining questions.' *Cardiovascular Research*, *96*(2), pp.234-243. Available at: https://academic.oup.com/cardiovascres/article /96/2/234/384223?login=true [Accessed 21/09/2023].

Willigendael, E.M., Teijink, J.A., Bartelink, M.L., Kuiken, B.W., Boiten, J., Moll, F.L., Büller, H.R. and Prins, M.H. (2004). 'Influence of smoking on incidence and prevalence of peripheral arterial disease'. *Journal of Vascular Surgery*, *40*(6), pp.1158-1165.

Yang, H.T., Prior, B.M., Lloyd, P.G., Taylor, J.C., Li, Z., Laughlin, M.H. and Terjung, R.L. (2008). 'Training-induced vascular adaptations to ischemic muscle'. *Journal of Physiology and Pharmacology: An Official Journal of the Polish Physiological Society*, *59*(Suppl 7), p.57. Available at: <u>https://pmc.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/articles/PMC2654575/</u>

Appendices

Appendix 1: Ethical approval, York St John University (Ethics reference: STHEC0072)

YORK 1841 ST JOHN UNIVERSITY York St John University, Lord Mayors Walk, York, YO31 7EX 30/06/2023 School of Science, Technology, and Health Research Ethics Committee Dear Lisa, Title of study: A study to assess the feasibility of implementing a supervised exercise programme for patients diagnosed with intermittent claudication STHECO072 Ethics reference: Date of submission: 20/06/2023 I am pleased to inform you that the above application for ethical review has been reviewed by the School of Science, Technology, and Health Research Ethics Committee and I can confirm a favourable ethical opinion on the basis of the information provided in the following documents: Document Date Application for ethical approval form, 30/06/2023 participant information sheet and consent form, questionnaires and protocol documentation Please notify the committee if you intend to make any amendments to the original research as submitted at date of this approval, including changes to recruitment methodology or accompanying documentation. All changes must receive ethical approval prior to commencing your study. You are now free to begin data recruitment and collection for the above approved study. Yours sincerely, **Dr Sophie Carter** Chair of the School of Science, Technology, and Health Research Ethics Committee

Appendix 2: Surgical care group service evaluation registration form and email

confirmation

Care Group 3 Clin	ical Audi	t Registration For	M (Please complete se	ctions below)		
Please send comple	Please send completed forms to: CG3GovernanceFacilitators@york.nhs.uk					
Site(s)	🗌 🗌 Trust	wide 🗌 York 🗌	Scarborough] Communit	У	
Care Group Audit	: Priority (please identify as appro	opriate)			
External 'Must do		ernal 'Must do'	If applicable, state	High local	priority	Medium local
national audits	e.g. c	ontract requirement,	which NICE Guidance	Service line /	Trust (<i>see</i>	priority
national audits		NICE guidance		below for Qu	ality Goals)	Service line interest
-	A feasibi	lity study in the imp	lementation of a s	upervised ex	ercise pro	gramme for patients
Audit Title	diagnose	d with intermittent	claudication			
Audit Objectives	To identi	fy barriers to imple	menting a supervis	ed expercise	programn	ne
		,				
Audit Start Date	July	2023	Proposed Complet	tion Date	Sep	t 2024
Lead Auditor for th	is					
project		First Name: Andrew		Surname: Thompson		
Lead Consultant		First Name: Andrew		Surname: Thompson		
Team Members (Lis	st name & jol	b title for all)				
Lisa Sharpe, vascul	ar speciali	st nurse. Garry Tew	, professor of clini	ical exercise	science an	nd academic
Report Findings To Be Presented						
(findings must not be externally shared until reviewed by your Care Group Governance Team)						
Feb 2025 Internally Externally						
Froposed date of p	Proposed date of presentation Both					
Agreement & Disclosure						

Ethics & Confidentiality	Clinical audits must be conducted within an ethical framework. This means ensuring patient confidentiality at all times and complying with legislation, guidance and				
IG Confirmation	I confirm I have attended the Trust Information Governance Training				
Audit Approval	I confirm I have discussed and agreed this audit with the Audit Lead				
	I confirm I have discussed and agreed this audit with the Governance Lead				
Publication Approval	I confirm I understand that no findings from this audit can be published / presented				
	externally until the results have been presented to the Care Group Governance				
	I hereby agree to complete the audit as detailed on this form, share the audit				
Agreement	results with relevant Trust staff and return an Audit Report which includes an action				
	plan (with re-audit date if applicable) to the Care Group Governance Team on				



AGREEMENT FOR THE PROVISION OF SERVICES FOR THE CLAUDICATION EXERCISE SERVICE – WITH YORK ST JOHN UNIVERSITY

This Agreement is made with effect from 1st September 2023.

BETWEEN: York and Scarborough Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (The Trust)

(the "Commissioner")

AND: York St John University

(the "Provider")

Together referred to as the "Parties" or individually a "Party".

Term. This Agreement will commence (on the Effective Date) and will continue until *1 February 2025*, unless extended by the Commissioner on giving the Provider not less than three months written notice prior to 1st February 2025 or terminated in accordance with clause 7 of the Conditions (**"the Term"**).

Services. The services to be provided by the Provider to the Commissioner shall be as set out in Schedule 1 ("**the Services**").

Entire Agreement. This Agreement comprises;

- (i) This signature page
- (ii) The attached Conditions
- (iii) Schedule 1 Services
- (iv) Schedule 2 Services Fee
- (v) Schedule 3 Data Protection Protocol

which in the event of any conflict shall take precedence in the order in which they appear above. The Agreement, effected by the signatures of the Parties below, constitutes the entire agreement between the Parties relating to the Services and supersedes all prior negotiations, representations or understandings whether written or oral. This Agreement may only be amended in writing in accordance with <u>clause 6</u> of the Conditions.

Signed on behalf of Commissioner

Signed on behalf of Provider

Name: Andrew Bertram

Name: KAYEN Bryan

Title: Finance Director

Title: Vice Chancello? Signature: MA

Signature: A.S. ber -

Date 12.10.2023

Date: 12/10/2023



Supervised exercise programme for patients with intermittent claudication

CONSENT FORM

York and Scarborough Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (the Trust) is working with York St John University to offer a supervised exercise programme to patients with intermittent claudication. We would like to invite you into this programme as we think it will help to improve your symptoms, fitness and health. Full details of the programme are outlined in the patient information leaflet (Reference PIL1618 v1).

The Trust requires consent from each patient who agrees to participate in the programme.

Consent to participate in the exercise programme

	Please initial box
I have read the patient information leaflet and have had the opportunity to	
ask questions about the exercise programme.	
I understand that my participation in the exercise programme is voluntary and	
that I can withdraw by speaking to a member of the programme team.	
I agree that it is my responsibility to inform the programme team of any	
changes in my health or treatments that may occur during my participation	
in the exercise programme.	
I agree to participate in the exercise programme.	

Consent for routinely collected data to be used in service evaluations

Pleas	е
initial	box

	Initial dox
I understand that relevant sections of my medical records and data collected during the exercise programme may be looked at by individuals from the programme team, regulatory authorities or from the Trust for the purpose of service evaluation. I give permission for these individuals to have access to my records.	
I understand that if I withdraw from the exercise programme, any data collected about me up to the point I withdraw will be retained and may be used in service evaluations.	
I understand that any information given by me may be used in anonymised form in future reports, publications, articles, or presentations by the programme or service evaluation teams.	

Your name.....

Date.....

Your e-mail address and/or phone number (if you consent to be contacted this way)

.....

Your signature.....

[one copy to the participant, one copy to be filed in the medical records]

Appendix 5: Patient information leaflet: supervised exercise programme



York and Scarborough Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

Information for patients with intermittent claudication symptoms

Supervised exercise programme (SEP)

What is intermittent claudication?

Intermittent claudication pain is one of the first symptoms of peripheral arterial disease (PAD). It is caused by a narrowing or a blockage of one of the arteries taking blood to your leg, reducing the flow of blood it gets. At rest your leg is getting enough blood flow, but when you start to walk, your body cannot supply enough blood to the muscles to provide the oxygen it requires to sustain the activity. This results in a cramping, aching, tightness or a pain in your leg.

The symptoms quickly resolve once you have stopped walking for a few minutes and the oxygen demand has reduced.

Although there is no cure for PAD, moderate exercise has been proven to improve intermittent claudication symptoms. Exercise encourages smaller arteries in the leg to enlarge and help manage the blood flow when there is more demand. For example when you walk, which is known as collateral circulation.

Why a supervised exercise programme (SEP)?

Research has shown that participating in supervised exercise is more effective in improving your symptoms than just giving you advice to exercise (unsupervised) and improves your quality of life. The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) is the governing body that provides the NHS with clinical practice recommendations. As a first-line treatment for your diagnosis of intermittent claudication, NICE recommends that you have the chance to take part in a supervised exercise programme.

What is a supervised exercise programme (SEP)?

In brief, a SEP is an organised programme where you will participate in structured exercise classes. These are delivered by a qualified exercise instructor over a specified time frame. For example they could be walking or strengthening exercises.

Assessment

Before starting your SEP, you will be invited to attend a face-to-face appointment with a vascular specialist nurse who will take some basic measurements which are explained below. You should allow two hours for this assessment.

You will be asked to complete a consent form in order to participate in the SEP.

These are the basic measurements that the nurse will take:

- A pressure, similar to taking your blood pressure in your arm, will be taken on both legs. This measurement is a way to assess the degree of arterial disease in your legs. It can give an indication of the amount of blood flow to your feet. This is called an Ankle Brachial Index (ABPI).
- Using a quality-of-life questionnaire, the nurse will also ask a few questions about your symptoms and how they affect your daily life.
- You will then be asked to walk on a treadmill to assess your baseline pain-free and maximum walking distance.

This assessment will take place at York St John University, **Lord Mayor's Walk site**. Directions and parking instructions are available at the end of this booklet.

Your supervised exercise programme

The programme is free and will run over 12 weeks on a Tuesday afternoon at 14.30 and a Thursday morning at 08.45.

The classes are group-based, with a maximum of ten participants (mixed sex) per session.

At each session, there will be a warm-up followed by shuttle walking. Shuttle means walking as far as possible in six-minute blocks, at a speed that causes you to have claudication symptoms and trying to walk through the pain. This is repeated five times. The class ends with a cool down.

The sessions are held at York St John's University, **Haxby Road site Sports Barn**. There is an onsite café serving drinks and snacks.

Directions and parking instructions are available at the end of this booklet.

Please arrive on time to allow the class to start prompt

What happens after the exercise programme?

If you complete the programme, you will be invited to attend a similar assessment to the one you undertook before starting the SEP. This will compare your pre- and post measurements.

Whether or not you completed the entire 12-week programme (if your symptoms remain the same or are worse) you can be referred back to the vascular consultant clinic to discuss any alternate treatment options.

If your symptoms have improved and you are satisfied with the outcome, we will write to your GP and discharge you from the SEP. A telephone follow-up will be arranged in six to eight weeks with the vascular specialist nurses to provide you with support and advice.

What can I do to help myself?

Stopping smoking is the most important thing you can do to prevent your disease from getting worse and reduce your risk of heart attack or stroke. These are some of the available stop smoking services:

- Call the free National Smokefree Helpline on 0300 123 1044 (England only). Talk to a trained adviser for advice and support.
- Or access help via the internet:

www.nhs.uk/better-health/quit-smoking/

 Or join through social media by joining the Quit Smoking Support Group on Facebook

- Further support is available by downloading the free NHS Quit Smoking app on the Google Play Store and Apple App Store.
- York City council health trainers, a free stop-smoking service are available on 01904 553377.
- Alternatively, speak to your GP about local stop-smoking services.

Keep active

The other important thing you can do to help is to start or increase exercise. The Circulation Foundation has developed the following information (infographic) that might help you try to exercise (page 5).

More information about exercise and intermittent claudication from the Circulation Foundation is available online at:

<u>www.circulationfoundation.org.uk</u> or you can ask the vascular nurse for a paper copy.

Exercise for Intermittent Claudication

NICE National Institute for Health and Care Excellence

RECOMMENDS EXERCISE

Supervised exercise classes produce the

greatest benefits - ask your doctor or

specialist if these are available locally

What is intermittent claudication?

- Leg muscle pain or discomfort during walking
- Usually caused by narrowed arteries

Key

recommendations

Aim to complete

30-60 minutes

of walking per

Follow the walk-

rest-walk pattern

(central diagram)

session

week

Walk at a speed that you can maintain for 3-10 minutes



and improve fitness

Walk regularly for exercise

some is good, more is better, make it a habit

Rest until 3-5 sessions per the pain subsides then walk again

General tips

- Wear comfortable clothing, keep hydrated
- Choose routes with resting places
- Build in variety, involve others, keep it fun
- Do not exercise if you are unwell
- Seek medical advice if you experience chest pain, dizziness or sickness

Improves mood Improves sleep

Benefits of

exercise

Reduces the need for

vascular procedures

Improves heart and vascular health

Reduces pain

Maintains healthy weight

Further guidance

- Do not fear walking with leg pain - it will not harm you
- Build up gradually - your walking speed and time
- Be patient it usually takes several weeks of exercise to improve symptoms

Do strengthening and balance activities as well on at least 2 days per week to stay strong and reduce the risk of falling

Continue

until moderate-to-

strong leg pain develops

Where can I find out more information about this condition? The Circulation Foundation: www.circulationfoundation.org.uk

Based on the BASES Expert Statement by Tex, Harwood, Ingle, et al. In The Sport and Exercise Scientist, Issue 57 (Autumn 2018). https://www.bases.org.uk/imgs/autumn_2018_7601_bas_expert_statement__v2_569.pdf

Discialment

This infographic is not a validated clinical decision aid. Any reliance placed on this information is strictly at the user's own risk.

Thirtks To the reviewers who helped to produce this infographic, which was co-funded by The Circulation Foundation and Northumbria University



Take the right medication

Your consultant will have discussed with you whether certain medications are appropriate for you. They will also tell your GP. These normally include a blood thinning tablet and a cholesterol tablet. A combination of these tablets are known to prevent the risk of cardiovascular complications including heart attack or stroke in the future.

Your GP will manage other risk factor medication including diabetes and blood pressure tablets. The nurse at your assessment can discuss these medications with you if you wish.

Other lifestyle considerations:

- 1. Healthy balanced diet.
- 2. Lose weight if you are overweight or obese.

York St John University directions and parking

Lord Mayor's Walk Site- assessment site

York St John University, Lord Mayor's Walk, York, YO31 7EX

The campus is located to the north of York City Centre. It can be accessed from the south by the A19, from the east by the A1036. From the north it can be accessed by Haxby Road or Huntingdon Road.

The Lord Mayor's Walk Site has Automated Number Plate Recognition (ANPR). The vascular nurse will ask for your car registration in advance of your assessment to allow you to park without inccurring any fee. There is Blue Badge parking at this site but there are designated parking spaces available for the assessment.

Parking arrangements will be sent to you with your appointment date.

First bus routes 1,5,5A and 6 stop at Clarence Street bus stop close to the assessment site.

Building location

The vascular nurse will arrange to meet you at the parking location sent with your appointment. The building where your assessment will take place is the Foss building, coded FS

Haxby Road- SEP site

York St John University Sports Fields, Haxby Road, New Earswick, York, YO31 8TA.

The Sports Park is located off Haxby Road to the north east of the York City Centre. Haxby Road links the City Centre with the A1237 Outer Ring Road to the north.

Haxby Road Sports Park has a large car park with Automated Number Plate Recognition (ANPR). On arrival use the screen in the main reception to log your car registration plate, which will allow four hours of free parking. The exercise instructor can assist with this if required. This must be completed on each visit to the facility upon arrival.

The car park has Blue Badge parking available near to the entrance, you will still need to register your car registration plate on arrival if you park in one of these.

First Bus service number 1 provides the closest bus stop for Haxby road- SEP site. The number 1 service runs between Wigginton and Chapelfields. Traveling towards town the stop is Foss Park. Traveling out of town towards Wiggington, the closest stops are either Bowling Green or Mille Crux.

Building location

The reception point is located just inside the main entrance. On your first session one of the team will meet you at the reception to direct you to room for your exercise programme.

① For more information, please contact the assistant vascular secretaries on: 01904 724165 or 01904 725540

Alternatively, you can email the vascular nursing team at:



<u>yhs-tr-vascularnurseservice@nhs.net</u> with the subject heading SEP.

Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS): We

can listen to feedback (positive or negative), answer questions and help resolve any concerns about Trust services. PALS can be contacted on 01904 726262, or email pals@york.nhs.uk An answer phone is available out of hours.

Leaflets in alternative languages or formats: If you

require this information in a different language or format, for example

Braille, large print, Easy Read or audio, please ask the staff who are

looking after you.

Date this version published
Review DateJune2023 (Pilot Scheme)
June 2024Document ReferencePIL1618 v1, Supervised Exercise Programme (SEP)© 2023 York and ScarboroughTeaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. All Rights reserved.

www.yorkhospit als.nhs.uk Appendix 6: Patient information leaflet: home exercise





Home-based exercise supplement for people with intermittent

claudication.

This home-based exercise supplement is provided in addition to the supervised exercise programme (SEP). These exercises can be completed at home and are a combination of cardiovascular (CV) and active recovery (AR) exercises devised by a trained physical fitness instructor. The exercises will be demonstrated in the exercise classes.

You should aim to complete 30 minutes of these exercises at least twice a week. Choose up to eight of the suggested exercises from the guide below. You could use the 'Tabata timer' method for each of the exercises in this supplement. The Tabata timer method is simply performing the exercise for 20 seconds then resting for 10 seconds, repeating each exercise eight times. The Tabata timer is available to download as a free App from most android or Apple devices to help you manage your time.

Alternatively, you can work through the exercises at an intensity that you can sustain for at least 3-10 minutes, resting when required.

Wear comfortable and supportive footwear while exercising, and make sure you have adequate space to exercise safely. If you are prescribed an inhaler and/or GTN (angina) spray, keep them with you whilst exercising. Ensure you have a drink available to maintain hydration.

The table on the next page shows a warm-up exercise to start, followed by nine further exercises on the subsequent pages. Each exercise is named in the first column of the table. There is a visual illustration in the second column, and a description for each exercise in the third column. Except for one exercise, they have different variations available. **EV**- is for easier variations of that exercise, and **AV**- is for advanced variations of that exercise. We have also suggested alternative exercises in the fourth column. If there are any exercises that you find difficult to perform, see if there is an easier option suggested under the 'Variations' column or skip to the next one.

If you have any questions about these exercises, please ask your exercise instructor at your next SEP class.

Exercise	Visual illustration	Description	Variations EV- easier variation AV-advanced variation	Alternatives
Standing dead bugs (warm-up)		Stand tall, chest proud. Feet together, arms by your hips. Then raise the opposite knee and arm. The aim is to reach as high as possible with your knee and hand. Repeat on the other side. Go nice and slowly. Think of this as quality over quantity.	AV- karate variation. Start with hands by hips. As the knee rises, both hands go over your head.	Walking on the spot.

Wall press up	Start by facing a wall. Place palms against the wall at shoulder height. Maintaining pressure on the wall, bend your elbows so your body goes toward the wall. Keep your face clear of the wall. Then press against the wall until your arms are fully extended again.	AV - visual not shown. As you get more advanced you may go towards a kneeling press up or full press up.	Chest presses in a gym environment. (Ask an instructor for demonstration)

Lunges/ pushbacks	Stand tall. Chest proud. Feet shoulder width apart. Take a stride forward with one leg, both feet facing forward. Allow both knees to bend, the back knee going towards the floor aiming to be parallel. Push through the front foot and return to standing position.	EV- No visual. Stand tall, chest proud, and look forward. With one foot, tap behind. Return to starting position. Repeat on the other leg. Once you have got the rhythm you can then bring both arms up into a forward raise as the leg goes back. Imagine that you are pushing yourself back. AV- if you want to advance then raise both arms overhead and aim not to allow your	If in a gym environment, leg press, leg extension/curl. (Ask a gym instructor to demonstrate). Alternatively, at home – standing knee raises or if seated it would be leg extensions.
		overhead and aim	

Sit to stand	Sit upright, chest proud. Feet shoulder width apart. Right angle bend at the knee. Push weight through the soles of your feet. Stand up, not using your arms to help you and push your hips forward. Push your hips back as you sit back into the chair slowly.	Any leg exercise in a gym. Or seated leg extensions at home.
--------------	---	--



	Stand tall. Che	1 0	Seated row at a gym.
Bent over rows	 Stand tall. Che proud. Feet shoulder width apart. Hands b side of hips. Keeping chest proud, looking forward, pushir hips back allow knees to bend, pivoting forward pivoting forward from the hips bending over. Keeping chest looking forward pull arms up squeezing shoulder blade together. Then extend arms ar repeat. 	y Feet shoulder width apart. Lean forward, keeping chest up, head looking forward while pushing hips into the back of the chair. Then return to your upright position by	Seated row at a gym. (Ask an instructor to demonstrate). AV- you can use the addition of resistance
		placing 211 hips forward, chest up.	such as tine of food or

Shoulder press	Stand tall. Chest up. Feet shoulder width apart. Place hands above shoulders, making a fist with both hands. Push elbows to be in line with your shoulders, then extend your arms in a vertical path above your head. Return hands to in line with your ears, then repeat.	EV- seated. Follow the instructions above from a seated position.	Lateral raises, or shoulder press machine at a gym (Ask an instructor to demonstrate).
			AV - you can use the addition of resistance such as tins of food or dumbbells.


Seated Lateral raises	it straight. Chest roud. Hands by de of hips. Feet noulder width part. Knees 90- egree angle. xtend both arms ut to the side arallel to the por. Return ands back to the art position then epeat.	 AV- No visual. Same as seated but in a standing position. AV-Add light weights such as tins of food or dumbbells. 	Shoulder press at a gym
--------------------------	---	---	-------------------------

Appendix 7: Patient information leaflet: Exercise log





Supervised exercise programme (SEP)

information for intermittent claudication

patients.

Home exercise log

Exercise log

This booklet provides log sheets to record exercise completed at home during your 12-week supervised exercise programme (SEP).

Regular exercise is the recommended treatment of intermittent claudication. People often worry about the pain that exercise, such as walking, brings on. However, exercise is known to reduce your symptoms and can increase how far you are able to walk, which can help improve your quality of life.

A key target is to do 30 minutes of purposeful exercise eg. a brisk walk at least three to five days per week. Each supervised exercise session at Haxby Road involves 30 minutes of walking exercise, so these sessions contribute to this weekly target. Other moderate aerobic activities can be substituted for walking such as swimming or cycling.

In addition, you should aim to complete a home-based strength and balance exercise routine at least two days per week. Ask your supervised exercise programme instructor for a home-based exercise supplement. See the infographic on page 3 for more guidance. The Circulation Foundation also provides information about different types of exercise suitable for people with intermittent claudication. The following link provides alternative home exercises:

https://www.circulationfoundation.org.uk/news/covid-19-special-configure

Alternatively, scan the QR code below to directly access the site via your

smartphone or tablet:



Helpful tips

Try to schedule your exercise into your daily routine and plan ahead.

Prior to starting each week's log, take time to consider your goals for that week.

Remember goals should be SMART: Specific Measurable Achievable Realistic

Timely.

Some things to consider to help you achieve your **SMART** goals are:

• What am I going to do?

- Where am I going to do it?
- When am I going to do it?
- Who am I going to do it with?

Overcoming barriers to change

Introducing exercise or increasing the amount of exercise you do can present you

with barriers or obstacles, which could prevent you from achieving your goals. It is

important to recognise any barriers or obstacles and to think about solutions to

overcome them. Use the table below to write any barriers and possible solutions.

Barrier or obstacle	Ideas to overcome this difficulty
Example: walk outside and it's raining	Check the weather forecast ahead of
	time and schedule to walk outside on
	a day that has a dry forecast

Exercise for Intermittent Claudication

What is intermittent claudication?

- Leg muscle pain or discomfort during walking
- Usually caused by narrowed arteries

Kev

recommendations

Aim to complete

30-60 minutes

of walking per

Follow the walk-

rest-walk pattern

(central diagram)

3-5 sessions per

session

week

Walk at a speed that you can maintain for 3-10 minutes

NICE National Institute for Health and Care Excellence

RECOMMENDS EXERCISE

Supervised exercise classes produce the

greatest benefits - ask your doctor or

specialist if these are available locally



to reduce pain and improve fitness

Walk regularly for exercise

some is good, more is better, make it a habit

Rest until the pain subsides then walk again

General tips

- · Wear comfortable clothing, keep hydrated
- Choose routes with resting places
- Build in variety, involve others, keep it fun
- Do not exercise if you are unwell
- Seek medical advice if you experience chest pain, dizziness or sickness

Do strengthening and balance activities as well

Continue

until moderate-to-

strong leg pain develops



Benefits of

exercise

Reduces the need for

vascular procedures

Improves heart and vascular health

Improves mood

Improves sleep

weight

Maintains healthy

Further guidance

walking with leg

Build up gradually

pain - it will not

your walking

speed and time

Be patient - it

several weeks

of exercise to

improve symptoms

usually takes

Do not fear

harm you

Reduces pain

on at least 2 days per week to stay strong and reduce the risk of falling

Where can I find out more information about this condition? The Circulation Foundation: www.circulationfoundation.org.uk

Source: Based on the BASES Expert Statement by Tew, Harwood, Ingle, et al. in The Sport and Exercise Scientist, Issue 57 (Autumn 2018), https://www.bases.org.uk/imgs/autumn_2018_7601_bas_expert_statement__v2_569.pdf **Disclaimer:**

Thanks:

This infographic is not a validated clinical decision aid. Any reliance placed on this information is strictly at the user's own risk.

To the reviewers who helped to produce this infographic, which was co-funded by The Circulation Foundation and Northumbria University.



Use this log to record all physical activity you do each week. This includes walking and other physical activities (eg, cycling, swimming, hoovering, washing the floor or other *heavy* housework, exercise classes). Record all activities for each day.

Week 1

Date:

	Physical activity	Duration of exercise	*Total number of steps	Claudication symptoms or other notes
Monday				
Tuesday				
Wednesday				
Thursday				
Friday				
Saturday				
Sunday				

Week 2	Date:	Goals:

		Dunation	****	
	Physical	Duration of	*Total	Claudication
	activity	exercise	number	symptoms or
			of steps	other notes
Monday				
Tuesday				
Wednesday				
Thursday				
Friday				
Saturday				
Sunday				
Sunday				

Goals:

Week 3

Date:

	Physical	Duration of	*Total	Claudication
	activity	exercise	number	symptoms or
			of steps	other notes
Monday				
Tuesday				
Wednesday				
Thursday				
Friday				
Saturday				
Sunday				

Goals:

Week 4

Date:

	Physical	Duration of	*Total	Claudication
	activity	exercise	number	symptoms or
			of steps	other notes
Monday				
Tuesday				
Wednesday				
Thursday				
Friday				
Saturday				
Sunday				

Week 5

Date:

	Physical activity	Duration of exercise	*Total number	Claudication symptoms or other
			of steps	notes
Monday				
Tuesday				
Wednesday				
Thursday				
Friday				
Saturday				
Sunday				

Week 6

Date:

	Physical activity	Duration of	*Total	Claudication
		exercise	number of steps	symptoms or other notes
Monday				
Tuesday				
Wednesday				
Thursday				
Friday				
Saturday				
Sunday				

Week 7

Date:

	Physical activity	Duration of	*Total	Claudication
		exercise	number	symptoms or other
			of steps	notes
Monday				
Tuesday				
Wednesday				
Thursday				
Friday				
Saturday				
Sunday				

Week 8

Date:

	Physical activity	Duration of	*Total	Claudication
		exercise	number	symptoms or other
			of steps	notes
Monday				
Tuesday				
Wednesday				
Thursday				
····a···au				
Friday				
Saturday				
Sunday				
Sunday				

Week 9

Date:

	Physical activity	Duration of	*Total	Claudication
		exercise	number	symptoms or other
			of steps	notes
Monday				
Tuesday				
Wednesday				
Thursday				
Friday				
Saturday				
Sunday				

Week 10

Date:

	Physical activity	Duration of	*Total	Claudication
		exercise	number	symptoms or other
			of steps	notes
Monday				
Tuesday				
Wednesday				
Thursday				
Friday				
Saturday				
Sunday				

Week 11

Date:

	Physical activity	Duration of	*Total	Claudication
		exercise	number	symptoms or other
			of steps	notes
Monday				
Tuesday				
Wednesday				
Thursday				
Friday				
Saturday				
Sunday				

Week 12

Date:

	Physical activity	Duration of	*Total	Claudication
		exercise	number	symptoms or other
			of steps	notes
Monday				
Tuesday				
Wednesday				
Thursday				
Friday				
Saturday				
Sunday				

In the notes section of the exercise log, you may want to note any claudication symptoms experienced during the exercise; this might include the time before you experienced any pain or how far you walked before experiencing any pain. *An activity tracker such as a smartphone or watch can be used to count steps. If you have a device that can monitor your steps, please ask your fitness instructor about how to access this function.

This information leaflet is one of three. The complete set includes:

- Supervised exercise programme: patient information
- Supervised exercise programme: home exercise log
- Supervised exercise programme: exercise supplement

They provide information about the supervised exercise programme and a guide of exercises you can do at home. The log provides a place to record your supervised exercise and home exercises. Your exercise log is a personal record. If you choose it can be shared with your fitness instructor and health care professionals involved in your care.

150

Intermittent Claudication

Whilst we make every effort to ensure that the information contained in this patient information sheet is accurate, it is not a substitute for medical advice or treatment. The Circulation Foundation recommends consultation with your doctor or health care professional. The information provided is intended to support patients, not provide personal medical advice. The Circulation Foundation cannot accept liability for any loss or damage resulting from any inaccuracy in this information or third-party information, such as information on websites to which we link.

What Is Intermittent Claudication?

Intermittent Claudication is caused by narrowing or blockage in the main artery taking blood to your leg (femoral artery). This is due to hardening of the arteries (atherosclerosis). The blockage means that blood flow in the leg is reduced.

Blood circulation is usually sufficient when resting, but when you start walking, the calf muscles cannot obtain enough blood. This causes cramp and pain, which gets better after resting for a few minutes. If greater demands are made on the muscles, such as walking uphill, the pain comes on more quickly.

Claudication usually occurs in people aged over 50 years; however, it can occur much earlier in people who smoke and those who have diabetes, high blood pressure, or high levels of cholesterol in the blood.

Unfortunately, the blockage which causes the claudication will not clear itself, but the situation can improve. Smaller arteries in the leg may enlarge to carry blood around the block in the main artery. This is called collateral circulation.

Many people notice some improvement in their pain as the collateral circulation develops. This normally happens within six to eight weeks of the start of the claudication symptoms.

How is Claudication Detected?

A blockage in the circulation can be detected by examining the pulses and blood pressure in the legs. A blockage will lead to the loss of one or more pulses in the leg.

The blood pressure in your feet is measured using a handheld ultrasound device called a continuous wave Doppler. The blood pressure in the foot can be measured and compared with arm blood pressure (which is usually normal).

This measurement is called the ABPI (ankle brachial pressure index) and is expressed as a ratio. The ABPI provides an objective measure of the lower limb circulation.

Sometimes an arteriogram may be performed. An arteriogram is an x-ray of the arteries performed by injecting contrast (dye) into the artery at groin level. The contrast outlines the flow of blood in the arteries as well as any narrowings or blockages.

Treatments

Claudication is not usually limb-threatening, and it is not necessary to treat it if the symptoms are mild.

Claudication often remains stable with no deterioration in walking distance over long periods.

Less than one in ten patients will notice any reduction in walking distance during their lifetime. However, if your symptoms worsen, there are treatments available which you can discuss with your vascular surgeon.

General measures to improve walking distance include stopping smoking, taking more exercise, and making sure you are not overweight.

Blood tests to rule out other causes of atherosclerosis are often done. These will include a blood sugar test to exclude diabetes, thyroid and kidney function tests, and a cholesterol test.

There are a number of drugs on the market which claim to improve walking distance. These are not used by vascular surgeons as the evidence for their effectiveness is very limited. There is evidence that taking Aspirin or an antiplatelet medication is generally good for people with circulation disorders. Please consult either your GP or vascular surgeon for more information.

Treatment Options

Exercise

Exercise has been shown to more than double walking distance. Some hospitals can offer an exercise programme with structured exercises. If this is not available, a brisk walk three times a week lasting 30 minutes will normally noticeably improve walking distance over 3-6 months.

Angioplasty

Angioplasty (stretching the artery where it is narrowed with a balloon) may help to improve walking distance for some people. Overall, it is less effective in the longer term than simple exercise. Angioplasty is usually limited to narrowings or short complete blockages (usually less than 10 centimetres) in the artery.

Surgery

Bypass surgery is usually reserved for longer blockages of the artery when the symptoms are significantly worse. There may be very short-distance claudication, pain at rest, ulceration of the skin in the foot, or even gangrene in the foot or toes.

Is Treatment Successful?

The simple exercise program is very successful at increasing the walking distance. It provides a long-term solution for the majority of people, and most importantly, it is safe.

Because surgery (and to a lesser extent angioplasty) is not always successful, it can normally only be justified when the limb is threatened. There will usually be pain keeping you awake at night, or ulceration or gangrene of the foot or toes.

How Can I Help Myself?

There are several things you can do which can help. The most important is to stop smoking and take regular exercise.

If you are a smoker, you should make a determined effort to give up completely. Tobacco is particularly harmful to claudicants for two reasons:

- Smoking speeds up the hardening of the arteries, which is the cause of the trouble.
- Cigarette smoke prevents the development of the collateral vessels, which get blood past the blockage.

The best way to give up is to choose a day when you are going to stop completely rather than trying to cut down gradually. If you do have trouble giving up, please ask your doctor, who can give you advice on additional help or put you in touch with a support group.

It is also important not to be overweight. The more weight the legs have to carry around, the more blood the muscles will need. If necessary, your doctor or dietician will give you advice about a weight-reducing diet.

What is the Risk of Losing My Leg?

Very few patients with intermittent claudication will ever be at risk of losing a leg through gangrene. It is the vascular surgeon's job to prevent this outcome at all costs.

If there is thought to be any risk to the limb, a vascular surgeon will always act to save the leg if at all possible.

You can minimize the risk of progression of your symptoms by following the advice provided.

It is the simple measures which are the most effective. The vast majority of patients do not need x-ray or surgical procedures to treat their symptoms.

Maintenance Procedures

Half of the bypasses performed will need some "maintenance" procedure to keep them going. This may be an x-ray procedure or might involve further surgery.

Appendix 9: Permission request via email and VascuQoL-6 questionnaire

Email requesting permission

From: LISA SHARPE
Sent: Wednesday, March 22, 2023 9:48 AM
To: mark.morgan@bopdhb.govt.nz <mark.morgan@bopdhb.govt.nz>
Subject: permission to use the vascuqol-6 questionnaire

Dear Mark Morgan,

I'm writing to you as a masters in research student to ask for your permission to use the Vascuqol-6 tool as part of our research. The project is a feasibility study between the Vascular hub at York Hospital and York St John University. It aims to establish a supervised exercise programme for patients with intermittent claudication symptoms as directed by the NICE guidance. The tool is intended to be used at the beginning and end of a 12-week time frame to assess if the patients QoL has changed as a direct consequence of undertaking the exercise program.

Please do not hesitate to ask further questions about the research and our intentions for the use of the vascuQoL-6, the above is a brief outline,

kind regards

Lisa Sharpe vascular specialist nurse and masters student

VascuQoL-6 questionnaire

The six-item Vascular Quality of Life (*VascuQoL-6*) health-related quality of life (HRQoL) instrument

• 1.

Because of the poor circulation in my legs, the range of activities that I would have liked to do in the past two weeks has been...

 1. Severely limited—most activities not done

2. Very limited

3.
 Very slightly limited

o **4**.

0

Not limited at all-have done all the activities that I wanted to

• 2.

During the past two weeks, my legs felt tired or weak...

• 1. All of the time

• 2. Some of the time

- 3. A little of the time
- o **4**.

0

None of the time

• 3.

During the past two weeks, because of the poor circulation in my legs, my ability to walk has been...

 1. Totally limited, couldn't walk at all

2. Very limited

• 3. A little limited

4.Not at all limited

• 4.

0

During the past two weeks, I have been concerned about having poor circulation in my legs...

1. All of the time

- 2. Some of the time
- 3. A little of the time
- 4. None of the time

• 5.

During the past two weeks, because of the poor circulation in my legs, my ability to participate in social activities has been...

 1. Totally limited, couldn't socialize at all

• 2. Very limited

• 3. A little limited

• 4. Not at all limited

• 6.

During the past two weeks, when I have had pain in the leg (or foot) it has given me...

o 1.

A great deal of discomfort or distress

o 2.

A moderate amount of discomfort or distress

• <u>3</u>.

Very little discomfort or distress

o **4**.

No discomfort or distress

Each question is scored 1-4. The total score is achieved by summarizing the score on each question, resulting in a score between 6 and 24. Higher value indicates better health status.

Appendix 10: EQ-5D-5L questionnaire (representation of digital form)



Please select the ONE box that best describes your health TODAY.	
MOBILITY	
I have no problems in walking about	
I have slight problems in walking about	
I have moderate problems in walking about	
I have severe problems in walking about	
I am unable to walk about	
© EuroQol Research Foundation. EQ-5D™ is a trade mark of the EuroQol Research Foundation. UK	(English) v1.0
💠 Previous	Next 🌩

Please select the ONE box that best describes your health TODAY.	
SELF-CARE	
I have no problems washing or dressing myself	
I have slight problems washing or dressing myself	
I have moderate problems washing or dressing myself	
I have severe problems washing or dressing myself	
I am unable to wash or dress myself	
© EuroQol Research Foundation. EQ-5D™ is a trade mark of the EuroQol Research Foundation. UK (Ei	nglish) v1.0
Previous	lext 🔿

Please select the ONE box that best describes your health TODAY.	
USUAL ACTIVITIES (e.g. work, study, housework, family or leisure activities)	
I have no problems doing my usual activities	
I have slight problems doing my usual activities	۵
I have moderate problems doing my usual activities	
I have severe problems doing my usual activities	
I am unable to do my usual activities	
© EuroQol Research Foundation. EQ-5D™ is a trade mark of the EuroQol Research Foundation. UK (Eng	lish) v1.0
Previous Nex	xt 🃦

Please select the ONE box that best describes your health TODAY.	
PAIN / DISCOMFORT	
I have no pain or discomfort	
I have slight pain or discomfort	
I have moderate pain or discomfort	
I have severe pain or discomfort	
I have extreme pain or discomfort	
© EuroQol Research Foundation. EQ-5D™ is a trade mark of the EuroQol Research Foundation. U	K (English) v1.0
💠 Previous	Next 🏟

_		
	Please select the ONE box that best describes your health TODAY.	
	ANXIETY / DEPRESSION	
	I am not anxious or depressed	
	I am slightly anxious or depressed	
	I am moderately anxious or depressed	
	I am severely anxious or depressed	
	I am extremely anxious or depressed	
	© EuroQol Research Foundation. EQ-5D™ is a trade mark of the EuroQol Research Foundation. U	K (Enalish) v1 ()
	 Serves research realizing serves is a save man or the Europe research roundation. 	requiring and a red
	💠 Previous	Next 🔿



Appendix 11: EQ-5D-5L Digital permission

EQ-5D EuroQol Research Foundation Marten Meesweg 107 3068 AV Rotterdam The Netherlands T+31882026890 E userinformationservice@eurogol.org www.eurogol.org Subject: Non-commercial use of EQ-5D Dear Sir/Madame, Thank you for your request to use the EQ-5D. To use the EQ-5D Digital on an unsupported digital platform, for which EuroQol does not have EQ-5D modules available, you will have to implement the EQ-5D Digital yourself on the digital platform of your choice. EuroQol will provide documentation to assist you with the correct digital implementation. Via the online Customer Portal you will be supplied with the following: Excel file(s) with the EQ-5D labels Digital Representation Design Guidelines - with detailed instructions on how to . implement the EQ-5D on a digital platform. EuroQol Office Representations – example screenshots of digital EQ-5D reproductions for every requested language, which comply with the Digital Representation Design Guidelines. These Representations will enable you to check if you have placed all EQ-5D labels correctly in your digital EQ-5D implementation. The Representations also allows you to check if your reproduction meets EuroQol's standards Here are the most important guidelines: The digital reproduction of EQ-5D Digital should be responsive and should not require scrolling at any point during the completion of the EQ-5D; Every dimension of the EQ-5D should be displayed on a separate screen with the instruction above the dimension and the levels listed below each other: The copyright line should be displayed on every screen; The VAS should be vertical with the VAS instructions next to the scale. Please see the Representation Design Guidelines and the Representation for more detailed instructions. Compliance with the Representations is important to ensure that you collect unbiased data Any deviation from the Representations might affect the quality of the data. Consequently, any deviation from the provided Representation(s) will be at your own risk. EuroQol's total liability relating to the provided documents shall be limited to compensation of direct loss that is attributable to EuroQol. In no event shall EuroQol's total liability be more than 1000 Euros, except in case of EQ-5D, HELPING THE WORLD MAKE BETTER HEALTH DECISIONS™

gross negligence or willful misconduct by EuroQol.

Please sign this letter digitally or by printing and signing with a pen. You are then kindly requested to upload the signed letter via the online Customer Portal. After receipt of the signed letter, the documents will be made available in the online Customer Portal, and you are allowed to use the EQ-5D Digital for the duration of the registered Study or ROM/PROMs Project.

Please be advised that separate permission is required if:

- the Study or ROM/PROMs Project is funded by a pharmaceutical company, medical device manufacturer or for profit stakeholder;
- the intention is to charge a fee for third party access to the collected EQ-5D data in the Study or ROM/PROMs Project.

Further, please note that the following is not allowed:

- Making the EQ-5D Digital available on paper.
- Using the EQ-5D Digital in a new study/project without a new registration.
- Distributing the EQ-5D Digital to third parties (other than clinical sites, regulatory commissions, respondents, involved digital vendors) without prior approval of EuroQol.
- Modifying, altering, or amending the provided EQ-5D Digital.
- Developing any new language of the provided versions without permission of EuroQol.
- Reproducing the EQ-5D Digital in a publication or on the internet without permission.

If you have also requested the EQ-5D Paper or EQ-5D Modules, please be advised that the Terms of Use Non-Commercial attached in the Appendix are applicable to the use of the EQ-5D Paper.

If any dispute arises out of or in connection to this Letter, parties shall strive to amicably settle the dispute.

If you have any questions related to this Letter, please reach out to userinformationservice@euroqol.org. Please refer to the registration ID number and Study or ROM/PROMs Project title (both can be found on the Registration Confirmation email you received from EuroQol).

As agreed for Registration ID:	57090
Your name:	Garry Tew
Your position:	
	Type text here
	Garry Tew
Signature:	
Date:	13/06/2023

EQ-5D, HELPING THE WORLD MAKE BETTER HEALTH DECISIONS™